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BASIS OF PRESENTATION

As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Form 10-K”), unless the context otherwise requires, references to:

 • “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company,” “Funko” and similar references refer to: (1) following the consummation of the Transactions, to
Funko, Inc., and, unless otherwise stated, all of its subsidiaries, including FAH, LLC and, unless otherwise stated, all of its
subsidiaries, and (2) prior to the completion of the Transactions, to FAH, LLC and, unless otherwise stated, all of its subsidiaries.

 • “ACON” refers to ACON Funko Investors, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, and certain funds affiliated with ACON Funko
Investors, L.L.C. (including any such fund or entity that holds shares of Class A common stock for the Former Equity Owners).

 • “Continuing Equity Owners” refers collectively to ACON, Fundamental, the Former Profits Interests Holders, the Warrant Holders and
certain current and former executive officers, employees and directors and each of their permitted transferees that own common
units in FAH, LLC and who may redeem at each of their options (subject in certain circumstances to time-based vesting
requirements) their common units for, at our election, cash or newly-issued shares of Funko, Inc.’s Class A common stock.

 • “FAH LLC Agreement” refers to FAH, LLC’s second amended and restated limited liability company agreement.

 • “FHL” refers to Funko Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

 • “Former Equity Owners” refers to those Original Equity Owners affiliated with ACON who transferred their indirect ownership interests
in common units of FAH, LLC for shares of Funko, Inc.’s Class A common stock (to be held by them either directly or indirectly) in
connection with the consummation of the Transactions.

 • “Former Profits Interests Holders” refers collectively to certain of our directors and certain current executive officers and employees,
in each case, who, prior to the consummation of the Transactions, held existing vested and unvested profits interests in FAH, LLC
pursuant to FAH, LLC’s prior equity incentive plan and received common units of FAH, LLC in exchange for their profits interests
(subject to any common units received in exchange for unvested profits interests remaining subject to their existing time-based
vesting requirements) in connection with the Transactions.

 • “Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities” refers to the Company’s credit agreement, dated October 30, 2015, which provided for a
$175.0 million term loan facility (the “Term Loan A Facility”) and a revolving credit facility, including a $3.0 million sub-facility for the
issuance of letters of credit (the “Revolving Credit Facility” and, together with the Term Loan A Facility, the “Former Senior Secured
Credit Facilities”). Among other amendments to the credit agreement, on January 17, 2017, the Company entered into an
amendment which provided for, among other things, an additional $50.0 million term loan facility (the “Term Loan B Facility”), which
was repaid in November 2017 in connection with our initial public offering (“IPO”). The Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities were
terminated on October 22, 2018.

 • “Fundamental” refers collectively to Fundamental Capital, LLC and Funko International, LLC.

 • “New Credit Facilities” refers to the Company’s credit agreement, dated October 22, 2018 (the “Credit Agreement”), providing for a
term loan facility in the amount of $235.0 million (the “New Term Loan Facility”) and a revolving credit facility of $50.0 million (which
was increased to $75.0 million on February 11, 2019) (the “New Revolving Credit Facility” and together with the New Term Loan
Facility, the “New Credit Facilities”).

 • “Original Equity Owners” refers to the owners of ownership interests in FAH, LLC, collectively, prior to the Transactions, which
include ACON, Fundamental, the Former Profits Interests Holders and certain current and former executive officers, employees and
directors.

 • “Tax Receivable Agreement” refers to a tax receivable agreement entered into between Funko, Inc., FAH, LLC and each of the
Continuing Equity Owners as part of the Transactions, defined below.
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 • “Transactions” refers to certain organizational transactions that we effected in connection with our IPO in November 2017. See Note
16, Stockholders’ Equity of the notes to our consolidated financial statements for a description of the Transactions.

 • “Warrant Holders” refers to lenders under our Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities (as defined herein) that previously held
warrants to purchase ownership interests in FAH, LLC, which were converted into common units of FAH, LLC in connection with the
consummation of the Transactions.

2
 



Presentation of Financial Information
 

FAH, LLC is the predecessor of the issuer, Funko, Inc., for financial reporting purposes. Funko, Inc. is the audited financial reporting entity. On
October 30, 2015, ACON, through FAH, LLC, an entity formed in contemplation of the transaction, acquired a controlling interest in FHL and its
subsidiary, Funko, LLC. We refer to this transaction as the “ACON Acquisition.” As a result of the ACON Acquisition, this Annual Report on Form
10-K presents certain financial information for two periods, Predecessor and Successor, which relate to the period preceding the ACON Acquisition
on October 30, 2015 and the period succeeding the ACON Acquisition, respectively. References to the “Successor 2015 Period” refer to the period
from October 31, 2015 through December 31, 2015 and references to the “Predecessor 2015 Period” refer to the period from January 1, 2015
through October 30, 2015. Financial information in the Predecessor 2015 Period principally relates to FHL and its subsidiary Funko, LLC.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
All statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K other than statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our future
operating results and financial position, our business strategy and plans, potential acquisitions, market growth and trends, demand for our
products, our planned retail store in Los Angeles, and our objectives for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “believe,”
“may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “could,” “would,” “project,” “plan,” “potentially,” “preliminary,” “likely,” and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current
expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business
strategy, short-term and long-term business operations and objectives, and financial needs. These forward-looking statements are subject to a
number of risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, including the important factors described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K under Part II. Item
1A. “Risk Factors,” and in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), that may cause our actual results, performance
or achievements to differ materially and adversely from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.

Any forward-looking statements made herein speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and you should not rely on forward-
looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are
reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, performance, or achievements reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved
or occur. We undertake no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements for any reason after the date of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K or to conform these statements to actual results or revised expectations.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
 

Funko: At the Nexus of Pop Culture

We are a leading pop culture consumer products company. Our business is built on the principle that almost everyone is a fan of something and
the evolution of pop culture is leading to increasing opportunities for fan loyalty. We create whimsical, fun and unique products that enable fans to
express their affinity for their favorite “something”—whether it is a movie, TV show, video game, musician or sports team. We typically infuse our
distinct designs and aesthetic sensibility into one of the industry’s largest portfolios of licensed content over a wide variety of product categories,
including figures, plush, accessories, apparel, handbags and homewares. With our unique style, expertise in pop culture, broad product distribution
and highly accessible price points, we have developed a passionate following for our products that has underpinned our growth. We believe we sit
at the nexus of pop culture—content providers value us for our broad network of retail customers, retailers value us for our broad portfolio of
licensed pop culture products and pop culture insights, and consumers value us for our distinct, stylized products and the content they represent.
We believe our innovative product design and market positioning have disrupted the licensed product markets and helped to define today’s pop
culture products category.

Pop culture pervades modern life and almost everyone is a fan of something. In the past, pop culture fandom was often associated with
stereotypical images of fans from narrow demographics, such as Star Trek fans attending conventions to speak Klingon to each other or friends
getting together to play Dungeons & Dragons. Today, more quality content is available and technology innovation has made content accessible
anytime, anywhere. As a result, the breadth and depth of pop culture fandom resembles, and in many cases exceeds, the type of fandom
previously associated only with sports. Social media has further allowed for fans to share their love and form communities more easily than before.
Everyday interactions at home, work or with friends, whether in person or through social media, are increasingly influenced by pop culture.

We have invested strategically in our relationships with key constituents in pop culture. Content providers value us for our broad network of retail
customers and retailers value us for our broad portfolio of licensed pop culture products, pop culture insights and ability to drive consumer traffic.
Consumers, who value us for our distinct, stylized products, remain at the center of everything we do.

 • Content Providers: We have strong licensing relationships with many established content providers, such as Disney, HBO,
LucasFilm, Marvel, Blizzard Entertainment, the National Football League and Warner Brothers. We have also recently entered into
licensing relationships to develop products based on Fortnite and Pokémon. We strive to license every pop culture property that we
believe is relevant to consumers. In 2018, we had license agreements with over 200 content providers covering over 600 active
licensed properties. We believe our numerous licensing relationships have allowed us to build one of the largest portfolios in our
industry, from which we can create multiple products based on each character within those properties. Content providers trust us to
create unique extensions of their intellectual property that extend the relevance of their content with consumers through ongoing
engagement, helping to maximize the lifetime value of their content. For the year ended December 31, 2018, sales of our Pop!
branded products grew 45% year-over-year in the United States, which is the most mature market for our Pop! branded products.
We believe we have benefited from a trend of content providers consolidating their relationships to do more business with fewer
licensees. We believe our track record of obtaining licenses from content providers, together with our proven ability to renew and
extend the scope of our licenses, demonstrates the trust content providers place in us.

 • Retail Channels: We sell our products through a diverse network of retail customers across multiple retail channels, including
specialty retailers, mass-market retailers and e-commerce sites. We can provide our retail customers a customized product mix
designed to appeal to their particular customer bases. Our current retail customers include GameStop, Amazon, Hot Topic, Target
and Walmart in the United States, and Micromania, HEO, E.M.P. Merchandising and Smyths Toys, internationally. In 2018, we sold
our products through over 2,500 U.S. retailers and internationally through both distributors and retailers, which represented 32% of
our 2018 sales. Additionally, for the year ended
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 December 31, 2018, sales of our products on third party ecommerce websites increased 45% compared to the prior year. Retailers
recognize the opportunity presented by the demand for pop culture products and are continuing to dedicate additional shelf space as
well as increased presence on their e-commerce platforms to our products and the pop culture category. Additionally, we believe
some of our retail customers, such as Target and Walmart, view us as pop culture experts, and we help them manage their pop
culture category. We believe we drive meaningful traffic to our retail customers’ stores because our products have their own built-in
fan base, are refreshed regularly creating a “treasure hunt” shopping experience for consumers, and are often supplemented with
exclusive, limited-time products that are highlighted on social media. We believe these merchandising strategies create a sense of
urgency with consumers that encourages repeat visits to our retail customers.

 • Consumers: Fans are increasingly looking for ways to express their affinity for and engage with their favorite pop culture content.
Over time, many of our consumers evolve from occasional buyers to more frequent purchasers, whom we categorize as enthusiasts
or collectors. We estimate that enthusiasts, who are more engaged in pop culture, and collectors, who regularly purchase our
products and self-identify as collectors, each make up approximately one-third of our customers. We create products to appeal to a
broad array of fans across consumer demographic groups—men, women, boys and girls—not a single, narrow demographic. Most of
our products are generally priced under $10, excluding apparel and handbags, which allows our diverse consumer base to express
their fandom frequently and impulsively. We continue to introduce innovative products designed to facilitate fan engagement across
different price points and styles in different categories. In addition, our fans routinely express their passion for our products and
brands through social media and live pop culture events, such as Comic-Con or Star Wars Celebration.

We have developed a nimble and low fixed-cost production model. The strength of our in-house creative team and relationships with content
providers, retailers and third-party manufacturers allows us to move from product concept to pre-selling a new product in as few as 24 hours. We
typically have a new figure on the store shelf between 110 and 200 days and can have it shipped from the factory in as few as 70 days in certain
circumstances. As a result, we can dynamically manage our business to balance current content releases and pop culture trends with content
based on classic evergreen properties, such as Mickey Mouse or classic Batman. This has allowed us to deliver significant growth while lessening
our dependence on individual content releases.

The Pop Culture Industry

Pop culture encompasses virtually everything that someone can be a fan of—movies, TV shows, video games, music and sports. The global
licensed pop culture product industry in which we compete sits within the global licensed entertainment and character products market. We believe
that many retailers have seen traffic decline across traditional consumer categories. In contrast, demand for pop culture content, consumer
products and experiences has grown rapidly.
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The Forces At Work In The Pop Culture Industry

The pop culture industry is being driven by several major forces. Technology advances have made it easier to access, consume and engage with
content. Content providers have produced more quality content to drive fan engagement, often with a focus on franchise properties. Dedicated,
active and enduring fan bases have emerged across the pop culture landscape. These fans seek out opportunities to interact with their favorite
content and with like-minded fans through social media and content-centric experiences. At the same time, social norms have shifted, making
fandom culturally accepted and mainstream. These trends reinforce one another leading to a substantial increase in pop culture fandom and to
significant growth in the industry.

Technology Innovation
 
The proliferation of powerful mobile technology, such as tablets and smartphones, and the emergence of new content distribution services, such
as Amazon Prime, Hulu and Netflix, have enabled fans to connect and engage with content anywhere, at any time, in larger “binge” quantities.
More content and greater access have led to more fans spending more time per day consuming content. In addition, fans are able to develop a
deeper affinity for content due to the increased prevalence of platforms and events where they can share their passion with other fans (such as
through social media, blogs, YouTube, podcasts and online games). The accelerated pace of content discovery and sharing has created an
environment where niche content can quickly become mainstream, resulting in more content becoming part of pop culture.

Evolution of Content
 
Content providers have increasingly focused on creating original scripted and franchise content that has broad global appeal and potential for
sequels and brand extensions. The growth of a healthy franchise ecosystem across content types has fostered fan loyalty and stimulated licensed
product purchases. In addition, there has been a virtuous content-led cycle, which has driven an increase in the production of scripted high-budget,
high-quality original TV shows, such as The Sopranos and Game of Thrones. We expect the number of scripted original series to continue to grow,
with newer entrants such as Amazon Prime, Hulu and Netflix spending or announcing the intention to spend substantial capital on new original
content.

Dedicated and Active Fan Base
 
We believe pop culture fans possess distinguishing characteristics that make them highly valuable consumers. Like sports fans, fans of other
forms of pop culture identify strongly with their favored properties, and have a natural tendency to form social communities around them.
Furthermore, as it becomes increasingly easy to access a large quantity of quality content, fans seek more ways to expand and express
connectivity to their favored characters or properties as they share their passion with others. As a result, consumers are participating in the story
of these properties via social media platforms and conventions, such as Comic-Con, AnimeExpo and
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Star Wars Celebration, rather than being solely consumers of content. By being a part of the conversation regarding their favored content, fans
reinforce their love for it, thereby creating a cycle of fandom.

Growing Cultural Relevance and Acceptance

As pop culture engagement has increased, we believe it has become more culturally acceptable to be openly passionate about all forms of pop
culture, not just sports. Social media is driving the importance of pop culture as fans increasingly want to engage with the content and their social
communities to show affinity for pop culture content. The top five U.S. pop culture-related conventions, including Comic-Con International: San
Diego and New York Comic Con, drew over a half million attendees in 2015, representing a sharp increase of over 40% from 2010. This represents
a cultural shift supporting the acceptability of fan affinity for pop culture content across multiple demographic categories of fans, and the growth
beyond the traditional narrow, male-dominated demographic.
 
Our Strategic Differentiation
 
Leading Design and Creative Capabilities
 
Our in-house creative team layers our own whimsical, fun and distinct stylization onto content providers’ characters, creating unique products for
which there is substantial consumer demand. With the help of our in-house creative team, we have also begun to develop our own proprietary
intellectual property, including our Wetmore Forest line of characters. Our creative team also includes animators at Funko Animation Studios, who
create video shorts that we have increasingly used to market our products in collaboration with some of our key licensors. We also recently
acquired Forrest-Pruzan Creative LLC (“FPC”), a leading board game development studio, which will enable us to deliver a new pop culture product
category to our fans.  Our creative team is passionate about pop culture. We enjoy a strong pipeline of talent for our creative team given our
culture and the opportunity we provide to work with the most relevant pop culture content. We believe content providers trust us with their
properties, and consumers passionately engage with our products and brands because of our creativity. In addition, we reinvigorate classic
evergreen or back catalog content by infusing a fresh, unique aesthetic and design into characters that enjoy enduring passion and nostalgia from
fans. As a result of our creative capabilities and broad portfolio of licenses, we create a substantial number of new products each year, including
approximately 8,000 new products introduced in 2018.

Diversity of Products and Accessible Price Points Create Broad Appeal

We create products to appeal to a broad array of fans across consumer demographic groups. We believe our broad appeal comes through our large
selection of items, a large variety of licenses and properties and varied form factors across a number of product categories. We do not limit
ourselves by targeting discrete demographics such as the stereotypical collector or the child seeking the latest (and often short-lived) toy craze.
We estimate based on market and internal data that occasional buyers, which we define as those consumers who are mainstream movie and TV
fans, but do not self-identify as enthusiasts, enthusiasts, who are more engaged in pop culture than occasional buyers but who do not self-identify
as collectors, and collectors each make up approximately one-third of our customers. To continue to broaden our offerings beyond figures, we
have launched new or expanded categories such as plush and accessories, and with the acquisition of FPC, we have the ability to expand into the
board game category. We believe we have one of the largest and most engaged fan bases in our industry, driven by their passion and love of our
unique products and the properties we represent.

Trusted Steward of the Most Important Pop Culture Content

We strive to license every pop culture property that we believe is relevant to our consumers. Over the last decade, we have built strong
relationships with content providers and currently have a catalog of content licenses covering a large number of properties that we believe is one of
the industry’s largest. We believe there is a trend of content providers consolidating their relationships to do more business with fewer licensees.
As a trusted steward with a strong retail distribution network and connection with the end user, we believe we have benefited from this trend. We
often work collaboratively with content providers in advance of new content releases to create unique, stylized products to maximize the value of
their properties. In some cases, the input we have provided has influenced the content provider’s creative choices for its original content. We
believe we are well positioned to continue to obtain licenses for new important movie franchises and other properties. Further, we have historically
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been able to renew productive licenses on commercially reasonable terms, which positions us to benefit from the ongoing desire of consumers to
engage with and show affinity for their favorite pop culture content.

Deep, Mutually Beneficial Relationships with a Broad Network of Retail Customers

We partner with a diverse group of retail customers through which we sell our products. We believe many of our retail customers view us as
experts in pop culture and in some cases, we help manage their pop culture category within their stores and can provide a curated experience by
catering to their particular customer bases. We believe this enables us to enhance the productivity of the pop culture category for our retail
customers, resulting in increased sales and expanded shelf space or online placement for our products—a major driver of our growth historically.
Additionally, we believe our pop culture expertise and omnichannel sales model position us well to capture the industry shift from traditional brick
and mortar to channel-agnostic content consumerism. In addition, we often release exclusive new products with a specific retail customer, which
can drive traffic and sales for them.

Nimble Speed to Market Reflects “Fast Fashion” Product Development Process

Speed to market has become increasingly important as technological innovation has accelerated the pace of content discovery and sharing and
the speed at which niche content can become mainstream. Our flexible and low-fixed cost production model enables us to go from product design
of a figure to the store shelf between 110 and 200 days and we can have it shipped from the factory in as few as 70 days, with a minimal upfront
investment for most figures of $5,000 to $7,500 in tooling, molds and internal design costs. Because of the strength of our in-house creative team,
we are able to move from product design to pre-selling certain new products in as few as 24 hours. This ability, coupled with the valuable data
insights we have developed over the past decade, and the increasing use of repeated franchise properties by content providers, reduces potential
product risk to us while better positioning us to benefit from trends in content creation and consumption. As an example of our “fast fashion”
product development process, we announced and were able to pre-sell a dancing Baby Groot figure, which was a surprise character in Marvel’s
2014 Guardians of the Galaxy movie release, within a week of the movie release.

Dynamic Business Model Drives Revenue Visibility and Growth

Our business is diversified across content providers and properties, product categories, and sales channels. As a result, we can dynamically
manage our business to capitalize on pop culture trends, which has allowed us to deliver significant growth while lessening our dependence on
individual content releases. Our content provider relationships are highly diversified. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, no single
property accounted for more than 6% and 5% of our sales, respectively, and the portion of our sales for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017 attributable to our top five properties was 20% and 16%, respectively. Our products are balanced across our licensed property categories. In
2018, we generated approximately 47% of sales from classic evergreen properties, approximately 20% from movie release properties,
approximately 17% from current video game properties and approximately 16% from current TV properties.  In 2017, we generated approximately
45% of sales from classic evergreen properties, approximately 21% from movie release properties, approximately 15% from current video game
properties and approximately 18% from current TV properties. We have visibility into the new release schedule of our content providers and our
expansive license portfolio allows us to dynamically manage new product creation. This allows us to adjust the mix of products based on classic
evergreen properties and new releases, depending on the media release cycle. In addition, we typically sell our products worldwide through a
diverse group of sales channels, including specialty retailers, distributors, mass-market retailers, e-commerce sites and direct-to-consumer sales.
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Visionary Management Team and Employees with Genuine Passion for Pop Culture

Our highly experienced management team is led by Brian Mariotti, an industry pioneer. A long-time pop culture fan, Brian recognized early on the
impact that trends in media and entertainment would have on the pop culture industry and the value of having a diverse portfolio of licenses.
Passion for pop culture pervades our company and our openness to new ideas from anywhere in the organization has resulted in some of our most
innovative and differentiated products.

How We Plan to Grow

We are pursuing the following strategies that we believe will drive substantial future growth.

Increase Sales with Existing Retail Customers

We intend to continue to increase our sales by expanding our shelf space and deepening our relationships with our retail customers. Our products
have driven traffic to our retail customers’ previously less productive square footage, which has resulted in increased shelf space for our products.
In addition to designing unique, stylized products that resonate with pop culture fans and drive traffic, both online and in store, we intend to
increase the number of retail customers for whom we curate pop culture selections. We believe doing so deepens our relationships with our retail
customers and encourages them to allocate more shelf space to our products and pop culture products generally and, in some cases, create pop
culture departments where none existed before, which we believe will drive additional brand awareness and sales growth.

Add New Retail Customers and Expand Into New Channels

We regularly evaluate and add new retail customers as we believe consumers demand Funko products regardless of the retail channel through
which they purchase them. While we believe we have opportunities to add new retailers within existing channels, we also plan to selectively target
new or underdeveloped sales channels, such as dollar, drug, grocery and convenience stores. By adding new retail customers, we will increase the
awareness and availability of our products to consumers, which we believe will increase sales.

Broaden Our Product Offerings

In addition to designing products to address new content that licensors continually produce, we plan to add new product categories, lines and
brands to leverage our existing sales channels to continue to drive sales. For example, we have recently expanded our line of figures with our 5
Star line, which can be configured in different poses and allow collectors to creatively display their figures, and we have also recently launched a
line of cereal products to be sold through our traditional retail partners. We also continually evaluate product innovations and potential acquisition
targets to complement our existing product categories, lines and brands. In June 2017, we completed the acquisition of Loungefly, LLC
(“Loungefly”), a designer of a variety of licensed pop culture fashion handbags, small leather goods and accessories, to expand and diversify our
product offerings in our accessories category (the “Loungefly Acquisition”).  In February 2019, we acquired FPC, a leading board game
development studio, to help us expand our product offerings into the board game category.

Expand Internationally

We believe that the forces at work first observed in the U.S. pop culture industry are global. We believe we are currently underpenetrated
internationally, and we generate the majority of our net sales in the United States; however, we are also focused on growing our international
business. Sales generated from customers outside of the United States accounted for approximately 32%, 27% and 19% of our sales for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. In addition, sales to our European customers were up 61% for the year ended
December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017. We are continuing to invest in the growth of our international business,
primarily in Europe, both directly and through third party distributors. In the future we may pursue similar acquisitions or expand our direct sales
force or distributor relationships to further penetrate Asia Pacific, Latin America, Australia or other regions.
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Leverage the Funko Brand Across Multiple Channels

We believe there is a significant opportunity to leverage our distinctive style and designs across numerous underserved channels such as digital
content, as well as potentially movies and television.

Product Lines and Licenses

We sell a broad array of licensed pop culture consumer products featuring characters from an extensive range of media and entertainment content,
including movies, TV shows, video games, music and sports. Our products combine our proprietary brands and distinct designs and aesthetic
sensibilities into properties we license from content providers. We seek to license content that will allow us to capitalize on the popularity of
current movies, TV shows, video games, music and other content releases, as well as classic evergreen properties, which are not tied to a current
release, and which are less subject to pop culture trends. We also continue to develop our own content and intellectual property, such as our
Wetmore Forest property.

Our Products

Our current products principally fall within the following product categories.

Figures. Our figures category includes figures that celebrate pop culture icons in the form of stylized vinyl, blind-packed miniatures and action
figures. These figures combine the pop culture properties we license with our own distinctive designs to create pop culture figures that appeal to a
broad range of consumers at an affordable price point, often under one of our proprietary brands, such as Pop!, Mystery Minis, 5 Star and Pint
Size Heroes.

Other. Our other category includes plush products that are soft-sculpt figures that blend licensed content with our distinctive designs to create an
array of product lines and are intended for consumers of all ages; accessories products that mix pop culture fandom with functionality, and feature
everything from pens and pins to buttons and keychains, all based on pop culture icons; apparel (including t-shirts and hats); homewares (including
drinkware, party lights and other home accessories); and stylized bags, purses and wallets.

Our Brands and Designs

Under the Funko brand, we have developed multiple proprietary brands under which we market most of our products. We also continuously develop
new product designs and lines, which may develop into proprietary brands in the future. Our principal proprietary brands include: Pop!, Mystery
Minis, Pint Size Heroes, 5 Star, SuperCute and Loungefly.

Pop!. Introduced in 2010, Pop! is our most well-recognized brand. The Pop! stylized design incorporates a rounded square head that typically
consists of no mouth and a very simple nose. Pop! figures typically stand about four inches tall. The Pop! brand has also been applied across all
of our other product categories, including plush, accessories, apparel and homewares. As a brand, Pop! represented 76%, 70% and 64% of our
2018, 2017, and 2016 sales, respectively.

Mystery Minis. Introduced in 2013, Mystery Minis are usually sets of 12 different figures per property sold individually in a blind box so that the
consumer does not know which figure from the set they have purchased. The figures are all highly stylized, but the style can vary based on the
licensor. The figures themselves are typically two and a half inches tall and can have varying rarity within the set to create a “treasure hunt”
appeal.

Pint Size Heroes. Introduced in 2015, Pint Size Heroes are slightly stylized figures with sculpted heads and uniform bodies. They stand one and a
half inches tall and have an equal head to body ratio.

5 Star. Introduced in 2018, 5 Star figures offer fans both opportunities for play and storytelling as stylized vinyl figures within collectible packaging.
The figures have several unique features including the ability to be configured in different poses.  This allows collectors to creatively display their
figures and window display box packaging by situating each character in its own unique world with thoughtful accessories that further the
character’s narrative.

SuperCute. Introduced in 2016, SuperCute is a nostalgia storybook stylized design that has a head to body ratio of two to three. The figures have
large round eyes, no nose and a small mouth. The bodies are very simple and
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have their arms at their sides and their legs pushed together. The SuperCute brand and design have been applied to various Mystery Minis sets
and certain plush figures.

Loungefly. Acquired in June 2017, Loungefly products are fashion focused stylized handbags, backpacks, clothing, small leather goods and
accessories. Loungefly products currently are based on a limited set of licenses, however, we anticipate expanding the licenses and content used
to create our Loungefly products in the future.

In addition, we also develop product lines that we market under the broader Funko brand, rather than under any of our proprietary brands. We
typically do so when we believe our speed to market or other competitive advantages uniquely position us to take advantage of certain
opportunities. While these products may not initially be associated with one of our proprietary brands, they can still reflect our whimsical and
creative style, and may develop into a distinct brand over time.

Our Licenses

Licensors. We have strong licensing relationships with many established content providers, such as Disney, HBO, LucasFilm, Marvel, the National
Football League, Blizzard Entertainment and Warner Brothers. We also seek to establish licensing relationships with newer content providers in
order to capitalize on new and emerging trends in pop culture. For example, in recent years, we have established relationships and entered into
licensing arrangements with Dr. Seuss, Netflix and Epic Games. We believe we provide value to content providers by maximizing the lifetime
value of their content by extending its relevance to consumers through ongoing fan engagement.

License Agreements. Our license agreements permit us to use the intellectual property of our licensors in connection with the products we design
and sell. These license agreements typically provide that our licensors own intellectual property rights in the products we design and sell under the
license, and as a result, upon termination of the license, we no longer have the right to sell these products. A number of these license agreements
relate to properties that are significant to our business and operations. Our license agreements typically have terms of between two and three
years and are not automatically renewable. However, we believe we have strong relationships with our licensors, and have historically been able to
renew productive licenses on commercially reasonable terms.

Our license agreements require us to make royalty payments to the licensor based on our sales of the licensed product and, in some cases,
require us to incur other charges. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the average royalty rate was 16.1%, 15.0% and 15.2%,
respectively. Our royalty expense for any given year will vary depending on the mix of products sold during that year. For the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, we incurred royalty expenses of $110.2 million, $77.5 million and $64.7 million, respectively. Our licenses are
generally not exclusive. In addition, the rights that licensors grant to us are typically limited to specific properties, product categories, territories
and, in some cases, sales channels. In addition, our license agreements usually require us to obtain the licensor’s approval of products we
develop under the license prior to making any sales. They also typically provide for a minimum guarantee that covers all licensed properties under
that license agreement, which is generally required to be paid in advance, and the amount of which is negotiated based on a variety of factors,
including past and expected sales and the licensor’s expected line-up of new releases. Historically, we have a strong track record for meeting
minimum guarantees under our license agreements. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, we recorded reserves of $5.5
million, $2.9 million and $0.3 million, respectively, related to prepaid royalties we estimated would not be recovered through sales. The increase in
the reserves from 2016 to 2018 was primarily due to our subscription box business, which we began phasing out in 2018. In addition, 2018
reflected higher reserves for minimum guarantees on international sales.
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For the year ended December 31, 2018, 15%, 11% and 10% of sales were related to the Company’s three largest license agreements with no other
license agreements accounting for more than 10% of sales. For the year ended December 31, 2017, there were no license agreements that
accounted for more than 10% of sales. For the year ended December 31, 2016, 15% of sales were related to one license agreement with no other
license agreements accounting for more than 10% of sales.

Licensed Properties. We strive to license every pop culture property that we believe is relevant to consumers. What we consider to be a property
will vary based on the terms of the underlying license agreement. In general, we consider each content title to constitute a single property. In some
instances, however, a property may consist of an entire franchise or even a single character, particularly in our classic evergreen category. We
divide our licensed properties into four main categories: classic evergreen, movie release, current TV and current video game. We also license
certain properties that fall outside of these four main categories.

 • Classic Evergreen. Properties in the classic evergreen category are based on movies, TV shows, video games, music, sports or
other entertainment content that is not tied to a new or current release at the time we release the product. As a result, products that
we design and sell based on these properties generally do not have a defined duration of market demand. Examples of our classic
evergreen properties include Star Wars, Harry Potter, DC Comics, Marvel Comics and WWE.

 • Movie Release. Properties in the movie release category are tied to new movie releases and are intended to capitalize on the
excitement of fans surrounding these releases. Products that we design and sell based on these properties are expected to have a
limited duration of market demand, depending on the popularity of the movie release. Examples of our movie release properties
include Star Wars Episode VIII, Guardians of the Galaxy 2, Wonder Woman, Avengers: Infinity War and Thor: Ragnarok.

 • Current TV. Properties in the current TV category are tied to TV shows that are currently airing new content. These properties are
expected to have a market demand depending on the popularity and longevity of the TV show, which is generally expected to be
between three and seven years. Examples of our current TV properties include Stranger Things, Rick & Morty, Game of Thrones,
The Walking Dead and Dragonball Z.

 • Current Video Game. Properties in the current video game category are tied to new video game releases that are intended to
capitalize on the excitement of fans surrounding these releases. Products that we design and sell based on these properties are
expected to have a market demand depending on the popularity and longevity of the video game, which is generally expected to be
three to seven years. Examples of our current video game properties include Fortnite and Overwatch.

 • Other. We also occasionally license properties that do not fit within the four categories described above, including those associated
with current events and limited-duration pop culture phenomena, which we are able to capitalize on due to our speed to market and
low cost of production. We expect these categories and the properties they encompass to evolve over time as current content
becomes classic evergreen and as new forms of pop culture content emerge. In addition, while the percentage of sales attributable
to our classic evergreen properties has been between approximately 42% and 49% over the past three years, it may fluctuate in any
given year based on the number and popularity of new content releases.

Product Design and Development

We believe our creative product designs and nimble speed to market are key reasons why content providers trust us with their properties and
consumers passionately engage with our brands and products. We leverage our creative, art and sculpting teams to design and develop products
in-house from inception to production. Our creative team layers our whimsical, fun and unique style onto the content we license to create product
designs that resonate with consumers. Our creative team is passionate about pop culture, and we have a strong pipeline of talent given our culture
and the opportunity we provide to work with the most relevant pop culture content. Our designers often work collaboratively with content providers
in advance of new content releases to create unique, stylized products to maximize the value of their properties and, in some cases, the input we
have provided has influenced the content provider’s creative choices for their original content.

Our product development team oversees all aspects of new product development in order to ensure a timely product design and development
process, including submitting the initial design to the content provider for approval, developing the product prototype, receiving final content
provider approval and coordinating
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manufacturing with our third-party manufacturer. Our flexible and low-fixed cost production model enables us to move from product design of a
figure to shipping from the factory in as few as 70 days and typically between 110 and 200 days, with a minimal upfront investment for most
figures of $5,000 to $7,500 in tooling, molds and internal design costs. Because of the strength of our in-house creative team, we are able to move
from product design to pre-selling a new product in as few as 24 hours. This ability, coupled with the valuable data insights we have developed
over the past decade and the increasing use of repeated franchise properties by content providers, reduces potential product risk to us.

Manufacturing and Materials

Our products are produced by third-party manufacturers primarily in China and Vietnam, which we choose on the basis of performance, capacity,
capability and price. We also manufacture or assemble certain apparel and other products in the United States and Mexico. The use of third-party
manufacturers enables us to avoid incurring fixed manufacturing costs, while maximizing flexibility, capacity and capability. Though our
manufacturing base has diversified over time as we have grown our sales and expanded our product offerings, we have historically concentrated
production with a small number of manufacturers and factories as part of a continuing effort to monitor quality, reduce manufacturing costs and
ensure speed to market. In the case of most of the factories in which our products are manufactured, our products represent a significant
percentage of each factory’s total capacity, which we believe provides us greater flexibility in supply chain management. We do not have long-term
contracts with our manufacturers. We believe that alternative sources of supply are available to us although we cannot be assured that we can
obtain adequate supplies of manufactured products on a timely basis or at all.

We base our production schedules for products on our internal forecasts, taking into account historical trends of similar products and properties,
current market information and communications with customers. The accuracy of our forecasts is affected by consumer acceptance of our
products, which is based on the strength of the underlying licensed property, the strength of competing products, the marketing strategies of
retailers, changes in buying patterns of both our retail customers and our consumers, and overall economic conditions. Unexpected changes in
these factors could result in a lack of product availability or excess inventory of a particular product.

Although we do not conduct the day-to-day manufacturing of our products, we are responsible for designing both the product and the packaging.
We seek to ensure quality control by actively reviewing the product, both in-house and via image at multiple stages in development and sample
finished goods to validate the quality control process. In addition to quality control testing, safety testing of our products is done by independent
third-party testing laboratories.

While we purchase finished products from our manufacturers, the cost of our products is impacted by the cost of labor, as well as the cost of the
principal raw materials used in the production and sale of our products, including vinyl, fabric, ceramics and plastics. All of these materials are
readily available but may be subject to significant fluctuations in price. Although we do not manufacture our products, we own most of the tools
and molds used in the manufacturing process, and generally these are transferable among manufacturers if we choose to employ alternative
manufacturers.

Sales

We sell our products to a diverse network of customers throughout the world. Domestically, we sell our products to specialty retailers, mass-
market retailers and e-commerce sites. Our key retail partners in the United States include Amazon, GameStop, Hot Topic, Target and Walmart.
We also plan to target new or underdeveloped sales channels, including dollar, drug, grocery and convenience stores. Internationally, we sell our
products directly to similar retailers, primarily in Europe, through our subsidiary Funko UK, Ltd. Our key international retail customers include
Micromania, HEO, E.M.P. Merchandising and Smyths Toys.

In addition to major retailers, we also sell our products to distributors for sale to small retailers in the United States and in certain countries
internationally, typically where we do not currently have a direct presence. We also sell certain of our products directly to consumers through our e-
commerce business and, to a lesser extent, at specialty licensing and comic book shows, conventions and exhibitions in cities throughout the
United States, including at Comic-Con events. Our direct-to-consumer sales accounted for approximately 4% of our sales for 2018 and 6% of our
sales for both 2017 and 2016. Though our direct-to-consumer efforts have historically represented a small portion of our net sales, we intend to
increase our focus on these efforts in the future.
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We believe we have a diverse customer base, with our top ten customers representing approximately 46%, 45% and 63%, of our 2018, 2017 and
2016 sales, respectively. GameStop represented approximately 9%, 8% and 12% of our 2018, 2017 and 2016 sales, respectively.  Other than
GameStop in 2016, no single customer represented more than 10% of our sales during the same periods.

We maintain a full-time sales staff, many of whom make on-site visits to our customers for the purpose of showing products and soliciting orders.
Many of our retail customers view us as experts in pop culture and, in some cases, we help manage their growing pop culture category within their
stores, providing a curated experience by catering to their particular customer bases. For example, we have curated products based on Dr. Seuss
and Harry Potter books for Barnes & Noble, and video game-based products, such as Fallout and Overwatch, for GameStop. We believe this
creates a mutually beneficial relationship between us and our retail customers by providing us with an opportunity to enhance the productivity of
the pop culture category within their stores, which may also result in expanded shelf space for our products. In addition to our full-time sales staff,
we also retain a number of independent sales representatives to sell and promote our products both domestically and internationally.

We sell our products to our customers with payment terms typically varying from 30 to 90 days. As discussed above, we contract the manufacture
of most of our products to third-party unaffiliated manufacturers primarily located in China, Vietnam and Mexico and ship those products to our
warehouse facilities in the United States and the United Kingdom. While most of our sales originate in the United States and the United Kingdom
from inventory we hold in our warehouses, certain of our customers may from time to time take title to our products upon shipment from the
factory or at the port.

We establish reserves for sales allowances, including promotional and other allowances, at the time of sale. The reserves are determined as a
percentage of sales based upon either historical experience or upon estimates or programs agreed upon by our customers and us. As of December
31, 2018 and 2017, we had reserves for sales allowances of $13.0 million and $4.6 million, respectively.

Marketing

The desire for people to connect with their favorite movies, TV shows, video games, music, sports and other passions is global. Because of this
desire, which is fueled by the proliferation of online consumer access, we have experienced significant growth in brand penetration in recent years.
We believe that our expansive retailer presence, industry-leading engagement rates across our owned channels, and devout fan base create
unique opportunities to re-engage and remind consumers to purchase our products. 

Funko has established a significant social media presence, using channels such as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, Twitch and YouTube. For
example, in March 2018, Funko reached one million followers on Instagram.  We have continued to look for ways to provide our consumers with
what we believe is industry-leading engagement through our variety of owned channels. In November 2017, we acquired A Large Evil Corporation
Ltd. (“A Large Evil Corporation Acquisition”) now renamed Funko Animation Studios, to produce proprietary online videos and other media content
to showcase our products and globally-recognizable licenses. We intend to continue to expand our reach through different social media outlets, our
websites and internet-based advertising.

This deep connection with our consumers allows us to communicate quickly with a large number of fans and we believe will also help us grow our
own e-commerce business. This deep connection with our consumers also creates a unique opportunity for established retailers to increase their
own store traffic by featuring our products. We frequently co-market our products across the largest retailers, both online and in-store, including
Amazon, Wal-Mart, Target and GameStop. Many of these retailers join with us to release exclusive products only available to fans at their
locations.  We have also begun to expand to new types of retailers like Foot Locker and we believe we are seen as an authority in the pop culture
“pop-up” space.

In addition to our social media reach, our brand cultivates a strong and authentic core of users in part because of our commitment to interact
directly with our fans at specialty licensing and comic book shows, conventions and exhibits, including Comic-Con events across the United
States, many of which draw over 100,000 attendees.

In August 2017, we opened a flagship retail store location at our headquarters in Everett, Washington. This flagship retail store has served as a
way to showcase our products and brands, to demonstrate retail
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merchandising for our retail customers, and to serve as a unique destination and experience for our fans of all ages. We plan to open a second
retail location in Los Angeles in 2019.  The new nearly 40,000 square foot space on Hollywood Boulevard will broaden Company awareness and
display the breadth of Funko product and content providers that we carry.

Competition

We are a worldwide leader in the design, manufacture and marketing of licensed pop culture products, in a highly competitive industry. We
compete with toy companies in many of our product categories, some of which have substantially more resources than us, stronger name
recognition, longer operating histories and benefit from greater economies of scale. We also increasingly compete with large toy companies for
shelf space at leading mass market and other retailers. We also compete with numerous smaller domestic and foreign collectible product
designers and manufacturers in each of our product categories. Our competitive advantage is based primarily on the creativity and quality of the
design of our products and their perceived value, our price points, our license portfolio and our ability to bring new products to market quickly.

We produce most of our products under trademarks and copyrights that we own, utilizing the intellectual property of our licensors. Certain of our
licensors have reserved the rights to manufacture, distribute and sell identical or similar products. Some of these products could directly compete
with our products and could be sold to our customers or directly to consumers at lower prices than those at which our products are sold.

Although we believe we have one of the largest portfolios of licensed content in the pop culture industry, with strong relationships with many of our
licensors, we must vigorously compete to obtain these licenses from leading content providers on commercially reasonable terms, and to expand
our license rights into additional licensed product categories. This competition is based primarily on the creativity of our product designs, our ability
to bring new products to market quickly, our ability to increase fan engagement, the breadth of our sales channels and the quality of our products.
See Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Intellectual Property

We believe that our trademarks, copyrights and other intellectual property rights have significant value and are important to the marketing of our
brand and the favorable perception of our products. As of December 31, 2018, we owned approximately 39 registered U.S. trademarks, 124
registered international trademarks, 21 pending U.S. trademark applications and 8 pending international trademark applications. Most of our
products are produced and sold under trademarks owned by or licensed to us. We register many of our trademarks related to our brands and seek
protection under the trademark and copyright laws of the United States and other countries where our products are produced or sold. These
intellectual property rights can be significant assets. Accordingly, while we believe we are sufficiently protected, the failure to obtain or the loss of
some of these rights could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Government Regulation

Our products sold in the United States are subject to the provisions of the Consumer Product Safety Act (“CPSA”), the Federal Hazardous
Substances Act (“FHSA”), the Consumer Product Safety Improvement Act of 2008 (“CPSIA”) and the Flammable Fabrics Act (“FFA”), and the
regulations promulgated pursuant to such statutes. These statutes and the related regulations ban from the market any consumer products that fail
to comply with applicable product safety laws, regulations, and standards. The Consumer Product Safety Commission may require the recall,
repurchase, replacement, or repair of any such banned products or products that otherwise create a substantial risk of injury and may seek
penalties for regulatory noncompliance under certain circumstances. Similar laws exist in some U.S. states and our products sold worldwide are
subject to the provisions of similar laws and regulations in many jurisdictions, including Canada, Australia, Europe and Asia.

We maintain a quality control program to help ensure compliance with applicable product safety requirements. We use independent third-party
laboratories that employ testing and other procedures intended to maintain compliance with the CPSA, the FHSA, the CPSIA, the FFA, other
applicable domestic and international product standards, as well as our own standards and those of some of our larger retail customers and
licensors. Nonetheless, there can be no assurance that our products are or will be hazard free, and we may in the future
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experience issues in products that result in recalls, withdrawals, or replacements of products. A product recall could have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations and financial condition, depending on the product affected by the recall and the extent of the recall efforts required. A
product recall could also negatively affect our reputation and the sales of other Funko products. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

We are subject to various other federal, state, local and international laws and regulations applicable to our business, including export controls, and
have established processes for compliance with these laws and regulations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2018, we employed 702 full-time employees. We employed 490 people in the United States and 212 people in Europe. None
of our employees are represented by a labor union or are party to a collective bargaining agreement, and we have had no labor-related work
stoppages. We believe that we have good relationships with our employees.

Seasonality

While our customers in the retail industry, and many of our competitors, typically operate in highly seasonal businesses, we have historically
experienced only moderate seasonality in our business. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 approximately 59.8%, 60.5% and
58.7%, respectively, of our net sales were made in the third and fourth quarters, as our customers build up their inventories in anticipation of the
holiday season. Generally, the first quarter of the year represents the lowest volume of shipments and sales in our business and in the retail and
toy industries generally, and it is also the least profitable quarter due to the various fixed costs of the business. However, the rapid growth we have
experienced in recent years may have masked the full effects of seasonal factors on our business to date, and as such, seasonality may have a
greater effect on our results of operations in future periods. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Executive Officers of the Registrant and Board of Directors

The following table provides information regarding our executive officers and members of our board of directors (ages as of March 5, 2019):
 
Name  Age  Position(s)
Brian Mariotti  51  Chief Executive Officer, Director
Russell Nickel  44  Chief Financial Officer
Andrew Perlmutter  41  President
Tracy Daw  53  Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Ken Brotman  53  Chairman of the Board of Directors
Gino Dellomo  40  Director
Charles Denson  62  Director
Diane Irvine  60  Director
Adam Kriger  52  Director
Michael Lunsford  51  Director

Executive Officers

Brian Mariotti has served as Funko, Inc.’s Chief Executive Officer and as a member of Funko, Inc.’s board of directors since its formation in April
2017, as the Chief Executive Officer of FAH, LLC and as a member of FAH, LLC’s board of directors since October 2015, and as Chief Executive
Officer of FHL and as a member of FHL’s board of directors since May 2013. Mr. Mariotti has also served as Chief Executive Officer of Funko,
LLC since he acquired the business with a small group of investors in 2005. We believe Mr. Mariotti’s knowledge of the pop culture industry and
many years of experience as our Chief Executive Officer make him well-qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors.

Russell Nickel has served as Funko, Inc.’s Chief Financial Officer since its formation in April 2017, and as the Chief Financial Officer and
Secretary of FAH, LLC since October 2013. Mr. Nickel was Vice President of Finance

17
 



at ClipCard from May 2013 until October 2013, and the Institute for Corporate Productivity (i4cp) from 2011 until 2013, where he was responsible
for all finance, accounting, and legal matters. Before joining i4cp, Mr. Nickel held various senior finance and accounting positions in other
companies and also worked in public accounting, including as an Audit Manager at KPMG, LLP. Mr. Nickel received a B.A. in Accounting from the
University of Washington.

Andrew Perlmutter has served as the President of Funko, Inc. and FAH, LLC since October 2017. Mr. Perlmutter was the Senior Vice President
of Sales of FAH, LLC from June 2013 until October 2017. Prior to that, he was a co-founder of Bottle Rocket Collective, a board and travel games
company, where he oversaw product manufacturing and sales from December 2012 until December 2013. Prior to that, he was a National Account
Manager at The Wilko Group from August 2001 until December 2012, where he managed sales to a variety of major mass-market, specialty and
online retailers. Mr. Perlmutter received a B.A. in Interpersonal Communications from Southern Illinois University.

Tracy Daw has served as Funko, Inc.’s Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since its formation in April 2017, and as the Senior
Vice President and General Counsel of FAH, LLC since July 2016. Mr. Daw served as the General Counsel of INRIX, Inc. from April 2012 until
July 2016, where he was responsible for global legal affairs, with emphasis on corporate and intellectual property matters. He also previously
served in various roles at RealNetworks, Inc. from February 2000 until April 2012, including as Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and
Corporate Secretary, where he managed the company’s global legal affairs and corporate development efforts. From 1990 to 2000, Mr. Daw was a
member of the law firm of Sidley Austin LLP, where he was a partner. Mr. Daw received a J.D. from the University of Michigan Law School and a
B.S. in Industrial and Labor Relations from Cornell University.

Directors

Ken Brotman has served on the board of directors of Funko, Inc. since its formation in April 2017, and on the board of directors of FAH, LLC
since October 2015. Mr. Brotman is a Founder and Managing Partner at ACON Investments, which he co-founded in 1996. Before that, Mr.
Brotman was a partner at Veritas Capital, Inc. from 1993 until 1996, and, between 1987 and 1993, held positions at various private equity firms
including Bain Capital and Wasserstein Perella Management Partners. Mr. Brotman has served on the board of directors of various ACON
Investments portfolio companies since 1997 including several in the retail and consumer products sectors. Mr. Brotman received an M.B.A. from
Harvard Business School and a B.S. in Economics from The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania. We believe Mr. Brotman’s
extensive private equity investment and company strategy and oversight experience and background with respect to acquisitions, debt financings
and equity financings makes him well-qualified to serve as a member and as the chairman of our board of directors.

Gino Dellomo has served on the board of directors of Funko, Inc. since its formation in April 2017, and on the board of directors of FAH, LLC
since October 2015. Mr. Dellomo is a Director at ACON Investments, which he joined in October 2006. Since October 2006, he has also served on
the board of directors of various ACON Investments portfolio companies. Between 2001 and 2006, Mr. Dellomo held various positions at various
investment banks, including Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc., FBR Capital Markets & Co. and MCG Capital Corp. Mr. Dellomo received a B.S. in
Finance from Georgetown University. We believe Mr. Dellomo’s private equity investment and company oversight experience and background with
respect to acquisitions, debt financings and equity financings makes him well-qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors.

Charles Denson has served on the board of directors of Funko, Inc. since its formation in April 2017, and on the board of directors of FAH, LLC
since June 2016. Mr. Denson has served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Anini Vista Advisors, an advisory and consulting firm,
since March 2014. From February 1979 until January 2014, Mr. Denson held various positions at NIKE, Inc., where he was appointed to several
management roles, including, in 2001, President of the NIKE Brand, a position he held until January 2014. Mr. Denson also serves on the board of
directors of the Naismith Memorial Basketball Hall of Fame, Inc. Mr. Denson serves on the board of directors of several privately held
organizations. Mr. Denson received a B.A. in Business from Utah State University. We believe Mr. Denson’s extensive experience in brand
building, brand management and organizational leadership in the public company context makes him well-qualified to serve on our board of
directors.
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Diane Irvine has served on the board of directors of Funko, Inc. and FAH, LLC since August 2017. Ms. Irvine previously served as Chief
Executive Officer of Blue Nile, Inc., an online retailer of diamonds and fine jewelry, from February 2008 until November 2011, as President from
February 2007 until November 2011, and as Chief Financial Officer from December 1999 until September 2007. From February 1994 until May
1999, Ms. Irvine served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Plum Creek Timber Company, Inc., and from September 1981 until
February 1994, she worked at accounting firm Coopers & Lybrand LLP in various capacities, most recently as partner. Ms. Irvine currently serves
on the boards of directors of Yelp Inc. (on whose board she has served since September 2011), and D.A. Davidson & Co. (on whose board she
has served since January 2018), and previously served on the boards of directors of XO Group Inc. from November 2014 to December 21, 2018,
Rightside Group Ltd. from August 2014 until July 2017, CafePress, Inc. from July 2012 until May 2015, and Blue Nile, Inc. from May 2001 until
November 2011. Ms. Irvine received an M.S. in Taxation and a Doctor of Humane Letters from Golden Gate University, and a B.S. in Accounting
from Illinois State University. We believe Ms. Irvine’s extensive public company management experience and financial expertise make her well-
qualified to serve on our board of directors.

Adam Kriger has served on the board of directors of Funko, Inc. since its formation in April 2017, and on the board of directors of FAH, LLC since
June 2016. Mr. Kriger is an Executive Partner at ACON Investments, which he joined in August 2017. Before that, Mr. Kriger served as the Senior
Vice President of Global Strategy for McDonald’s Corporation from December 2001 until March 2015. He also previously served as the Senior Vice
President of Global Strategy for Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide from 1998 until 1999, and as the Vice President of Strategy and
Development for The Walt Disney Company from 1988 until 1990, and then again from 1992 until 1998. Mr. Kriger serves on the boards of several
non-profit organizations and private companies. Mr. Kriger received an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School and a B.A. in Quantitative
Economics from Stanford University. We believe Mr. Kriger’s extensive strategic, risk management and organizational leadership experience in the
public company context make him well-qualified to serve on our board of directors.

Michael Lunsford has served on the board of directors of Funko, Inc. since October 2018. Mr. Lunsford previously served as the Chief Executive
Officer of SK Planet, Inc. from 2013 until 2018 and as interim Chief Executive Officer of shopkick, Inc. in 2016. From 2008 to 2013, Mr. Lunsford
held various management roles with RealNetworks, Inc., including interim Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice President and General
Manager of RealNetworks’ Core Business and Chief Executive Officer of Rhapsody. Mr. Lunsford also served on the board of directors of
shopkick, Inc. from 2013 to 2018, and on the boards of directors of various portfolio companies owned by SK Planet, Inc. from 2013 to 2018.
Since 2014, Mr. Lunsford has served on the board of directors of the University of North Carolina Board of Visitors and IslandWood. Mr. Lunsford
received an M.B.A. and a B.A. in Economics from The University of North Carolina. We believe Mr. Lunsford’s broad management, retail and e-
commerce experience make him well-qualified to serve on our board of directors.

Segment Information

We identify our reportable segments according to how the business activities are managed and evaluated, for which discrete financial information
is available and is regularly reviewed by our Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) to allocate resources and assess performance. Because
our CODM reviews financial performance and allocates resources at a consolidated level on a regular basis, we have one reportable segment.

Our History

Funko, Inc. was formed as a Delaware corporation on April 21, 2017 for the purpose of completing our IPO. FAH LLC, a holding company with no
operating assets or operations, was formed on September 24, 2015. On October 30, 2015, ACON Funko Investors, L.L.C., through FAH, LLC and
the ACON Acquisition, acquired a controlling interest in FHL, which is also a holding company with no operating assets or operations. FAH, LLC
owns 100% of FHL and FHL owns 100% of Funko, LLC, which is its operating entity.
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Available Information

Our Internet address is www.funko.com. At our Investor Relations website, investor.funko.com, we make available free of charge a variety of
information for investors, including:

 • our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports,
as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file that material with or furnish it to the SEC;

 • press releases on quarterly earnings, product and service announcements, events and legal developments;

 • corporate governance information including our corporate governance guidelines, codes of conduct and ethics and committee
charters;

 • other news and announcements that we may post from time to time that investors might find useful or interesting; and

 • opportunities to sign up for email alerts and RSS feeds to have information pushed in real time.

The information found on our website is not part of this or any other report we file with, or furnish to, the SEC.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business faces significant risks and uncertainties. Certain important factors may have a material adverse effect on our business prospects,
financial condition and results of operations, and they should be carefully considered. Accordingly, in evaluating our business, we encourage you
to consider the following discussion of risk factors in its entirety, in addition to other information contained in or incorporated by reference into this
Annual Report on Form 10-K and our other public filings with the SEC. Other events that we do not currently anticipate or that we currently deem
immaterial may also affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our success depends on our ability to execute our business strategy.

Our net sales and profitability have grown rapidly in recent periods; however, this should not be considered indicative of our future performance.
Our future growth, profitability and cash flows depend upon our ability to successfully execute our business strategy, which is dependent upon a
number of factors, including our ability to:

 • expand our market presence in existing sales channels and enter additional sales channels;

 • anticipate, gauge and respond to rapidly changing consumer preferences and pop culture trends;

 • acquire or enter into new licenses in existing product categories or in new product categories and renew existing licenses;

 • expand our geographic presence to take advantage of opportunities outside of the United States;

 • enhance and maintain favorable brand recognition for our Company and product offerings;

 • maintain and expand margins through sales growth and efficiency initiatives;

 • effectively manage our relationships with third-party manufacturers;

 • effectively manage our debt, working capital and capital investments to maintain and improve the generation of cash flow; and

 • execute any acquisitions quickly and efficiently and integrate businesses successfully.

There can be no assurance that we can successfully execute our business strategy in the manner or time period that we expect. Further,
achieving these objectives will require investments which may result in short-term costs without generating any current sales or countervailing cost
savings and, therefore, may be dilutive to our
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earnings, at least in the short term. In addition, we may decide to divest or discontinue certain brands or products or streamline operations and
incur other costs or special charges in doing so. We may also decide to discontinue certain programs or sales to certain retailers based on
anticipated strategic benefits. The failure to realize the anticipated benefits from our business strategy could have a material adverse effect on our
prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our business is dependent upon our license agreements, which involve certain risks.

Products from which we generate substantially all of our net sales are produced under license agreements which grant us the right to use certain
intellectual property in such products. These license agreements typically have short terms (between two and three years), are not automatically
renewable, and, in some cases, give the licensor the right to terminate the license agreement at will. Our license agreements typically provide that
our licensors own the intellectual property rights in the products we design and sell under the license, and as a result, upon termination of the
license, we would no longer have the right to sell these products, while our licensors could engage a competitor to do so. We believe our ability to
retain our license agreements depends, in large part, on the strength of our relationships with our licensors. Any events or developments adversely
affecting those relationships, or the loss of one or more members of our management team, particularly our chief executive officer, could
adversely affect our ability to maintain and renew our license agreements on similar terms or at all. Our top ten licensors collectively accounted for
approximately 72%, 72% and 77% of our sales for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Moreover, while we have
separate licensing arrangements with Disney, LucasFilm and Marvel, these parties are all under common ownership by Disney and collectively
these licensors accounted for approximately 34%, 33% and 31% of our sales for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. The termination or lack of renewal of one or more of our license agreements, or the renewal of a license agreement on less favorable
terms, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, in January 2019 we
renewed our licensing agreements with Disney, LucasFilm and Marvel. In connection with such renewals, we were required to provide Disney
certain benefits and fees in addition to paying Disney approximately $2.0 million as a consent fee under our previous licensing agreements. While
we may enter into additional license agreements in the future, the terms of such license agreements may be less favorable than the terms of our
existing license agreements.

Our license agreements are complex, and typically grant our licensors the right to audit our compliance with the terms and conditions of such
agreements. Any such audit could result in a dispute over whether we have paid the proper royalties, which could require us to pay additional
royalties, and the amounts involved could be material. For example, as of December 31, 2018, we had a reserve of $9.5 million on our balance
sheet related to ongoing and future royalty audits. In addition to royalty payments, these agreements as a whole impose numerous other
obligations on us, including obligations to, among other things:

 • maintain the integrity of the applicable intellectual property;

 • obtain the licensor’s approval of the products we develop under the license prior to making any sales;

 • permit the licensor’s involvement in, or obtain the licensor’s approval of, advertising, packaging and marketing plans;

 • maintain minimum sales levels or make minimum guaranteed royalty payments;

 • actively promote the sale of the licensed product and maintain the availability of the licensed product throughout the license term;

 • spend a certain percentage of our sales of the licensed product on marketing and advertising for the licensed product;

 • sell the products we develop under the license only within a specified territory or within specified sales channels;

 • indemnify the licensor in the event of product liability or other claims related to the licensed product and advertising or other
materials used to promote the licensed product;

 • obtain the licensor’s approval of the retail price of the licensed products;
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 • sell the licensed products to the licensor at a discounted price or at the lowest price charged to our customers;

 • obtain the licensor’s consent prior to assigning or sub-licensing to third parties; and

 • provide notice to, obtain approval from, or, in limited circumstances, make certain payments to the licensor in connection with
certain changes in control.

If we breach any of these obligations or any other obligations set forth in any of our license agreements, we could be subject to monetary penalties
and our rights under such license agreements could be terminated, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our success is also partially dependent on the reputation of our licensors and the goodwill associated with their intellectual property, and the ability
of our licensors to protect and maintain the intellectual property rights that we use in connection with our products, all of which may be harmed by
factors outside our control. See also “If we are unable to obtain, maintain and protect our intellectual property rights, in particular trademarks and
copyrights, or if our licensors are unable to maintain and protect their intellectual property rights that we use in connection with our products, our
ability to compete could be negatively impacted.”

As a purveyor of licensed pop culture consumer products, we cannot assure you that we will be able to design and develop products
that will be popular with consumers, or that we will be able to maintain the popularity of successful products.

The interests of consumers evolve extremely quickly and can change dramatically from year to year. To be successful we must correctly
anticipate both the products and the movies, TV shows, video games, music, sports and other content releases (including the related characters),
that will appeal to consumers and quickly develop and introduce products that can compete successfully for consumers’ limited time, attention and
spending. Evolving consumer tastes and shifting interests, coupled with an ever changing and expanding pipeline of products and content that
compete for consumers’ interest and acceptance, create an environment in which some products and content can fail to achieve consumer
acceptance, while others can be popular during a certain period of time but then be rapidly replaced. As a result, consumer products, particularly
those based on pop culture such as ours, can have short life cycles. In addition, given the growing market for digital products and the increasingly
digital nature of pop culture, there is also a risk that consumer demand for physical products may decrease over time. If we devote time and
resources to developing and marketing products that consumers do not find appealing enough to buy in sufficient quantities, our sales and profits
may decline, and our business performance may be damaged. Similarly, if our product offerings fail to correctly anticipate consumer interests, our
sales and earnings will be adversely affected.

Additionally, our business is increasingly global and depends on interest in and acceptance of our products and our licensors’ brands by
consumers in diverse markets around the world with different tastes and preferences. As such, our success depends on our ability to successfully
predict and adapt to changing consumer tastes and preferences in multiple markets and geographies and to design products that can achieve
popularity globally over a broad and diverse consumer audience. There is no guarantee that we will be able to successfully develop and market
products with global appeal.

Consumer demand for pop culture products can and does shift rapidly and without warning. As a result, even if our product offerings are initially
successful, there can be no guarantee that we will be able to maintain their popularity with consumers. Accordingly, our success will depend, in
part, on our ability to continually design and introduce new products that consumers find appealing. To the extent we are unable to do so, our sales
and profitability will be adversely affected. This is particularly true given the concentration of our sales under certain of our brands, particularly
Pop!. Sales of our Pop! branded products accounted for approximately 76%, 70% and 64% of our sales for the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, respectively. If consumer demand for our Pop! branded products were to decrease, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected unless we were able to develop and market additional products that generated an equivalent amount of net
sales at a comparable gross margin, which there is no guarantee we would be able to do.

22
 



Changes in the retail industry and markets for consumer products affecting our retail customers or retailing practices could negatively
impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our products are primarily sold to consumers through retailers that are our direct customers or customers of our distributors. As such, changes in
the retail industry can negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Due to the challenging environment for traditional “brick-and-mortar” retail locations caused by declining in-store traffic, many retailers are closing
physical stores, and some traditional retailers are engaging in significant reorganizations, filing for bankruptcy and going out of business. For
example, in September 2017, Toys “R” Us, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the
United States Bankruptcy Code, and in March 2018, Toys “R” Us, Inc. announced the wind down of its U.S. operations and the potential
insolvency proceedings of certain of its subsidiaries. Toys “R” Us, Inc. accounted for approximately 3.4% of our sales for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016. In addition to furthering consolidation in the retail industry, such a trend could have a negative effect on the financial
health of our retail customers and distributors, potentially causing them to experience difficulties in fulfilling their payment obligations to us or our
distributors, reduce the amount of their purchases, seek extended credit terms or otherwise change their purchasing patterns, alter the manner in
which they promote our products or the resources they devote to promoting and selling our products or cease doing business with us or our
distributors. If any of our retail customers were to file for bankruptcy, we could be unable to collect amounts owed to us and could even be required
to repay certain amounts paid to us prior to the bankruptcy filing. The occurrence of any of these events would have an adverse effect on our
business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

If we do not effectively maintain and further develop our relationships with retail customers and distributors, our growth prospects,
business and results of operations could be harmed.

Historically, substantially all of our net sales have been derived from our retail customers and distributors, upon which we rely to reach the
consumers who are the ultimate purchasers of our products. In the United States, we primarily sell our products directly to specialty retailers,
mass-market retailers and e-commerce sites. In international markets, we sell our products directly to similar retailers, primarily in Europe, through
our subsidiary Funko UK, Ltd. We also sell our products to distributors for sale to retailers in the United States and in certain countries
internationally, typically in those countries in which we do not currently have a direct presence. Our top ten customers represented approximately
46%, 45% and 63% of our sales for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  GameStop represented 9%, 8% and 12%
of our sales for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

We depend on retailers to provide adequate and attractive space for our products and point of purchase displays in their stores. We further depend
on our retail customers to employ, educate and motivate their sales personnel to effectively sell our products. If our retail customers do not
adequately display our products or choose to promote competitors’ products over ours, our sales could decrease, and our business could be
harmed. Similarly, we depend on our distributors to reach retailers in certain market segments in the United States and to reach international
retailers in countries where we do not have a direct presence. Our distributors generally offer products from several different companies, including
our competitors. Accordingly, we are at risk that these distributors may give higher priority to selling other companies’ products. If we were to lose
the services of a distributor, we might need to find another distributor in that area, and there can be no assurance of our ability to do so in a timely
manner or on favorable terms.

In addition, our business could be adversely affected if any of our retail customers or distributors were to reduce purchases of our products. Our
retail customers and distributors generally build inventories in anticipation of future sales and will decrease the size of their future product orders if
sales do not occur as rapidly as they anticipate. Our customers make no long-term commitments to us regarding purchase volumes and can
therefore freely reduce their purchases of our products. Any reduction in purchases of our products by our retail customers and distributors, or the
loss of any key retailer or distributor, could adversely affect our net sales, operating results and financial condition.

Furthermore, consumer preferences have shifted, and may continue to shift in the future, to sales channels other than traditional retail, including e-
commerce, in which we have more limited experience, presence and development. Consumer demand for our products may be less in these
channels than in traditional retail
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channels. In addition, our entry into new product categories and geographies has exposed, and may continue to expose, us to new sales channels
in which we have less expertise. If we are not successful in developing our e-commerce channel and other new sales channels, our net sales and
profitability may be adversely affected.

Our industry is highly competitive and the barriers to entry are low. If we are unable to compete effectively with existing or new
competitors, our sales, market share and profitability could decline.

Our industry is, and will continue to be, highly competitive. We compete with toy companies in many of our product categories, some of which
have substantially more resources than us, stronger name recognition, longer operating histories and greater economies of scale. We also
compete with numerous smaller domestic and foreign collectible product designers and manufacturers. Across our business, we face competitors
who are constantly monitoring and attempting to anticipate consumer tastes and trends, seeking ideas which will appeal to consumers and
introducing new products that compete with our products for consumer acceptance and purchase.

In addition to existing competitors, the barriers to entry for new participants in our industry are low, and the increasing use of digital technology,
social media and the internet to spark consumer interest has further increased the ability for new participants to enter our markets and has
broadened the array of companies against which we compete. New participants can gain access to retail customers and consumers and become a
significant source of competition for our products in a very short period of time. Additionally, since we do not have exclusive rights to any of the
properties we license or the related entertainment brands, our competitors, including those with more resources and greater economies of scale,
can obtain licenses to design and sell products based on the same properties that we license, potentially on more favorable terms. Any of these
competitors may be able to bring new products to market more quickly, respond more rapidly than us to changes in consumer preferences and
produce products of higher quality or that can be sold at more accessible price points. To the extent our competitors’ products achieve greater
market acceptance than our products, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be adversely affected.

In addition, certain of our licensors have reserved the rights to manufacture, distribute and sell identical or similar products to those we design and
sell under our license agreements. These products could directly compete with our products and could be sold at lower prices than those at which
our products are sold, resulting in higher margins for our customers compared to our products, potentially lessening our customers’ demand for our
products and adversely affecting our sales and profitability.

Furthermore, competition for access to the properties we license is intense, and we must vigorously compete to obtain licenses to the intellectual
property we need to produce our products. This competition could lessen our ability to secure, maintain, and renew our existing licenses, or require
us to pay licensors higher royalties and higher minimum guaranteed payments in order to obtain new licenses or retain our existing licenses. To
the extent we are unable to license properties on commercially reasonable terms, or on terms at least as favorable as our competitors, our
competitive position and demand for our products will suffer. Because our ability to compete for licensed properties is based largely on our ability
to increase fan engagement and generate royalty revenues for our licensors, any reduction in the demand for and sales of our products will further
inhibit our ability to obtain licenses on commercially reasonable terms or at all. As a result, any such reduction in the demand for and sales of our
products could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We also increasingly compete with toy companies and other product designers for shelf space at specialty, mass-market and other retailers. Our
retail customers will allocate shelf space and promotional resources based on the margins of our products for our customers, as well as their sales
volumes. If toy companies or other competitors produce higher margin or more popular merchandise than our products, our retail customers may
reduce purchases of our products and, in turn, devote less shelf space and resources to the sale of our products, which could have a material
adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, our financial performance may suffer.

We have experienced rapid growth over the last several years, which has placed a strain on our managerial, operational, product design and
development, sales and marketing, administrative and financial infrastructure. For example, we increased our total number of full-time employees
from 66 as of December 31, 2013 to 702 as of
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December 31, 2018. As a result of the Underground Toys Acquisition in January 2017, we now have distribution operations in the United Kingdom,
our first distribution center outside of our headquarters in Everett, Washington. In June 2017, with the Loungefly Acquisition, we added an
additional distribution center in Chatsworth, California. Our success will depend in part upon our ability to manage our growth effectively. To do so,
we must continue to increase the productivity of our existing employees and to hire, train and manage new employees as needed, which we may
not be able to do successfully or without compromising our corporate culture. See “Our success is critically dependent on the efforts and
dedication of our officers and other employees, and the loss of any one or more key employees, or our inability to attract and retain qualified
personnel and maintain our corporate culture, could adversely affect our business.” To manage domestic and international growth of our operations
and personnel, we will need to continue to improve our product development, supply chain, financial and management controls and our reporting
processes and procedures and implement more extensive and integrated financial and business information systems. These additional
investments will increase our operating costs, which will make it more difficult for us to offset any future revenue shortfalls by reducing expenses
in the short term. Moreover, if we fail to scale our operations or manage our growth successfully, our business, financial condition and operating
results could be adversely affected.

Our gross margin may not be sustainable and may fluctuate over time.

Our gross margin has historically fluctuated, primarily as a result of changes in product mix, changes in our costs, price competition and
acquisitions. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, our gross margins (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) were 37.6%,
38.5% and 34.3%, respectively. Our current gross margin may not be sustainable, and our gross margin may decrease over time. A decrease in
gross margin can be the result of numerous factors, including, but not limited to:

 • changes in customer, geographic, or product mix;

 • introduction of new products, including our expansion into additional product categories;

 • increases in the royalty rates under our license agreements;

 • inability to meet minimum guaranteed royalties;

 • increases in, or our inability to reduce, our costs;

 • entry into new markets or growth in lower margin markets;

 • increases in raw materials, labor or other manufacturing- and inventory-related costs;

 • increases in transportation costs, including the cost of fuel, and increased shipping costs to meet customer demand;

 • increased price competition;

 • changes in the dynamics of our sales channels, including those affecting the retail industry and the financial health of our
customers;

 • increases in sales discounts and allowances provided to our customers;

 • acquisitions of companies with a lower gross margin than ours; and

 • overall execution of our business strategy and operating plan.

If any of these factors, or other factors unknown to us at this time, occur, then our gross margin could be adversely affected, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our business is largely dependent on content development and creation by third parties.

We spend considerable resources in designing and developing products in conjunction with planned movie, television, video game, music and
other content releases by various third-party content providers. The timing of the development and release, and the ultimate consumer interest in
and success of, such content depends on the efforts of these third parties, as well as conditions in the media and entertainment industry
generally. We do not control when or if any particular project will be greenlit, developed or released, and the creators of such projects
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may change their plans with respect to release dates or cancel development altogether. This can make it difficult for us to successfully develop
and market products in conjunction with a given content release, given the lead times involved in product development and successful marketing
efforts. Additionally, unforeseen factors in the media and entertainment industry, including labor strikes and unforeseen developments with talent,
including accusations of a star’s wrongdoing, may also delay or cancel the release of such projects. Any such delay or cancellation may decrease
the number of products we sell and harm our business.

We may not realize the full benefit of our licenses if the properties we license have less market appeal than expected or if sales from the
products that use those properties are not sufficient to satisfy the minimum guaranteed royalties.

We seek to fulfill consumer preferences and interests by designing and selling products primarily based on properties owned by third parties and
licensed to us. The popularity of the properties we license can significantly affect our sales and profitability. If we produce products based on a
particular movie, TV show or video game, the success of the underlying content has a critical impact on the level of consumer interest in the
associated products we are offering. Although we license a wide variety of properties, sales of products tied to major movie franchises have been
significant contributors to our business. In addition, the theatrical duration of movie releases has decreased over time and we expect this trend to
continue with the increase of content made available on video streaming services. This may make it increasingly difficult for us to sell products
based on such properties or lead our customers to reduce demand for our products to minimize inventory risk. If the performance of one or more of
such movie franchises failed to meet expectations or if there was a shift in consumer tastes away from such franchises generally, our results of
operations could be adversely affected. In addition, competition in our industry for access to licensed properties can lessen our ability to secure,
maintain, and renew our existing licenses on commercially reasonable terms, if at all, and to attract and retain the talented employees necessary
to design, develop and market successful products based on these properties.

Our license agreements usually also require us to pay minimum royalty guarantees, which may in some cases be greater than what we are
ultimately able to recoup from actual sales. When our licensing agreements require minimum royalty guarantees, we accrue a royalty liability
based on the contractually required percentage, as revenues are earned. In the case that a minimum royalty guarantee is not expected to be met
through sales, we will accrue up to the minimum amount required to be paid. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, we recorded
reserves of $5.5 million, $2.9 million and $0.3 million, respectively, related to prepaid royalties we estimated would not be recovered through sales.
Acquiring or renewing licenses may require the payment of minimum guaranteed royalties that we consider to be too high to be profitable, which
may result in losing licenses that we currently hold when they become available for renewal, or missing business opportunities for new licenses.
Additionally, we have no guarantee that any particular property we license will translate into a successful product. Products tied to a particular
content release may be developed and released before demand for the underlying content is known. The underperformance of any such product
may result in reduced sales and operating profit for us.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to successfully manage our inventories.

We must maintain sufficient inventory levels to operate our business successfully, but we must also avoid accumulating excess inventory, which
increases working capital needs and lowers gross margin. We obtain substantially all of our inventory from third-party manufacturers located
outside the United States and must typically order products well in advance of the time these products will be offered for sale to our customers. As
a result, it may be difficult to respond to changes in consumer preferences and market conditions, which, for pop culture products, can change
rapidly. If we do not accurately anticipate the popularity of certain products, then we may not have sufficient inventory to meet demand.
Alternatively, if demand or future sales do not reach forecasted levels, we could have excess inventory that we may need to hold for a long period
of time, write down, sell at prices lower than expected or discard. If we are not successful in managing our inventory, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We may also be negatively affected by changes in retailers’ inventory policies and practices. As a result of the desire of retailers to more closely
manage inventory levels, there is a growing trend to make purchases on a “just-in-time” basis. This requires us to more closely anticipate demand
and could require us to carry additional inventory. Policies and practices of individual retailers may adversely affect us as well, including those
relating to
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access to and time on shelf space, price demands, payment terms and favoring the products of our competitors. Our retail customers make no
binding long-term commitments to us regarding purchase volumes and make all purchases by delivering purchase orders. Any retailer can
therefore freely reduce its overall purchase of our products, including the number and variety of our products that it carries, and reduce the shelf
space allotted for our products. If demand or future sales do not reach forecasted levels, we could have excess inventory that we may need to
hold for a long period of time, write down, sell at prices lower than expected or discard. If we are not successful in managing our inventory, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

An inability to develop and introduce products in a timely and cost-effective manner may damage our business.

Our sales and profitability depend on our ability to bring products to market to meet customer demands and before consumers begin to lose
interest in a given property. There is no guarantee that we will be able to manufacture, source and ship new or continuing products in a timely
manner or on a cost-effective basis to meet constantly changing consumer demands. This risk is heightened by our customers’ increasingly
compressed shipping schedules and the seasonality of our business. Furthermore, our license agreements typically require us to obtain the
licensor’s approval of the products we develop under a particular license prior to making any sales, which can have the effect of delaying our
product releases. Additionally, for products based on properties in our movie, TV show and video game categories, this risk may also be
exacerbated by our need to introduce new products on a timeframe that corresponds with a particular content release. These time constraints may
lead our customers to reduce their demand for these products in order to minimize their inventory risk. Moreover, unforeseen delays or difficulties
in the development process, significant increases in the planned cost of development, manufacturing delays or changes in anticipated consumer
demand for our products and new brands, or the related third party content, may cause the introduction date for products to be later than
anticipated, may reduce or eliminate the profitability of such products or, in some situations, may cause a product or new brand introduction to be
discontinued.
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If we are unable to obtain, maintain and protect our intellectual property rights, in particular trademarks and copyrights, or if our
licensors are unable to maintain and protect their intellectual property rights that we use in connection with our products, our ability to
compete could be negatively impacted.

Our intellectual property is a valuable asset of our business. As of December 31, 2018, we owned approximately 39 registered U.S. trademarks,
124 registered international trademarks, 21 pending U.S. trademark applications and 8 pending international trademark applications. The market for
our products depends to a significant extent upon the value associated with our product design, our proprietary brands and the properties we
license. Although certain of our intellectual property is registered in the United States and in several of the foreign countries in which we operate,
there can be no assurances with respect to the rights associated with such intellectual property in those countries, including our ability to register,
use, maintain or defend key trademarks and copyrights. We rely on a combination of trademark, trade dress, copyright and trade secret laws, as
well as confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions, to establish and protect our intellectual property or other proprietary rights. However,
these laws, procedures and restrictions provide only limited and uncertain protection and any of our intellectual property rights may be challenged,
invalidated, circumvented, infringed or misappropriated, including by counterfeiters and parallel importers. In addition, our intellectual property
portfolio in many foreign countries is less extensive than our portfolio in the United States, and the laws of foreign countries, including many
emerging markets in which our products are produced or sold, may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the
United States. The costs required to protect our trademarks and copyrights may be substantial.

In addition, we may fail to apply for, or be unable to obtain, protection for certain aspects of the intellectual property used in or beneficial to our
business. Further, we cannot provide assurance that our applications for trademarks, copyrights and other intellectual property rights will be
granted, or, if granted, will provide meaningful protection. In addition, third parties have in the past and could in the future bring infringement,
invalidity or similar claims with respect to any of our current trademarks and copyrights, or any trademarks or copyrights that we may seek to
obtain in the future. Any such claims, whether or not successful, could be extremely costly to defend, divert management’s attention and
resources, damage our reputation and brands, and substantially harm our business and results of operations.

In order to protect or enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary rights, or to determine the enforceability, scope or validity of the
intellectual or proprietary rights of others, we may initiate litigation or other proceedings against third parties. Any lawsuits or proceedings that we
initiate could be expensive, take significant time and divert management’s attention from other business concerns. Litigation and other
proceedings also put our intellectual property at risk of being invalidated, or if not invalidated, may result in the scope of our intellectual property
rights being narrowed. In addition, our efforts to try to protect and defend our trademarks and copyrights may be ineffective. Additionally, we may
provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits or other proceedings that we initiate, and the damages or
other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially valuable. The occurrence of any of these events may have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, most of our products bear the trademarks and other intellectual property rights of our licensors, and the value of our products is
affected by the value of those rights. Our licensors’ ability to maintain and protect their trademarks and other intellectual property rights is subject
to risks similar to those described above with respect to our intellectual property. We do not control the protection of the trademarks and other
intellectual property rights of our licensors and cannot ensure that our licensors will be able to secure or protect their trademarks and other
intellectual property rights. The loss of any of our significant owned or licensed trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, our licensors may engage in activities or
otherwise be subject to negative publicity that could harm their reputation and impair the value of the intellectual property rights we license from
them, which could reduce consumer demand for our products and adversely affect our business financial condition and results of operations.

Our success depends on our ability to operate our business without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the trademarks,
copyrights and proprietary rights of other parties.

Our commercial success depends at least in part on our ability to operate without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the trademarks,
copyrights and other proprietary rights of others. However, we cannot be
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certain that the conduct of our business does not and will not infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate such rights. Many companies have
employed intellectual property litigation as a way to gain a competitive advantage, and to the extent we gain greater visibility and market exposure
as a public company, we may also face a greater risk of being the subject of such litigation. For these and other reasons, third parties may allege
that our products or activities, including products we make under license, infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate their trademark, copyright or
other proprietary rights. While we typically receive intellectual property infringement indemnities from our licensors, the indemnities are often
limited to third-party copyright infringement claims to the extent arising from our use of the licensed material. Defending against allegations and
litigation could be expensive, take significant time, divert management’s attention from other business concerns, and delay getting our products to
market. In addition, if we are found to be infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating third-party trademark, copyright or other proprietary
rights, we may need to obtain a license, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all, or may need to redesign or
rebrand our products, which may not be possible. We may also be required to pay substantial damages or be subject to a court order prohibiting us
and our customers from selling certain products or engaging in certain activities. Any claims of violating others’ intellectual property, even those
without merit, could therefore have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our operating results may be adversely affected and damage to our reputation may occur due to production and sale of counterfeit
versions of our products.

As we have expanded internationally, and the global popularity of our products has increased, our products are increasingly subject to efforts by
third parties to produce counterfeit versions of our products. There can be no guarantee that our efforts, including our work with customs officials
and law enforcement authorities, to block the manufacture of counterfeit goods, prevent their entry in end markets, and detect counterfeit products
in customer networks will be successful or result in any material reduction in the availability of counterfeit goods. Any such counterfeit sales, to
the extent they replace otherwise legitimate sales, could adversely affect our operating results and damage our reputation.

Our success is critically dependent on the efforts and dedication of our officers and other employees, and the loss of one or more key
employees, or our inability to attract and retain qualified personnel and maintain our corporate culture, could adversely affect our
business.

Our officers and employees are at the heart of all of our efforts. It is their skill, creativity and hard work that drive our success. In particular, our
success depends to a significant extent on the continued service and performance of our senior management team, including our chief executive
officer, Brian Mariotti. We are dependent on his talents and believe he is integral to our relationships with our licensors and certain of our key retail
customers. The loss of any member of our senior management team, or of any other key employees, could impair our ability to execute our
business plan and could therefore have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We do not
currently maintain key man life insurance policies on any member of our senior management team or on our other key employees.

In addition, competition for qualified personnel is intense. We compete with many other potential employers in recruiting, hiring and retaining our
senior management team and our many other skilled officers and other employees around the world. Our headquarters is located near Seattle and
competition in the Seattle area for qualified personnel, particularly those with technology-related skills and experience, is intense due to the
increasing number of technology and e-commerce companies with a large or growing presence in Seattle, some of whom have greater resources
than us and may be located closer to the city than we are.

Furthermore, as we continue to grow our business and hire new employees, it may become increasingly challenging to hire people who will
maintain our corporate culture. We believe our corporate culture, which fosters speed, teamwork and creativity, is one of our key competitive
strengths. As we continue to grow, we may be unable to identify, hire or retain enough people who will maintain our corporate culture, including
those in management and other key positions. Our corporate culture could also be adversely affected by the increasingly global distribution of our
employees, as well as their increasingly diverse skill sets. If we are unable to maintain the strength of our corporate culture, our competitive ability
and our business may be adversely affected.
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Our operating results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter and year to year due to the seasonality of our business, as well as due to the
timing of new product releases.

The businesses of our retail customers are highly seasonal, with a majority of retail sales occurring during the period from October through
December in anticipation of the holiday season. As a consequence, we have experienced moderate seasonality in our business. Approximately
59.8%, 60.5% and 58.7%, of our net sales for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, were made in the third and fourth
quarters, as our customers build up their inventories in anticipation of the holiday season.

This seasonal pattern requires significant use of working capital, mainly to manufacture inventory during the portion of the year prior to the holiday
season and requires accurate forecasting of demand for products during the holiday season in order to avoid losing potential sales of popular
products or producing excess inventory of products that are less popular with consumers. In addition, as a result of the seasonal nature of our
business, we would be significantly and adversely affected, in a manner disproportionate to the impact on a company with sales spread more
evenly throughout the year, by unforeseen events such as a terrorist attack or economic shock that harm the retail environment or consumer
buying patterns during our key selling season, or by events such as strikes or port delays that interfere with the shipment of goods during the
critical months leading up to the holiday shopping season.

In addition, our results of operations may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter or year to year depending on the timing of new product
releases and related content releases. Sales of a certain product or group of products tied to a particular content release can dramatically increase
our net sales in any given quarter or year. For example, in 2016, we introduced products based on the video game property “Five Nights at
Freddy’s,” sales of which accounted for approximately 3%, 6% and 15% of 2018, 2017 and 2016 sales, respectively. The timing and mix of
products we sell in any given year will depend on various factors, including the timing and popularity of new releases by third-party content
providers and our ability to license properties based on these releases.

Our results of operations may also fluctuate as a result of factors such as the delivery schedules set by our customers and holiday shut down
schedules set by our third-party manufacturers. Additionally, the rapid growth we have experienced in recent years may have masked the full
effects of seasonal factors on our business to date, and as such, these factors may have a greater effect on our results of operations in future
periods.

Our use of third-party manufacturers to produce our products presents risks to our business.

We use third-party manufacturers to manufacture all of our products and have historically concentrated production with a small number of
manufacturers and factories. As a result, the loss or unavailability of one of our manufacturers or one of the factories in which our products are
produced, even on a temporary basis, could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. This risk is
exacerbated by the fact that we do not have written contracts with our manufacturers. While we believe our external sources of manufacturing
could be shifted, if necessary, to alternative sources of supply, we would require a significant period of time to make such a shift. Because we
believe our products represent a significant percentage of the total capacity of each factory in which they are produced, such a shift may require
us to establish relationships with new manufacturers, which we may not be able to do on a timely basis, on similar terms, or at all. We may also
be required to seek out additional manufacturers in response to increased demand for our products, as our current manufacturers may not have the
capacity to increase production. If we were prevented from or delayed in obtaining a material portion of the products produced by our
manufacturers, or if we were required to shift manufacturers (assuming we would be able to do so), our sales and profitability could be significantly
reduced.

In addition, while we require that our products supplied by third-party manufacturers be produced in compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations, and we have the right to monitor compliance by our third-party manufacturers with our manufacturing requirements and to oversee the
quality control process at our manufacturers’ factories, there is always a risk that one or more of our third-party manufacturers will not comply with
our requirements, and that we will not immediately discover such non-compliance. For example, the Consumer Product Safety Improvement Act of
2008, or the CPSIA, limits the amounts of lead and phthalates that are permissible in certain products and requires that our products be tested to
ensure that they do not contain these substances in amounts that exceed permissible levels. In the past, products manufactured by certain of our
third-party manufacturers have tested positive for phthalates. Though the amount was not in excess of the amount permissible under the CPSIA,
we cannot guarantee that products made by our third-party manufacturers
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will not in the future contain phthalates in excess of permissible amounts, or will not otherwise violate the CPSIA, other consumer or product
safety requirements, or labor or other applicable requirements. Any failure of our third-party manufacturers to comply with such requirements in
manufacturing products for us could result in damage to our reputation, harm our brand image and sales of our products and potentially create
liability for us.

Monitoring compliance by independent manufacturers is complicated by the fact that expectations of ethical business practices continually evolve,
may be substantially more demanding than applicable legal requirements and are driven in part by legal developments and by diverse groups
active in publicizing and organizing public responses to perceived ethical shortcomings. Accordingly, we cannot predict how such expectations
might develop in the future and cannot be certain that our manufacturing requirements, even if complied with, would satisfy all parties who are
active in monitoring and publicizing perceived shortcomings in labor and other business practices worldwide. Additionally, the third-party
manufacturers that produce most of our products are located in China, Vietnam and Mexico. As a result, we are subject to various risks resulting
from our international operations. See “Our substantial sales and manufacturing operations outside the United States subject us to risks
associated with international operations.”

Our operations, including our corporate headquarters, primary distribution facilities and third-party manufacturers, are concentrated in
certain geographic regions, which makes us susceptible to adverse conditions in those regions. Our corporate headquarters and primary
distribution facilities are located in Everett, Washington. We also have additional warehouse facilities and/or offices located in Maldon, England;
Bath, England; and Chatsworth, California. In addition, the factories that produce most of our products are located in China, Vietnam and Mexico.
As a result, our business may be more susceptible to adverse conditions in these regions than the operations of more geographically diverse
competitors. Such conditions could include, among others, adverse economic and labor conditions, as well as demographic trends. Furthermore,
Everett is the location from which most of the products we sell are received, stored and shipped to our customers. We depend heavily on ocean
container delivery to receive products from our third-party manufacturers located in Asia and contracted third-party delivery service providers to
deliver our products to our distribution facilities. Any disruption to or failures in these delivery services, whether as a result of extreme or severe
weather conditions, natural disasters, labor unrest or otherwise, affecting western Washington in particular or the West Coast in general, could
significantly disrupt our operations, damage or destroy our equipment and inventory and cause us to incur additional expenses, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, in the fall of 2014, longshoreman work
stoppages created a significant backlog of cargo containers at ports. We experienced delays in the shipment of our products as a result of this
backlog and were unable to meet our planned inventory allocations for a limited period of time. Although we possess insurance for damage to our
property and the disruption of our business, this insurance, and in particular earthquake insurance, which is subject to various limitations and
requires large deductibles or co-payments, may not be sufficient to cover all of our potential losses, and may be cancelled by us in the future or
otherwise cease to be available to us on reasonable terms or at all. Similarly, natural disasters and other adverse events or conditions affecting
east or southeast Asia, where most of our products are produced, could halt or disrupt the production of our products, impair the movement of
finished products out of those regions, damage or destroy the molds and tooling necessary to make our products and otherwise cause us to incur
additional costs and expenses, any of which could also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Our substantial sales and manufacturing operations outside the United States subject us to risks associated with international
operations.

We operate facilities and sell products in numerous countries outside the United States. Sales to our international customers comprised
approximately 32%, 27% and 19% of our sales for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. We expect sales to our
international customers to account for an increasing portion of our sales in future fiscal years, including as a result of the Underground Toys
Acquisition and the formation of our subsidiary Funko UK, Ltd., through which we now sell directly to certain of our customers in Europe, the
Middle East and Africa. In fact, over time, we expect our international sales and operations to continue to grow both in dollars and as a percentage
of our overall business as a result of a key business strategy to expand our presence in emerging and underserved international markets.
Additionally, as discussed above, we use third-party manufacturers located in China, Vietnam and Mexico to produce most of our products. These
international
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sales and manufacturing operations, including operations in emerging markets, are subject to risks that may significantly harm our sales, increase
our costs or otherwise damage our business, including:

 • currency conversion risks and currency fluctuations;

 • limitations on the repatriation of earnings;

 • potential challenges to our transfer pricing determinations and other aspects of our cross-border transactions, which can materially
increase our taxes and other costs of doing business; political instability, civil unrest and economic instability;

 • greater difficulty enforcing intellectual property rights and weaker laws protecting such rights;

 • complications in complying with different laws and regulations in varying jurisdictions, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act (“FCPA”), the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010, similar anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws and local and international environmental,
health and safety laws, and in dealing with changes in governmental policies and the evolution of laws and regulations and related
enforcement;

 • difficulties understanding the retail climate, consumer trends, local customs and competitive conditions in foreign markets which
may be quite different from the United States;

 • changes in international labor costs and other costs of doing business internationally;

 • the imposition of and changes in tariffs, quotas, border adjustment taxes or other protectionist measures by any major country or
market in which we operate, which could make it significantly more expensive and difficult to import products into that country or
market, raise the cost of such products, decrease our sales of such products or decrease our profitability.

 • natural disasters and the greater difficulty and cost in recovering therefrom;

 • transportation delays and interruptions;

 • difficulties in moving materials and products from one country to another, including port congestion, strikes and other transportation
delays and interruptions and

 • increased investment and operational complexity to make our products compatible with systems in various countries and compliant
with local laws.

Because of the importance of international sales, sourcing and manufacturing to our business, our financial condition and results of operations
could be significantly harmed if any of the risks described above were to occur or if we are otherwise unsuccessful in managing our increasingly
global business.

Increases in tariffs, trade restrictions or taxes on our products could have an adverse impact on our operations.

The commerce we conduct in the international marketplace makes us subject to tariffs, trade restrictions and other taxes when the raw materials
or components we purchase, and the products we ship, cross international borders. Trade tensions between the United States and China, as well
as those between the United States and Canada, Mexico and other countries have been escalating in recent months. Most notably, three rounds
of U.S. tariffs were placed on Chinese goods being exported to the United States, with such tariffs taking effect in July, August and September
2018. Each of these U.S. tariff impositions against Chinese exports were followed by a round of retaliatory Chinese tariffs on U.S. exports to
China. Certain of the products we purchase from manufacturers in China are subject to these tariffs, which could make our products less
competitive than those of our competitors whose inputs are not subject to these tariffs. In addition, the U.S. administration has threatened to
impose tariffs on all products imported from China, which would impact all of our products and supplies imported from China to the United States.
If this were to occur, we may not be able to mitigate the impacts of these tariffs, and our business, results of operations and financial position
would be materially adversely affected. Products we sell into certain foreign markets could also become subject to similar retaliatory tariffs,
making the products we sell uncompetitive compared to similar products not subjected to such import tariffs. Further changes in U.S. trade
policies, tariffs, taxes, export restrictions or other trade barriers, or restrictions on raw materials or components may limit our ability to produce
products, increase our manufacturing costs, decrease our profit margins, reduce the competitiveness of our products, or inhibit our ability to sell
products or purchase raw materials or
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components, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The results of the United Kingdom’s referendum on withdrawal from the European Union may have a negative effect on global economic
conditions, financial markets and our business.

In June 2016, a majority of voters in the United Kingdom elected to withdraw from the European Union in a national referendum known as “Brexit”
and, in March 2017, the government of the United Kingdom formally initiated the withdrawal process. These events have created significant
uncertainty about the future relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union and have given rise to calls for certain regions within
the United Kingdom to preserve their place in the European Union by separating from the United Kingdom, as well as for the governments of other
European Union member states to consider withdrawal.

These developments, or the perception that any of them could occur, have had and may continue to have a material adverse effect on global
economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets, and may significantly reduce global market liquidity and restrict the ability of key
market participants to operate in certain financial markets. Asset valuations, currency exchange rates and credit ratings may be especially subject
to increased market volatility. Lack of clarity about future United Kingdom laws and regulations as the United Kingdom determines which European
Union laws to replace or replicate in the event of a withdrawal, including financial laws and regulations, tax and free trade agreements, intellectual
property rights, privacy and data protection, environmental, health and safety laws and regulations and employment laws, could increase costs and
depress economic activity. If the United Kingdom and the European Union are unable to negotiate acceptable withdrawal terms or if other
European Union member states pursue withdrawal, barrier-free access between the United Kingdom and other European Union member states or
among the European economic area overall could be diminished or eliminated.

Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our operations in the
United Kingdom subject us to revenue risk with respect to our customers in the United Kingdom and adverse movements in foreign currency
exchange rates, in addition to risks related to the general economic and legal uncertainty related to Brexit described above.

U.S. tax legislation significantly changed U.S. federal income tax rules and may materially adversely affect our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”) enacted in December 2017 has significantly changed U.S. federal income taxation, including reducing
the U.S. corporate income tax rate, limiting certain interest deductions, imposing a one-time transition tax on all undistributed earnings and profits
of certain non-U.S. entities and other additional taxes with respect to certain non-U.S. earnings, permitting full expensing of certain capital
expenditures, adopting elements of a territorial tax system, revising the rules governing net operating losses and the rules governing foreign tax
credits, and introducing new anti-base erosion provisions. Many of these changes became effective immediately, without any transition periods or
grandfathering for existing transactions. The legislation is unclear in many respects and could be subject to potential amendments and technical
corrections, as well as interpretations and implementing regulations by the Treasury and Internal Revenue Service, any of which could lessen or
increase certain adverse impacts of the legislation. In addition, it is unclear how these U.S. federal income tax changes may affect state and local
taxation.  Any of the above factors could potentially impact the measurement of our tax balances and reduce any anticipated benefits of the Tax
Act.

Unanticipated changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other tax returns could
adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and the United Kingdom, and our tax liabilities will be subject to the allocation of expenses in
differing jurisdictions. Our future effective tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by a number of factors, including:

 • changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities;

 • expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowances;
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 • tax effects of equity-based compensation;

 • costs related to intercompany restructurings; or

 • changes in tax laws, regulations or interpretations thereof.

In addition, we may be subject to audits of our income, sales and other transaction taxes by the U.K., U.S. federal and state authorities.
Outcomes from these audits could have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates can significantly impact our reported financial performance.

Our increasingly global operations mean we produce, buy, and sell products in many different markets with many different currencies. As a result,
if the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and a local currency for an international market in which we have significant sales or operations
changes, our financial results as reported in U.S. dollars may be meaningfully impacted even if our business in the local currency is not
significantly affected. Similarly, our expenses can be significantly impacted, in U.S. dollar terms, by exchange rates, meaning the profitability of
our business in U.S. dollar terms can be negatively impacted by exchange rate movements which we do not control. In recent years, certain key
currencies, such as the euro and the British pound sterling, depreciated significantly compared to the U.S. dollar. Depreciation in key currencies
during 2019 and beyond may have a significant negative impact on our sales and earnings as they are reported in U.S. dollars.

Global and regional economic downturns that negatively impact the retail and credit markets, or that otherwise damage the financial
health of our retail customers and consumers, can harm our business and financial performance.

We design, manufacture and market a wide variety of consumer products worldwide through sales to our retail customers and directly to
consumers. Our financial performance is impacted by the level of discretionary consumer spending in the markets in which we operate.
Recessions, credit crises and other economic downturns, or disruptions in credit markets, in the United States and in other markets in which our
products are sold can result in lower levels of economic activity, lower employment levels, less consumer disposable income, and lower consumer
confidence. The retail industry is subject to volatility, especially during uncertain economic conditions. A downturn in the retail industry in particular
may disproportionately affect us because a substantial majority of our net sales are to retail customers. Significant increases in the costs of other
products which are required by consumers, such as gasoline, home heating fuels, or groceries, may reduce household spending on our products.
Such cost increases and weakened economic conditions may result from any number of factors, including terrorist attacks, wars and other
conflicts, natural disasters, increases in critical commodity prices or labor costs, or the prospect of such events. Such a weakened economic and
business climate, as well as consumer uncertainty created by such a climate, could harm our sales and profitability. Similarly, reductions in the
value of key assets held by consumers, such as their homes or stock market investments, can lower consumer confidence and consumer
spending power. Any of these factors can reduce the amount which consumers spend on the purchase of our products. This in turn can reduce our
sales and harm our financial performance and profitability.

In addition to experiencing potentially lower sales of our products during times of economic difficulty, in an effort to maintain sales during such
times, we may need to reduce the price of our products, increase our promotional spending or sales allowances, or take other steps to encourage
retailer and consumer purchases of our products. Those steps may lower our net sales or increase our costs, thereby decreasing our operating
margins and lowering our profitability.

Our business depends in large part on our vendors and outsourcers, and our reputation and ability to effectively operate our business
may be harmed by actions taken by these third parties outside of our control.

We rely significantly on vendor and outsourcing relationships with third parties for services and systems including manufacturing, transportation,
logistics and information technology. In 2018, we initiated a relationship with a third party logistics company to process and fulfill customer orders
in Europe. Any shortcoming of one of our vendors or outsourcers, including our third party logistics provider in Europe, particularly one affecting
the quality of these services or systems, may be attributed by customers to us, thus damaging our reputation and brand value, and
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potentially affecting our results of operations. In addition, problems with transitioning these services and systems to, or operating failures with,
these vendors and outsourcers could cause delays in product sales, reduce the efficiency of our operations and require significant capital
investments to remediate.

We are subject to various government regulations and may be subject to additional regulations in the future, violation of which could
subject us to sanctions or otherwise harm our business.

As a company that designs and sells consumer products, we are subject to significant government regulation, including, in the United States,
under the CPSA, the FHSA, the CPSIA and the FFA, as well as under product safety and consumer protection statutes in our international
markets. There can be no assurance that we will be in compliance, and failure to comply with these acts could result in sanctions which could
have a negative impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. This risk is exacerbated by our reliance on third parties to
manufacture our products. See “Our use of third-party manufacturers to produce our products presents risks to our business.”

Governments and regulatory agencies in the markets in which we manufacture and sell products may enact additional regulations relating to
product safety and consumer protection in the future and may also increase the penalties for failing to comply with such regulations. In addition,
one or more of our customers might require changes in our products, such as the non-use of certain materials, in the future. Complying with any
such additional regulations or requirements could impose increased costs on our business. Similarly, increased penalties for non-compliance could
subject us to greater expense in the event any of our products were found to not comply with such regulations. Such increased costs or penalties
could harm our business.

As discussed above, our international operations subject us to a host of other governmental regulations throughout the world, including antitrust,
customs and tax requirements, anti-boycott regulations, environmental regulations and the FCPA. Complying with these regulations imposes costs
on us which can reduce our profitability, and our failure to successfully comply with any such legal requirements could subject us to monetary
liabilities and other sanctions that could further harm our business and financial condition. See “Our substantial sales and manufacturing
operations outside the United States subject us to risks associated with international operations.”

We could be subject to future product liability suits or product recalls which could have a significant adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.

As a company that designs and sells consumer products, we may be subject to product liability suits or involuntary product recalls or may choose
to voluntarily conduct a product recall. While costs associated with product liability claims and product recalls have generally not been material to
our business, the costs associated with future product liability claims or product recalls in any given fiscal year, individually or in the aggregate,
could be significant. In addition, any product recall, regardless of the direct costs of the recall, could harm consumer perceptions of our products,
subject us to additional government scrutiny, divert development and management resources, adversely affect our business operations and
otherwise put us at a competitive disadvantage compared to other companies in our industry, any of which could have a significant adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operations.

We are currently subject to securities class action litigation and may be subject to similar or other litigation in the future, all of which
will require significant management time and attention, result in significant legal expenses and may result in unfavorable outcomes,
which may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition, and negatively affect the price of
our Class A common stock.

We are, and may in the future become, subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in or outside the ordinary course of business.
For example, on November 16, 2017, a purported stockholder of the Company filed a putative class action lawsuit in the Superior Court of
Washington in and for King County against us, certain of our officers and directors, and the underwriters of our IPO, entitled Robert Lowinger v.
Funko, Inc., et. al. In January and March 2018, five additional putative class action lawsuits were filed in Washington state court, four in the
Superior Court of Washington in and for King County and one in the Superior Court of Washington in and for Snohomish County. Two of the King
County lawsuits, Surratt v. Funko, Inc. et. al. (filed on January 16, 2018) and
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Baskin v. Funko, Inc. et. al. (filed on January 30, 2018), were filed against us and certain of our officers and directors. The other two King County
lawsuits, The Ronald and Maxine Linde Foundation v. Funko, Inc. et. al. (filed on January 18, 2018) and Lovewell v. Funko, Inc. et. al (filed on
March 27, 2018), were filed against us, certain of our officers and directors, ACON, Fundamental and certain other defendants. The Snohomish
County lawsuit, Berkelhammer v. Funko, Inc. et. al. (filed on March 13, 2018), was filed against us, certain of our officers and directors, and
ACON. On May 8, 2015, the Berkelhammer action was voluntarily dismissed, and on May 15, 2018 a substantially similar action was filed by the
same plaintiff in the Superior Court of Washington in and for King County.  On April 2, 2018, a putative class action lawsuit Jacobs v. Funko, Inc.
et. al was filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington against us, certain of our officers and directors, and
certain other defendants. On May 21, 2018 the Jacobs action was voluntarily dismissed, and on June 12, 2018 a substantially similar action was
filed by the same plaintiff in the Superior Court of Washington in and for King County.

On July 2, 2018, all of the above-referenced suits were ordered consolidated for all purposes into one action under the title In re Funko, Inc.
Securities Litigation in the Superior Court of Washington in and for King County. On August 1, 2018, plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint
against us, certain of our officers and directors, ACON, Fundamental, and certain other defendants. On October 1, 2018, we moved to dismiss that
action. Plaintiffs filed their opposition to our motion to dismiss on October 31, 2018, and we filed our reply to plaintiffs’ opposition on November 30,
2018.

Additionally, on June 4, 2018, a putative class action lawsuit Kanugonda v. Funko, et al. was filed in the United States District Court for the
Western District of Washington against us, certain of our officers and directors, and certain other defendants. On January 4, 2019, a lead plaintiff
was appointed in that case.

The complaints in both state and federal court allege that we violated Sections 11, 12, and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, by
making allegedly materially misleading statements and by omitting material facts necessary to make the statements made therein not misleading.
The lawsuits seek, among other things, compensatory statutory damages and rescissory damages in account of the consideration paid for our
Class A common stock by plaintiff and members of the putative class, as well as attorneys’ fees and costs.

The results of the securities class action lawsuit and any future legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty. Also, our insurance coverage
may be insufficient, our assets may be insufficient to cover any amounts that exceed our insurance coverage, and we may have to pay damage
awards or otherwise may enter into settlement arrangements in connection with such claims. Any such payments or settlement arrangements in
current or future litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial condition. Even if the plaintiffs’
claims are not successful, current or future litigation could result in substantial costs and significantly and adversely impact our reputation and
divert management’s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial
condition, and negatively affect the price of our Class A common stock. In addition, such lawsuits may make it more difficult to finance our
operations.

Failure to comply with anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws could result in fines, criminal penalties and materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

A significant risk resulting from our global operations is compliance with a wide variety of U.S. federal and state and non-U.S. laws, regulations
and policies, including laws related to anti-corruption, anti-bribery and laundering. The FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010 and similar anti-
corruption and anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally prohibit companies, their officers, directors, employees and third-party
intermediaries, business partners, and agents from making improper payments or other improper things of value to government officials or other
persons. There has been an increase in anti-bribery and anti-corruption law enforcement activity in recent years, with more frequent and aggressive
investigations and enforcement proceedings by both the U.S. Department of Justice and the SEC, increased enforcement activity by non-
U.S. regulators, and increases in criminal and civil proceedings brought against companies and individuals. We operate in parts of the world that
are considered high-risk from an anti-bribery and anti-corruption perspective, and strict compliance with anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws may
conflict with local customs and practices. We cannot assure you that our internal controls, policies and procedures will protect us from improper
conduct by our officers, directors, employees, third-party intermediaries, business partners or agents. To the extent that we learn that any of these
parties do not adhere to our internal control policies, we are committed to taking appropriate remedial action. In
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the event that we believe or have reason to believe that any such party has or may have violated such laws, we may be required to investigate or
have outside counsel investigate the relevant facts and circumstances, and detecting, investigating and resolving actual or alleged violations can
be expensive and require a significant diversion of time, resources and attention from senior management. Any violation of U.S. federal and state
and non-U.S. anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, regulations and policies could result in substantial fines, sanctions, civil or criminal penalties,
and curtailment of operations in the U.S. or other applicable jurisdictions. In addition, actual or alleged violations could damage our reputation and
ability to do business. Any of the foregoing could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to governmental economic sanctions requirements and export and import controls that could impair our ability to
compete in international markets or subject us to liability if we are not in compliance with applicable laws.

As a U.S. company, we are subject to U.S. export control and economic sanctions laws and regulations, and we are required to export our
products in compliance with those laws and regulations, including the U.S. Export Administration Regulations and economic and trade sanctions
programs administered by the Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control. U.S. economic sanctions and export control laws and
regulations prohibit the shipment of specified products and services to countries, governments and persons that are the subject of U.S. sanctions.
While we take precautions against doing any business, directly or indirectly, in or with countries, governments and persons subject to U.S.
sanctions, such measures may be circumvented. There can be no assurance that we will be in compliance with U.S. export control or economic
sanctions laws and regulations in the future. Any such violation could result in criminal or civil fines, penalties or other sanctions and
repercussions, including reputational harm that could materially adversely affect our business.

We may not realize the anticipated benefits of acquisitions or investments, or those benefits may be delayed or reduced in their
realization.

Acquisitions have been a component of our growth and the development of our business and are likely to continue to be in the future. Acquisitions
can broaden and diversify our brand holdings and product offerings, expand our distribution capabilities and allow us to build additional capabilities
and competencies. For example, in the case of the Underground Toys Acquisition, we looked to strengthen our ability to sell our products directly
to international retailers, primarily those located in Europe, and reduce our reliance on third-party distributors in Europe and certain other
international jurisdictions. However, we cannot be certain that the products and offerings of companies we may acquire, or acquire an interest in,
will achieve or maintain popularity with consumers in the future or that any such acquired companies or investments will allow us to more
effectively distribute our products, market our products, develop our competencies or to grow our business.

In some cases, we expect that the integration of the companies that we may acquire into our operations will create production, distribution,
marketing and other operating synergies which will produce greater sales growth and profitability and, where applicable, cost savings, operating
efficiencies and other advantages. However, we cannot be certain that these synergies, efficiencies and cost savings will be realized. Even if
achieved, these benefits may be delayed or reduced in their realization. In other cases, we may acquire or invest in companies that we believe
have strong and creative management, in which case we may plan to operate them more autonomously rather than fully integrating them into our
operations. We cannot be certain that the key talented individuals at these companies would continue to work for us after the acquisition or that
they would develop popular and profitable products, in the future. There is no guarantee that any acquisition or investment we may make will be
successful or beneficial or that we will be able to manage the integration process successfully, and acquisitions can consume significant amounts
of management attention and other resources, which may negatively impact other aspects of our business.

Our e-commerce business is subject to numerous risks that could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Although sales through our websites have constituted a small portion of our net sales historically, we expect to continue to grow our e-
commerce business in the future. Though sales through our websites generally have higher profit margins and provide us useful insight on the
sales impact of certain of our marketing campaigns, further development of our e-commerce business also subjects us to a number of risks. Our
online sales may negatively impact our relationships with our retail customers and distributors if they perceive that we are competing with them. In
addition, online commerce is subject to increasing regulation by states, the federal government and various foreign jurisdictions. Compliance with
these laws will increase our costs of doing
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business, and our failure to comply with these laws could also subject us to potential fines, claims for damages and other remedies, any of which
would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, some jurisdictions have implemented, or may implement, laws that require remote sellers of goods and services to collect and remit
taxes on sales to customers located within the jurisdiction. In particular, the Streamlined Sales Tax Project (an ongoing, multi-year effort by U.S.
state and local governments to pursue federal legislation that would require collection and remittance of sales tax by out-of-state sellers) could
allow states that meet certain simplification and other criteria to require out-of-state sellers to collect and remit sales taxes on goods purchased
by in-state residents. Furthermore, in June 2018, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled in South Dakota v. Wayfair that a U.S. state may require an online
retailer with no in-state property or personnel to collect and remit sales taxes on sales made to the state’s residents, which may permit wider
enforcement of sales tax collection requirements.  These collection responsibilities and the complexity associated with tax collection, remittance
and audit requirements would also increase the costs associated with our e-commerce business.

Furthermore, our e-commerce operations subject us to risks related to the computer systems that operate our websites and related support
systems, such as system failures, viruses, computer hackers and similar disruptions. If we are unable to continually add software and hardware,
effectively upgrade our systems and network infrastructure and take other steps to improve the efficiency of our systems, system interruptions or
delays could occur that adversely affect our operating results and harm our brand. While we depend on our technology vendors to manage “up-
time” of the front-end e-commerce store, manage the intake of our orders, and export orders for fulfillment, we could begin to run all or a greater
portion of these components ourselves in the future. Any failure on the part of our third-party e-commerce vendors or in our ability to transition
third-party services effectively could result in lost sales and harm our brand.

There is a risk that consumer demand for our products online may not generate sufficient sales to make our e-commerce business profitable, as
consumer demand for physical products online may be less than in traditional retail sales channels. To the extent our e-commerce business does
not generate more net sales than costs, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be adversely affected.

Use of social media may materially and adversely affect our reputation or subject us to fines or other penalties.

We rely to a large extent on our online presence to reach consumers and use third-party social media platforms as marketing tools. For example,
we maintain Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and YouTube accounts. As e-commerce and social media platforms continue to rapidly evolve, we must
continue to maintain a presence on these platforms and establish presences on new or emerging popular social media platforms. If we are unable
to cost-effectively use social media platforms as marketing tools, our ability to acquire new consumers and our financial condition may suffer.
Furthermore, as laws and regulations rapidly evolve to govern the use of these platforms, the failure by us, our employees or third parties acting at
our direction to abide by applicable laws and regulations in the use of these platforms could subject us to regulatory investigations, class action
lawsuits, liability, fines or other penalties and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and result of operations.

Failure to successfully operate our information systems and implement new technology effectively could disrupt our business or reduce
our sales or profitability.

We rely extensively on various information technology systems and software applications, including our enterprise resource planning software, to
manage many aspects of our business, including product development, management of our supply chain, sale and delivery of our products,
financial reporting and various other processes and transactions. We are critically dependent on the integrity, security and consistent operations of
these systems and related back-up systems. These systems are subject to damage or interruption from power outages, computer and
telecommunications failures, computer viruses, malware and other security breaches, catastrophic events such as hurricanes, fires, floods,
earthquakes, tornadoes, acts of war or terrorism and usage errors by our employees. The efficient operation and successful growth of our business
depends on these information systems, including our ability to operate and upgrade them effectively and to select and implement adequate
disaster recovery systems successfully. The failure of these information systems to perform as
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designed, our failure to operate them effectively, or a security breach or disruption in operation of our information systems could disrupt our
business, require significant capital investments to remediate a problem or subject us to liability.  In 2018, we upgraded the enterprise resource
planning software used by our United Kingdom operations.  This upgrade resulted in certain delays in our operations in the first few months of
implementation.  We are also considering upgrades to our enterprise resource planning software at our other locations, including in the United
States. If the potential upgrades are not successful or result in delays, our business could be disrupted or harmed.

In addition, we have recently implemented, and expect to continue to invest in and implement, modifications and upgrades to our information
technology systems and procedures to support our growth and the development of our e-commerce business. These modifications and upgrades
could require substantial investment and may not improve our profitability at a level that outweighs their costs, or at all. In addition, the process of
implementing any new technology systems involves inherent costs and risks, including potential delays and system failures, the potential
disruption of our internal control structure, the diversion of management’s time and attention, and the need to re-train or hire new employees, any
of which could disrupt our business operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If our electronic data is compromised our business could be significantly harmed.

We maintain significant amounts of data electronically. This data relates to all aspects of our business, including current and future products and
entertainment under development, and also contains certain customer, consumer, supplier, partner and employee data. We maintain systems and
processes designed to protect the data within our control, but notwithstanding such protective measures, there is a risk of intrusion or tampering
that could compromise the integrity and privacy of this data. In addition, we provide confidential and proprietary information to our third-party
business partners in certain cases where doing so is necessary or appropriate to conduct our business. While we obtain assurances from those
parties that they have systems and processes in place to protect such data, and where applicable, that they will take steps to assure the
protections of such data by third parties, nonetheless those partners may also be subject to data intrusion or otherwise compromise the protection
of such data. Any compromise of the confidential data of our customers, consumers, suppliers, partners, employees or ourselves, or failure to
prevent or mitigate the loss of or damage to this data through breach of our information technology systems or other means could substantially
disrupt our operations, harm our customers, consumers and other business partners, damage our reputation, violate applicable laws and
regulations and subject us to additional costs and liabilities and loss of business that could be material.

A failure to comply with laws and regulations relating to privacy and the protection of data relating to individuals may result in negative
publicity, claims, investigations and litigation, and adversely affect our financial performance.

We are subject to laws, rules, and regulations in the United States, the European Union, and other jurisdictions relating to the collection, use, and
security of personal information and data. Such data privacy laws, regulations, and other obligations may require us to change our business
practices and may negatively impact our ability to expand our business and pursue business opportunities. We may incur significant expenses to
comply with the laws, regulations and other obligations that apply to us. Additionally, the privacy- and data protection-related laws, rules, and
regulations applicable to us are subject to significant change. Several jurisdictions have passed new laws and regulations in this area, and other
jurisdictions are considering imposing additional restrictions. In particular, our operations are subject to the European Union’s new General Data
Protection Regulation, which became effective in May 2018 and imposed a host of new data privacy and security requirements on companies
doing business in the European Union, including substantial penalties for non-compliance. Privacy- and data protection-related laws and
regulations also may be interpreted and enforced inconsistently over time and from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. In addition to government regulation,
privacy advocates and industry groups may propose new and different self-regulatory standards that either legally or contractually apply to us. One
example of such self-regulatory standards to which we may be contractually bound is the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, or PCI
DSS. Though we currently use third-party vendors to process and store credit card data in connection with our e-commerce business, to the extent
we process or store such data ourselves in the future, we may be subject to various aspects of the PCI DSS, and fines, penalties, and a loss of
the ability to process credit card payments could result from any failure to comply with the PCI DSS. Any actual or perceived inability to comply
with applicable privacy or data protection laws, regulations, or other obligations could result in significant cost and liability, litigation or
governmental investigations, damage our reputation, and adversely affect our business.
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Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health and competitive position.

On October 22, 2018, we entered into the Credit Agreement providing for the New Term Loan Facility in the amount of $235.0 million and the New
Revolving Credit Facility in the amount of $50.0 million (which was increased to $75 million on February 11, 2019). Proceeds from the New Credit
Facilities were primarily used to repay the Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities. As of December 31, 2018, we had $247.3 million of
indebtedness outstanding under our New Credit Facilities, consisting of $227.3 million outstanding under our New Term Loan Facility (net of
unamortized discount of $4.8 million) and $20.0 million outstanding under our New Revolving Credit Facility.

In order to service this indebtedness and any additional indebtedness we may incur in the future, we need to generate cash. Our ability to generate
cash is subject, to a certain extent, to our ability to successfully execute our business strategy, as well as general economic, financial,
competitive, regulatory and other factors beyond our control. We cannot assure you that our business will be able to generate sufficient cash flow
from operations or that future borrowings or other financing will be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable us to service our indebtedness
and fund our other liquidity needs. To the extent we are required to use our cash flow from operations or the proceeds of any future financing to
service our indebtedness instead of funding working capital, capital expenditures or other general corporate purposes, we will be less able to plan
for, or react to, changes in our business, industry and in the economy generally. This will place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our
competitors that have less indebtedness.

In addition, the Credit Agreement contains, and any agreements evidencing or governing other future indebtedness may contain, certain restrictive
covenants that limit our ability, among other things, to engage in certain activities that are in our long-term best interests, including our ability to:

 • incur additional indebtedness;

 • incur certain liens;

 • consolidate, merge or sell or otherwise dispose of our assets;

 • alter the business conducted by us and our subsidiaries;

 • make investments, loans, advances, guarantees and acquisitions;

 • pay dividends or make other distributions on equity interests, or redeem, repurchase or retire equity interests;

 • enter into transactions with our affiliates;

 • enter into agreements restricting our subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends;

 • issue or sell equity interests or securities convertible into or exchangeable for equity interests;

 • redeem, repurchase or refinance our other indebtedness; and

 • amend or modify our governing documents.

The restrictive covenants in the Credit Agreement also require us to maintain specified financial ratios. While we have not previously breached and
are not in breach of any of these covenants, there can be no guarantee that we will not breach these covenants in the future. Our ability to comply
with these covenants and restrictions may be affected by events and factors beyond our control. Our failure to comply with any of these
covenants or restrictions could result in an event of default under our credit facilities. This would permit the lending banks under such facilities to
take certain actions, including terminating all outstanding commitments and declaring all amounts due under our credit agreement to be
immediately due and payable, including all outstanding borrowings, accrued and unpaid interest thereon, and prepayment premiums with respect to
such borrowings and any terminated commitments. In addition, the lenders would have the right to proceed against the collateral we granted to
them, which includes substantially all of our assets. The occurrence of any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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We may not be able to secure additional financing on favorable terms, or at all, to meet our future capital needs.

In the future, we may require additional capital to respond to business opportunities, challenges, acquisitions or unforeseen circumstances, and
may determine to engage in equity or debt financings or enter into credit facilities or refinance existing indebtedness for other reasons. We may not
be able to timely secure additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms, or at all. As discussed above, the Credit Agreement contains
restrictive covenants that limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness and engage in other capital-raising activities. Any debt financing obtained
by us in the future could involve covenants that further restrict our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may
make it more difficult for us to operate our business, obtain additional capital and pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions.
Furthermore, if we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt or other equity-linked securities, our existing
stockholders could suffer significant dilution. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we
require it, our ability to continue to grow or support our business and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited.

Any impairment in the value of our goodwill or other assets would adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We are required, at least annually, or as facts and circumstances warrant, to test goodwill and other assets to determine if impairment has
occurred. Impairment may result from any number of factors, including adverse changes in assumptions used for valuation purposes, such as
actual or projected net sales growth rates, profitability or discount rates, or other variables. If the testing indicates that impairment has occurred,
we are required to record a non-cash impairment charge for the difference between the carrying value of the goodwill or other assets and the
implied fair value of the goodwill or the fair value of other assets in the period the determination is made. We cannot always predict the amount and
timing of any impairment of assets. Should the value of goodwill or other assets become impaired, it would have an adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.

Risks Relating to Our Organizational Structure

ACON has significant influence over us, including over decisions that require the approval of stockholders, and its interests, along with
the interests of our other Continuing Equity Owners, in our business may conflict with the interests of our other stockholders.

Each share of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock entitles its holders to one vote per share on all matters presented to our
stockholders. As of the date of this report, ACON holds approximately 48.5% of the combined voting power of our common stock through its
ownership of 12,921,039 shares of our Class A common stock and 10,495,687 shares of our Class B common stock. Accordingly, ACON will have
significant influence over substantially all transactions and other matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders, such as a merger, consolidation,
dissolution or sale of all or substantially all of our assets, the issuance or redemption of certain additional equity interests, and the election of
directors. This influence may increase the likelihood that we will consummate transactions that are not in the best interests of holders of our
Class A common stock or, conversely, prevent the consummation of transactions that are in the best interests of holders of our Class A common
stock.

Additionally, the Continuing Equity Owners who, as of the date of this report, collectively hold approximately 75.7% of the combined voting power
of our common stock, may receive payments from us under the Tax Receivable Agreement in connection with our purchase of common units of
FAH, LLC directly from certain of the Continuing Equity Owners upon a redemption or exchange of their common units in FAH, LLC, including the
issuance of shares of our Class A common stock upon any such redemption or exchange. As a result, the interests of the Continuing Equity
Owners may conflict with the interests of holders of our Class A common stock. For example, the Continuing Equity Owners may have different
tax positions from us which could influence their decisions regarding whether and when to dispose of assets, whether and when to incur new or
refinance existing indebtedness, and whether and when we should terminate the Tax Receivable Agreement and accelerate our obligations
thereunder. In addition, the structuring of future transactions may take into consideration tax or other
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considerations of the Continuing Equity Owners even in situations where no similar considerations are relevant to us.

In addition, pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement between Funko, Inc., ACON, Fundamental and Brian Mariotti, our chief executive officer (the
“Stockholders Agreement”), ACON has the right to designate certain of our directors, which we refer to as the ACON Directors, which will be three
ACON Directors for as long as ACON directly or indirectly, beneficially owns, in the aggregate 35% or more of our Class A common stock, two
ACON Directors for so long as ACON, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns, in the aggregate, less than 35% but at least 25% or more of our
Class A common stock and one ACON Director for as long as ACON, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns, in the aggregate, less than 25% but
at least 15% or more of our Class A common stock (assuming in each such case that all outstanding common units in FAH, LLC are redeemed for
newly issued shares of our Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis). Each of ACON, Fundamental, and Brian Mariotti, our chief executive
officer, will also agree to vote, or cause to vote, all of their outstanding shares of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock at any
annual or special meeting of stockholders in which directors are elected, so as to cause the election of the ACON Directors and Mr. Mariotti for as
long as he is our chief executive officer. Additionally, pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement, we shall take all commercially reasonable action to
cause (1) the board of directors to be comprised of at least seven directors or such other number of directors as our board of directors may
determine; (2) the individuals designated in accordance with the terms of the Stockholders Agreement to be included in the slate of nominees to be
elected to the board of directors at the next annual or special meeting of our stockholders at which directors are to be elected and at each annual
meeting of our stockholders thereafter at which a director’s term expires; (3) the individuals designated in accordance with the terms of the
Stockholders Agreement to fill the applicable vacancies on the board of directors; and (4) an ACON Director to be the chairperson of the board of
directors (as defined in the amended and restated bylaws).

In addition, the Stockholders Agreement provides that for as long as ACON or certain related parties, as defined in the Stockholders Agreement
(the “ACON Related Parties”), beneficially own, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate, 30% or more of all issued and outstanding shares of our
Class A common stock (assuming that all outstanding common units in FAH, LLC are redeemed for newly issued shares of our Class A common
stock on a one-for-one basis), we will not take, and will cause our subsidiaries not to take, certain actions or enter into certain transactions
(whether by merger, consolidation, or otherwise) without the prior written approval of ACON and each of its affiliated funds that hold common units
of FAH, LLC or our Class A common stock, including:

 • entering into any transaction or series of related transactions in which any person or group (other than the ACON Related Parties and
any group that includes the ACON Related Parties, Fundamental (or certain of its affiliates or permitted transferees) or Mr. Mariotti)
acquires, directly or indirectly, in excess of 50% of the then outstanding shares of any class of our or our subsidiaries’ capital stock,
or following which any such person or group has the direct or indirect power to elect a majority of the members of our board of
directors or to replace us as the sole manager of FAH, LLC (or to add another person as co-manager of FAH, LLC);

 • the reorganization, recapitalization, voluntary bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution or winding up of us or any of our subsidiaries;

 • the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of our and our subsidiaries’ property and assets;

 • the resignation, replacement or removal of us as the sole manager of FAH, LLC, or the appointment of any additional person as a
manager of FAH, LLC;

 • any acquisition or disposition of our or any of our subsidiaries’ assets for aggregate consideration in excess of $10.0 million in a
single transaction or series of related transactions (other than transactions solely between or among us and our direct or indirect
wholly owned subsidiaries);

 • the creation of a new class or series of capital stock or other equity securities of us or any of our subsidiaries;

 • the issuance of additional shares of Class A common stock, Class B common stock, preferred stock or other equity securities of us
or any of our subsidiaries other than (1) under any stock option or other equity compensation plan approved by our board of directors
or the compensation committee, (2) pursuant to the exercise or conversion of any options, warrants or other securities existing as of
the
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 date of the Stockholders Agreement and (3) in connection with any redemption of common units of FAH, LLC pursuant to the FAH
LLC Agreement;

 • any amendment or modification of our or any of our subsidiaries’ organizational documents, other than the FAH LLC Agreement,
which shall be subject to amendment or modification solely in accordance with the terms set forth herein; and

 • any increase or decrease of the size of our board of directors.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq rules and, as a result, will qualify for, and intend to rely on,
exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements. You will not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of
companies that are subject to such corporate governance requirements.

Pursuant to the terms of the Stockholders Agreement, ACON, Fundamental and Brian Mariotti, our chief executive officer, in the aggregate, have
more than 50% of the voting power for the election of directors, and, as a result, we are considered a “controlled company” for the purposes of the
Nasdaq rules. As such, we qualify for, and rely on, exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements, including the requirements to
have a majority of “independent directors” as defined under the Nasdaq rules on our board of directors, an entirely independent nominating and
corporate governance committee with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities, and an entirely independent
compensation committee with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities.

The corporate governance requirements and specifically the independence standards are intended to ensure that directors who are considered
independent are free of any conflicting interest that could influence their actions as directors. As a result of our reliance on the foregoing “controlled
company” exemptions, you may not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporate
governance requirements of the Nasdaq rules.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the doctrine of “corporate opportunity” does not apply with respect
to any director or stockholder who is not employed by us or our subsidiaries.

The doctrine of corporate opportunity generally provides that a corporate fiduciary may not develop an opportunity using corporate resources,
acquire an interest adverse to that of the corporation or acquire property that is reasonably incident to the present or prospective business of the
corporation or in which the corporation has a present or expectancy interest, unless that opportunity is first presented to the corporation and the
corporation chooses not to pursue that opportunity. The doctrine of corporate opportunity is intended to preclude officers or directors or other
fiduciaries from personally benefiting from opportunities that belong to the corporation. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation
provides that the doctrine of “corporate opportunity” does not apply with respect to any director or stockholder who is not employed by us or our
subsidiaries. Any director or stockholder who is not employed by us or our subsidiaries therefore has no duty to communicate or present corporate
opportunities to us, and has the right to either hold any corporate opportunity for their (and their affiliates’) own account and benefit or to
recommend, assign or otherwise transfer such corporate opportunity to persons other than us, including to any director or stockholder who is not
employed by us or our subsidiaries.

As a result, certain of our stockholders, directors and their respective affiliates are not prohibited from operating or investing in competing
businesses. We therefore may find ourselves in competition with certain of our stockholders, directors or their respective affiliates, and we may
not have knowledge of, or be able to pursue, transactions that could potentially be beneficial to us. Accordingly, we may lose a corporate
opportunity or suffer competitive harm, which could negatively impact our business or prospects.

Our principal asset consists of our interest in FAH, LLC, and accordingly, we depend on distributions from FAH, LLC to pay taxes and
expenses, including payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. FAH, LLC’s ability to make such distributions may be subject to
various limitations and restrictions.

Upon consummation of the IPO, we became a holding company and have no material assets other than our ownership of 24,960,106 common
units of FAH, LLC as of December 31, 2018, representing
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approximately 50.2% of the economic interest in FAH, LLC. We have no independent means of generating revenue or cash flow, and our ability to
pay dividends in the future, if any, is dependent upon the financial results and cash flows of FAH, LLC and its subsidiaries and distributions we
receive from FAH, LLC. There can be no assurance that our subsidiaries will generate sufficient cash flow to dividend or distribute funds to us or
that applicable local law and contractual restrictions, including negative covenants in our debt instruments, will permit such dividends or
distributions.

FAH, LLC is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally is not subject to entity-level U.S. federal
income tax. Instead, taxable income is allocated to holders of its common units, including us. As a result, we incur income taxes on our allocable
share of net taxable income of FAH, LLC. Under the terms of the FAH LLC Agreement, FAH, LLC is obligated to make tax distributions to its
members, including us, except to the extent such distributions would render FAH, LLC insolvent or are otherwise prohibited by law or any
limitations or restrictions in our debt agreements. The amount of such tax distribution is calculated based on the highest combined federal, state
and local tax rate that may potentially apply to any one of FAH, LLC’s members, regardless of the actual final tax liability of any such member. As
a result of the foregoing, FAH, LLC may be obligated to make tax distributions in excess of some or all of its members’ actual tax liability, which
could reduce its cash available for its business operations. In addition to tax expenses, we also incur expenses related to our operations, our
interests in FAH, LLC and related party agreements, including payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement and expenses and costs
of being a public company, all of which could be significant. We intend, as its managing member, to cause FAH, LLC to make distributions in an
amount sufficient to allow us to pay our taxes and operating expenses, including any ordinary course payments due under the Tax Receivable
Agreement. However, FAH, LLC’s ability to make such distributions may be subject to various limitations and restrictions including, but not limited
to, restrictions on distributions that would either violate any contract or agreement to which FAH, LLC is then a party, including debt agreements,
or any applicable law, or that would have the effect of rendering FAH, LLC insolvent. If FAH, LLC does not have sufficient funds to pay tax
distributions or other liabilities to fund our operations, we may have to borrow funds, which could materially adversely affect our liquidity and
financial condition and subject us to various restrictions imposed by any such lenders. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under
the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid; provided, however, that
nonpayment for a specified period may constitute a material breach of a material obligation under the Tax Receivable Agreement and therefore
may accelerate payments due under the Tax Receivable Agreement. If FAH, LLC does not have sufficient funds to make distributions, our ability
to declare and pay cash dividends may also be restricted or impaired. See “Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock.”

In certain circumstances, FAH, LLC will be required to make distributions to us and the Continuing Equity Owners, and the distributions
that FAH, LLC will be required to make may be substantial.

As discussed above, under the terms of the FAH LLC Agreement, FAH, LLC is obligated to make tax distributions to us and the Continuing Equity
Owners based on the highest combined federal, state and local tax rates that may potentially apply to any one member of FAH, LLC.  As a result
of potential differences in the amount of net taxable income allocable to us and to the Continuing Equity Holders, as well as the use of an
assumed tax rate in calculating FAH, LLC’s distribution obligations, we may receive distributions significantly in excess of our tax liabilities and
obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement between FAH, LLC, the Continuing Equity Owners and us. Funds we receive
from FAH, LLC to satisfy its tax distribution obligations will not be available for reinvestment in our business.  To the extent we do not distribute
such cash balances as dividends on our Class A common stock and instead, for example, hold such cash balances or lend them to FAH, LLC, the
Continuing Equity Owners would benefit from any value attributable to such accumulated cash balances as a result of their ownership of Class A
common stock following an exchange of their common units for Class A common stock.

Our Tax Receivable Agreement with the Continuing Equity Owners requires us to make cash payments to them in respect of certain tax
benefits to which we may become entitled, the amounts that we may be required to pay could be significant, and we may not realize
such tax benefits.

In connection with the consummation of the IPO, we entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement with FAH, LLC and each of the Continuing Equity
Owners. Pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement, we will be required to make cash payments to the Continuing Equity Owners equal to 85% of
the tax benefits, if any, that we realize, or in some circumstances are deemed to realize as a result of (1) any future redemptions funded by us or
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exchanges (or deemed exchanges in certain circumstances) of common units for Class A common stock or cash, and (2) certain additional tax
benefits attributable to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. The amount of the cash payments that we may be required to make under
the Tax Receivable Agreement could be significant. Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will generally be based on the tax reporting
positions that we determine, which are subject to challenge by taxing authorities. Payments made under the Tax Receivable Agreement will not be
returned upon a successful challenge by a taxing authority to our reporting positions. Any payments made by us to the Continuing Equity Owners
under the Tax Receivable Agreement will generally reduce the amount of overall cash flow that might have otherwise been available to us. To the
extent that we are unable to make timely payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, the unpaid amounts will be deferred and
will accrue interest until paid by us. Nonpayment for a specified period may constitute a material breach of a material obligation under the Tax
Receivable Agreement and therefore may accelerate payments due under the Tax Receivable Agreement. Furthermore, our future obligation to
make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement could make us a less attractive target for an acquisition, particularly in the case of an
acquirer that cannot use some or all of the tax benefits that may be deemed realized under the Tax Receivable Agreement upon a change of
control. The payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement are also not conditioned upon the Continuing Equity Owners maintaining a continued
ownership interest in FAH, LLC.

The amounts that we may be required to pay to the Continuing Equity Owners under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be accelerated
in certain circumstances and may also significantly exceed the actual tax benefits that we ultimately realize.

The Tax Receivable Agreement provides that if certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combination, or other changes of control
were to occur, if we materially breach any of our material obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement or if, at any time, we elect an early
termination of the Tax Receivable Agreement, then the Tax Receivable Agreement will terminate and our obligations, or our successor’s
obligations, to make future payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement would accelerate and become immediately due and payable. In those
circumstances members of FAH, LLC would be deemed to exchange any remaining outstanding common units of FAH, LLC for Class A common
stock and would generally be entitled to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement resulting from such deemed exchange. The amount due
and payable in those circumstances is determined based on certain assumptions, including an assumption that we would have sufficient taxable
income to fully utilize all potential future tax benefits that are subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement. We may need to incur debt to finance
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement to the extent our cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under the Tax Receivable
Agreement.

As a result of the foregoing, we would be required to make an immediate cash payment equal to the present value of the anticipated future tax
benefits that are the subject of the Tax Receivable Agreement, which payment may be made significantly in advance of the actual realization, if
any, of such future tax benefits. We could also be required to make cash payments to the Continuing Equity Owners that are greater than the
specified percentage of the actual benefits we ultimately realize in respect of the tax benefits that are subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement.
Our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement could have a substantial negative impact on our liquidity and could have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combination, or other changes of control. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to finance our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement.
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We will not be reimbursed for any payments made to the Continuing Equity Owners under the Tax Receivable Agreement in the event
that any tax benefits are disallowed.

We will not be reimbursed for any cash payments previously made to the Continuing Equity Owners pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement if
any tax benefits initially claimed by us are subsequently challenged by a taxing authority and are ultimately disallowed. Instead, any excess cash
payments made by us to a Continuing Equity Owner will be netted against any future cash payments that we might otherwise be required to make
under the terms of the Tax Receivable Agreement. However, a challenge to any tax benefits initially claimed by us may not arise for a number of
years following the initial time of such payment or, even if challenged early, such excess cash payment may be greater than the amount of future
cash payments that we might otherwise be required to make under the terms of the Tax Receivable Agreement and, as a result, there might not be
future cash payments from which to net against. The applicable U.S. federal income tax rules are complex and factual in nature, and there can be
no assurance that the IRS or a court will not disagree with our tax reporting positions. As a result, it is possible that we could make cash
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement that are substantially greater than our actual cash tax savings.

If we were deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or the 1940 Act, as a result of
our ownership of FAH, LLC, applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated and could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Under Sections 3(a)(1)(A) and (C) of the 1940 Act, a company generally will be deemed to be an “investment company” for purposes of the 1940
Act if (1) it is, or holds itself out as being, engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in
securities or (2) it engages, or proposes to engage, in the business of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in securities and it owns or
proposes to acquire investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities
and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis. We do not believe that we are an “investment company,” as such term is defined in either of those
sections of the 1940 Act.

As the sole managing member of FAH, LLC, we control and operate FAH, LLC. On that basis, we believe that our interest in FAH, LLC is not an
“investment security” as that term is used in the 1940 Act. However, if we were to cease participation in the management of FAH, LLC, our interest
in FAH, LLC could be deemed an “investment security” for purposes of the 1940 Act.

We and FAH, LLC intend to conduct our operations so that we will not be deemed an investment company. However, if we were to be deemed an
investment company, restrictions imposed by the 1940 Act, including limitations on our capital structure and our ability to transact with affiliates,
could make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our organizational structure, including the Tax Receivable Agreement, confers certain benefits upon the Continuing Equity Owners that
will not benefit Class A common stockholders to the same extent as it will benefit the Continuing Equity Owners.

Our organizational structure, including the Tax Receivable Agreement, confers certain benefits upon the Continuing Equity Owners that will not
benefit the holders of our Class A common stock to the same extent as it will benefit such Continuing Equity Owners. We have entered into the
Tax Receivable Agreement with FAH, LLC and the Continuing Equity Owners and it provides for the payment by us to the Continuing Equity
Owners of 85% of the amount of tax benefits, if any, that we realize, or in some circumstances are deemed to realize, as a result of (1) any future
redemptions funded by us or exchanges (or deemed exchanges in certain circumstances) of common units for Class A common stock or cash and
(2) certain additional tax benefits attributable to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. This and other aspects of our organizational
structure may adversely impact the future trading market for our Class A common stock.
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Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

The Continuing Equity Owners own common units in FAH, LLC, and the Continuing Equity Owners will have the right to redeem their
common units in FAH, LLC pursuant to the terms of the FAH LLC Agreement for shares of Class A common stock or cash.

As of March 1, 2019, we had an aggregate of 172,655,295 shares of Class A common stock authorized but unissued, as well as
approximately 22,394,216 shares of Class A common stock issuable, at our election, upon redemption of FAH, LLC common units held by the
Continuing Equity Owners. FAH, LLC has entered into the FAH LLC Agreement, and subject to certain restrictions set forth in such agreement, the
Continuing Equity Owners are entitled to have their common units redeemed from time to time at each of their options (subject in certain
circumstances to time-based vesting requirements) for, at our election, newly-issued shares of our Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis
or a cash payment equal to a volume weighted average market price of one share of Class A common stock for each common unit redeemed, in
each case, in accordance with the terms of the FAH LLC Agreement; provided that, at our election, we may effect a direct exchange by us of such
Class A common stock or such cash, as applicable, for such common units. The Continuing Equity Owners may exercise such redemption right
for as long as their common units remain outstanding. We also entered into a Registration Rights Agreement pursuant to which the shares of
Class A common stock issued to certain of the Continuing Equity Owners (including each of our executive officers) upon such redemption and the
shares of Class A common stock issued to the Former Equity Owners in connection with the Transactions will be eligible for resale, subject to
certain limitations set forth in the Registration Rights Agreement.

We cannot predict the size of future issuances of our Class A common stock or the effect, if any, that future issuances and sales of shares of our
Class A common stock may have on the market price of our Class A common stock. Sales or distributions of substantial amounts of our Class A
common stock, including shares issued in connection with an acquisition, or the perception that such sales or distributions could occur, may
cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline.

You may be diluted by future issuances of additional Class A common stock or common units in connection with our incentive plans,
acquisitions or otherwise; future sales of such shares in the public market, or the expectations that such sales may occur, could lower
our stock price.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue shares of our Class A common stock and options, rights, warrants
and appreciation rights relating to our Class A common stock for the consideration and on the terms and conditions established by our board of
directors in its sole discretion, whether in connection with acquisitions or otherwise. In addition, we, FAH, LLC and the Continuing Equity Owners
are party to the FAH LLC Agreement under which the Continuing Equity Owners (or certain permitted transferees thereof) have the right (subject to
the terms of the FAH LLC Agreement) to have their common units redeemed from time to time at each of their options (subject in certain
circumstances to time-based vesting requirements) by FAH, LLC in exchange for, at our election, newly-issued shares of our Class A common
stock on a one-for-one basis or a cash payment equal to a volume-weighted average market price of one share of Class A common stock for each
common unit redeemed, in each case, in accordance with the terms of the FAH LLC Agreement; provided that, at our election, we may effect a
direct exchange by us of such Class A common stock or such cash, as applicable, for such common units. The Continuing Equity Owners may
exercise such redemption right for as long as their common units remain outstanding. The market price of shares of our Class A common stock
could decline as a result of these redemptions or exchanges or the perception that a redemption or exchange could occur. These redemptions or
exchanges, or the possibility that these redemptions or exchanges may occur, also might make it more difficult for holders of our Class A common
stock to sell such stock in the future at a time and at a price that they deem appropriate.
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We have reserved for issuance 5,518,518 shares of Class A common stock under our 2017 Plan, including, as of December 31, 2018, 1,787,878
shares of Class A common stock underlying stock options we granted to certain of our directors, executive officers and other employees and
1,673,885 shares of Class A common stock underlying restricted stock units we granted to certain of our executive officers and other employees.
Any shares of Class A common stock that we issue, including under our 2017 Plan or other equity incentive plans that we may adopt in the future,
would dilute the percentage ownership held by the holders of our Class A common stock.

In connection with the completion of the IPO, we entered into a Registration Rights Agreement with certain of the Original Equity Owners (including
each of our executive officers). Any sales in connection with the Registration Rights Agreement, or the prospect of any such sales, could
materially impact the market price of our Class A common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through future sales of equity
securities.

In the future, we may also issue additional securities if we need to raise capital, including, but not limited to, in connection with acquisitions, which
could constitute a material portion of our then-outstanding shares of Class A common stock.

Our Class A common stock price may be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance and you may not be able to
resell your shares at or above the price you paid for them.

Volatility in the market price of our Class A common stock may prevent you from being able to sell your shares at or above the price you paid for
them. Many factors, which are outside our control, may cause the market price of our Class A common stock to fluctuate significantly, including
those described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section, as well as the following:

 • our operating and financial performance and prospects;

 • our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry compared to market expectations;

 • conditions that impact demand for our products;

 • future announcements concerning our business, our customers’ businesses or our competitors’ businesses;

 • the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;

 • the market’s reaction to our reduced disclosure and other requirements as a result of being an “emerging growth company” under the
Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (“JOBS Act”);

 • the size of our public float;

 • coverage by or changes in financial estimates by securities analysts or failure to meet their expectations;

 • market and industry perception of our success, or lack thereof, in pursuing our growth strategy;

 • strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;

 • changes in laws or regulations which adversely affect our industry, our licensors or us;

 • changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;

 • changes in senior management or key personnel;

 • issuances, exchanges or sales, or expected issuances, exchanges or sales of our capital stock;

 • changes in our dividend policy;

 • adverse resolution of new or pending litigation against us; and

 • changes in general market, economic and political conditions in the United States and global economies or financial markets,
including those resulting from natural disasters, terrorist attacks, acts of war and responses to such events.
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As a result, volatility in the market price of our Class A common stock may prevent investors from being able to sell their Class A common stock
at or above the price they paid for them or at all. These broad market and industry factors may materially reduce the market price of our Class A
common stock, regardless of our operating performance. In addition, price volatility may be greater if the public float and trading volume of our
Class A common stock is low. As a result, you may suffer a loss on your investment.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our Class A common stock for the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business and to repay
indebtedness. As a result, we do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends on our Class A common stock in the foreseeable future.
Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on, among other
things, our business prospects, results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements and availability, industry trends and other factors that
our board of directors may deem relevant. Any such decision will also be subject to compliance with contractual restrictions and covenants in the
agreements governing our current and future indebtedness. Our New Credit Facilities contain certain covenants that restrict the ability of FAH, LLC
and its subsidiaries to pay dividends or make distributions. Because we are a holding company, our ability to pay dividends on our Class A
common stock depends on our receipt of cash distributions from FAH, LLC and, through FAH, LLC, cash distributions and dividends from our other
direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries. In addition, we may incur additional indebtedness, the terms of which may further restrict or prevent
us from paying dividends on our Class A common stock. As a result, you may have to sell some or all of your Class A common stock after price
appreciation in order to generate cash flow from your investment, which you may not be able to do. Our inability or decision not to pay dividends,
particularly when others in our industry have elected to do so, could also adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.

Delaware law and certain provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws may
prevent efforts by our stockholders to change the direction or management of our company.

We are a Delaware corporation, and the anti-takeover provisions of Delaware law impose various impediments to the ability of a third party to
acquire control of us, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our amended and restated certificate
of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our company more difficult without the
approval of our board of directors, including, but not limited to, the following:

 • our board of directors is classified into three classes, each of which serves for a staggered three-year term;

 • only the chairperson of our board of directors or a majority of our board of directors may call special meetings of our stockholders,
except that at such time as ACON, certain of its affiliates and their permitted transferees, which we collectively refer to as the
ACON Related Parties, directly or indirectly, beneficially own in the aggregate, 35% or more of all shares of Class A common stock
(including for this purpose all shares of Class A common stock issuable upon redemption of common units, assuming all such
common units are redeemed for Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis) issued and outstanding, the holders of a majority in
voting power of the outstanding shares of our capital stock may also call special meetings of our stockholders;

 • we have authorized undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be issued
without stockholder approval;

 • any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders at an annual meeting or special meeting of stockholders may be
taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a written consent is signed by the holders of our outstanding
shares of common stock representing not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize such action
at a meeting at which all outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote thereon were present and voted, provided that at such
time as the ACON Related Parties, directly or indirectly, beneficially own in the aggregate, less than 35% of all shares of Class A
common stock (including for this purpose all shares of Class A common stock issuable upon redemption of common units,
assuming all such common units are redeemed for Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis) issued and outstanding, any
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 action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders at an annual meeting or special meeting of stockholders may not be
taken by written consent in lieu of a meeting;

 • our amended and restated certificate of incorporation may be amended or repealed by the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes
which all our stockholders would be eligible to cast in an election of directors and our amended and restated bylaws may be
amended or repealed by a majority vote of our board of directors or by the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes which all our
stockholders would be eligible to cast in an election of directors, provided that at such time as the ACON Related Parties, directly or
indirectly, beneficially own in the aggregate, less than 35% of all shares of Class A common stock (including for this purpose all
shares of Class A common stock issuable upon redemption of common units, assuming all such common units are redeemed for
Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis) issued and outstanding, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and
our amended and restated bylaws may be amended or repealed by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 662/3% of the votes
which all our stockholders would be entitled to cast in any annual election of directors and our amended and restated bylaws may
also be amended or repealed by a majority vote of our board of directors;

 • we require advance notice and duration of ownership requirements for stockholder proposals; and

 • we have opted out of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, or the DGCL, however, our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation will contain provisions that are similar to Section 203 of the DGCL (except with
respect to ACON and Fundamental and any of their respective affiliates and any of their respective direct or indirect transferees of
Class B common stock).

These provisions could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our company. These provisions could also
discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing and cause us to take other
corporate actions you desire, including actions that you may deem advantageous, or negatively affect the trading price of our Class A common
stock. In addition, because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions could in
turn affect any attempt by our stockholders to replace current members of our management team.

Please see “Risks Relating to Our Organizational Structure—ACON has significant influence over us, including over decisions that require the
approval of stockholders, and its interests, along with the interests of our other Continuing Equity Owners, in our business may conflict with the
interests of our other stockholders.”

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides, subject to certain exceptions, that the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for certain stockholder litigation matters, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to
obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees or stockholders.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides, subject to limited exceptions, that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware
will, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; (2) any
action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders; (3) any
action asserting a claim against us, any director or our officers and employees arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws, or as to which the DGCL confers exclusive jurisdiction on the Court of
Chancery; or (4) any action asserting a claim against us, any director or our officers or employees that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have
consented to the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation described above. This choice of forum provision may limit a
stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or any of our directors, officers, other employees
or stockholders which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision that
will be contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional
costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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We may issue shares of preferred stock in the future, which could make it difficult for another company to acquire us or could otherwise
adversely affect holders of our Class A common stock, which could depress the price of our Class A common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue one or more series of preferred stock. Our board of directors has the
authority to determine the preferences, limitations and relative rights of the shares of preferred stock and to fix the number of shares constituting
any series and the designation of such series, without any further vote or action by our stockholders. Our preferred stock could be issued with
voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights superior to the rights of our Class A common stock. The potential issuance of preferred stock may
delay or prevent a change in control of us, discouraging bids for our Class A common stock at a premium to the market price, and materially and
adversely affect the market price and the voting and other rights of the holders of our Class A common stock.

Taking advantage of the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to “emerging growth companies” may make our Class A common
stock less attractive to investors.

The JOBS Act provides that, for so long as a company qualifies as an “emerging growth company,” it will, among other things:

 • be exempt from the provisions of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
requiring that its independent registered public accounting firm provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of its internal
control over financial reporting;

 • be exempt from the “say on pay” and “say on golden parachute” advisory vote requirements of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform
and Customer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act;

 • be exempt from certain disclosure requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act relating to compensation of its executive officers and be
permitted to omit the detailed compensation discussion and analysis from the proxy statements and reports it files under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”); and

 • be exempt from any rules that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board requiring mandatory audit firm
rotations or a supplement to the auditor’s report on our financial statements.

We currently have chosen to take advantage of each of the exemptions described above. We have irrevocably elected not to take advantage of
the extension of time to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards available under Section 107(b) of the JOBS Act. We could be
an emerging growth company until December 31, 2022. We cannot predict if investors will find our Class A common stock less attractive if we
elect to rely on these exemptions, or if taking advantage of these exemptions would result in less active trading or more volatility in the price of our
Class A common stock.

The obligations associated with being a public company require significant resources and management attention, which may divert from
our business operations.

As a result of our IPO, we became subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Exchange Act
requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires,
among other things, that we establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting. As a result, we now incur significant legal,
accounting and other expenses that we did not previously incur. Additionally, most of our management team, including our chief executive officer
and chief financial officer, have not previously managed a publicly traded company, and as a result, have little experience in complying with the
increasingly complex and changing legal and regulatory landscape in which public companies operate. Furthermore, while certain members of our
board of directors have been officers and other employees of public companies, only one of our directors has previously served on the board of
directors of a public company. Our entire management team and many of our other employees now need to devote substantial time to compliance
and may not be able to effectively or efficiently manage us our transition into a public company.

In addition, establishing and maintaining the corporate infrastructure demanded of a public company may also divert management’s attention from
implementing our business strategy, which could prevent us from improving
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our business, results of operations and financial condition. We have made, and will continue to make, changes to our internal control over financial
reporting, including information technology controls, and procedures for financial reporting and accounting systems to meet our reporting
obligations as a public company. However, the measures we take may not be sufficient to satisfy our obligations as a public company. If we do
not continue to develop and implement the right processes and tools to manage our changing enterprise and maintain our culture, our ability to
compete successfully and achieve our business objectives could be impaired, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and
results of operations. In addition, we cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur to comply with these requirements.
We anticipate that these costs will materially increase our general and administrative expenses.

Furthermore, as a public company, we have incurred and will continue to incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses that have not been
reflected in historical financial statements. In addition, rules implemented by the SEC have imposed various requirements on public companies,
including establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices. Our
management and other personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. These rules and regulations
result in our incurring legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, we expect
these rules and regulations to make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be
required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. As a result, it may
be more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified people to serve on our board of directors and our board committees or as executive officers.

As a public reporting company, we are subject to rules and regulations established from time to time by the SEC regarding our internal
control over financial reporting. If we fail to establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure
controls and procedures, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or report them in a timely manner.

We are a public reporting company subject to the rules and regulations established from time to time by the SEC and The Nasdaq Stock Market.
These rules and regulations require, among other things, that we establish and periodically evaluate procedures with respect to our internal control
over financial reporting. Reporting obligations as a public company are likely to place a considerable strain on our financial and management
systems, processes and controls, as well as on our personnel.

In addition, as a public company, we are required to document and test our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act so that our management can certify as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. As an emerging
growth company, our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 until the later of the year following our first annual report required to be filed with the SEC and the date
we are no longer an emerging growth company.
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If our senior management is unable to conclude that we have effective internal control over financial reporting, or to certify the effectiveness of
such controls, or if our independent registered public accounting firm cannot render an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment and the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting at such time as it is required to do so, or if material weaknesses in our internal control
over financial reporting are identified, we could be subject to regulatory scrutiny, a loss of public and investor confidence, and to litigation from
investors and stockholders, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and our stock price. In addition, if we do not maintain
adequate financial and management personnel, processes and controls, we may not be able to manage our business effectively or accurately
report our financial performance on a timely basis, which could cause a decline in our Class A common stock price and adversely affect our
results of operations and financial condition. Failure to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could potentially subject us to sanctions or
investigations by the SEC, the Nasdaq Stock Market or other regulatory authorities, which would require additional financial and management
resources.

We may fail to meet analyst expectations, or analysts may issue unfavorable commentary about us or our industry or downgrade our
Class A common stock, which could cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline.

Our Class A common stock is traded publicly, and various securities analysts follow our company and issue reports on us. These reports include
information about our historical financial results as well as the analysts’ estimates of our future performance. The analysts’ estimates are based
upon their own independent opinions and may be different from our own estimates or expectations. If our operating results are below the estimates
or expectations of public market analysts and investors, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline. In addition, one or more
analysts could cease to cover our company, which could cause us to lose visibility in the market, and one or more analysts could downgrade our
Class A common stock or issue other negative commentary about our company or our industry. As a result of one or more of these factors, the
trading price of our Class A common stock could decline.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2018, our leased properties primarily consist of office space, warehouses and distribution facilities. The table below sets forth
certain information regarding these properties, all of which are leased.
 

Property  Location  

Approximate
Square

Footage   Lease Expiration Date
Corporate Headquarters  Everett, Washington   99,000  January 31, 2027
Offices, Main Warehouse and
   Distribution Facility  Everett, Washington   201,000  January 31, 2026
Warehouse and Distribution
   Facility  Everett, Washington   119,000  July 31, 2021
Warehouse and Distribution
   Facility  Everett, Washington   83,000  July 31, 2021
Administrative Offices, Licensing
   and Apparel Sales  Burbank, California   15,000  December 31, 2024
Offices, Apparel Design Team  Coronado, California   5,000  April 1, 2024
Warehouse  Chatsworth, California   46,000  June 28, 2020
Sales Office  Bentonville, Arkansas   1,000  November 30, 2019
Sales Office  Minneapolis, Minnesota   4,000  September 30, 2023
Warehouse and Administrative
   Offices  Maldon, Essex, United Kingdom   38,000  July 12, 2021
Warehouse  Maldon, Essex, United Kingdom   52,000  July 12, 2021
Sales and Administrative Offices  London, United Kingdom   8,000  June 5, 2028
Offices, Animation Studio  Bath, United Kingdom   9,000  March 12, 2028
Administrative Office  Kowloon, Hong Kong   1,500  November 12, 2019
 
For leases that are scheduled to expire during the next 12 months, we may negotiate new lease agreements, renew existing lease agreements or
use alternate facilities. We believe that our facilities are adequate for our needs and believe that we should be able to renew any of the above
leases or secure similar property without an adverse impact on our operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are, and may in the future become, subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in or outside the ordinary course of business.
For example, on November 16, 2017, a purported stockholder of the Company filed a putative class action lawsuit in the Superior Court of
Washington in and for King County against us, certain of our officers and directors, and the underwriters of our IPO, entitled Robert Lowinger v.
Funko, Inc., et. al. In January and March 2018, five additional putative class action lawsuits were filed in Washington state court, four in the
Superior Court of Washington in and for King County and one in the Superior Court of Washington in and for Snohomish County. Two of the King
County lawsuits, Surratt v. Funko, Inc. et al. (filed on January 16, 2018) and Baskin v. Funko, Inc. et al. (filed on January 30, 2018), were filed
against us and certain of our officers and directors. The other two King County lawsuits, The Ronald and Maxine Linde Foundation v. Funko, Inc.
et al. (filed on January 18, 2018) and Lovewell v. Funko, Inc. et al. (filed on March 27, 2018), were filed against us, certain of our officers and
directors, ACON, Fundamental, and certain other defendants. The Snohomish County lawsuit, Berkelhammer v. Funko, Inc. et al. (filed on March
13, 2018), was filed against us, certain of our officers and directors, and ACON.

On May 8, 2018, the Berkelhammer action was voluntarily dismissed, and on May 15, 2018, a substantially similar action was filed by the same
plaintiff in the Superior Court of Washington in and for King County. On April 2, 2018, a putative class action lawsuit, Jacobs v. Funko, Inc. et al.,
was filed in the United States District Court for
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the Western District of Washington against us, certain of our officers and directors, and certain other defendants. On May 21, 2018, the Jacobs
action was voluntarily dismissed, and on June 12, 2018, a substantially similar action was filed by the same plaintiff in the Superior Court of
Washington in and for King County.

On July 2, 2018, all of the above-referenced suits were ordered consolidated for all purposes into one action under the title In re Funko, Inc.
Securities Litigation in the Superior Court of Washington in and for King County. On August 1, 2018, plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint
against us, certain of our officers and directors, ACON, Fundamental, and certain other defendants. On October 1, 2018, we moved to dismiss that
action. Plaintiffs filed their opposition to our motion to dismiss on October 31, 2018, and we filed our reply to plaintiffs’ opposition on November 30,
2018.

Additionally, on June 4, 2018, a putative class action lawsuit, Kanugonda v. Funko, Inc. et al., was filed in the United States District Court for the
Western District of Washington against us, certain of our officers and directors, and certain other defendants. On January 4, 2019, a lead plaintiff
was appointed in that case.

The complaints in both state and federal court allege that we violated Sections 11, 12, and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, by
making allegedly materially misleading statements, and by omitting material facts necessary to make the statements made therein not misleading.
The lawsuits seek, among other things, compensatory statutory damages and rescissory damages in account of the consideration paid for our
Class A common stock by plaintiff and members of the putative class, as well as attorneys’ fees and costs. The Company believes it has
meritorious defenses to the claims of the plaintiff and members of the class and any liability for the alleged claims is not currently probable or
reasonably estimable.

We are party to additional legal proceedings incidental to our business. While the outcome of these additional matters could differ from
management’s expectations, we do not believe that the resolution of such matters is reasonably likely to have a material effect on our results of
operations or financial condition.

 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
SECURITIES

Market Information

On November 2, 2017, our Class A common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “FNKO.” Prior to that time, there
was no public market for our stock.

Holders of Record

As of March 1, 2019, there were 21 stockholders of record of our Class A common stock. As of March 1, 2019, there were 23 stockholders of
record of our Class B common stock.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

There were no share repurchases during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018.

Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business and to repay
indebtedness, and therefore we do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends on our Class A common stock in the foreseeable future.
Holders of our Class B common stock are not entitled to participate in any dividends declared by our board of directors. Additionally, our ability to
pay any cash dividends on our Class A common stock is limited by restrictions on the ability of FAH, LLC and our other subsidiaries to pay
dividends or make distributions under the terms of our New Credit Facilities. Furthermore, because we are a holding company, our ability to pay
cash dividends on our Class A common stock depends on our receipt of cash distributions from FAH, LLC and, through FAH, LLC, cash
distributions and dividends from our other direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries. Any future determination as to the declaration and
payment of dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to compliance with contractual restrictions and covenants in
the agreements governing our current and future indebtedness. Any such determination will also depend upon our business prospects, results of
operations, financial condition, cash requirements and availability and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.

FAH, LLC paid cash tax distributions to its members during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 of $26.9 million (of which $6.5 million
was paid to Funko, Inc. and $20.4 million was paid to continuing equity owners) and $23.7 million, respectively. Additionally, FAH, LLC paid a
special distribution to its members during the year ended December 31, 2017 of $49.2 million (of which $49.0 million consisted of cash and $0.2
million consisted of a reduction in interest and principal under loans to certain members of management).
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph and table illustrate the total return from November 2, 2017 through December 31, 2018, for (i) our Class A common stock, (ii)
the Russell 2000 Index, and (iii) the Russell 2000 Consumer Discretionary Index. The graph and the table assume that $100 was invested on
November 2, 2017 in each of our Class A common stock, the Russell 2000 Index, and the Russell 2000 Consumer Discretionary Index, and that
any dividends were reinvested. The comparisons reflected in the graph and table are not intended to forecast the future performance of our stock
and may not be indicative of our future performance.
 

 
 11/2/2017  12/29/2017  12/31/2018  

          
Funko, Inc.  100.00  94.06  186.00 
Russell 2000  100.00  102.89  91.56 
Russell 2000 Consumer Discretionary  100.00  108.40  141.97
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables present the selected historical consolidated financial and other data for Funko, Inc. The selected consolidated statements of
operations and cash flows data for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and the selected consolidated balance sheets data as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017 are derived from the audited consolidated financial statements contained in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Our selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2016 and our selected consolidated financial data set forth below
for the period from October 31, 2015 through December 31, 2015 (Successor 2015 Period) and the period from January 1, 2015 through October
30, 2015 (Predecessor 2015 Period) are derived from our consolidated financial statements not included elsewhere herein.

Subsequent to the IPO and related reorganization transactions, Funko, Inc. has been a holding company whose principal asset is its equity
interest in FAH, LLC. As the sole managing member of FAH, LLC, Funko, Inc. operates and controls all of the business and affairs of FAH, LLC,
and through FAH, LLC, conducts its business. As a result, the Company consolidates FAH, LLC’s financial results and reports a non-controlling
interest related to the common units not owned by Funko, Inc. Such consolidation has been reflected for all periods presented. Our selected
historical consolidated financial and other data does not reflect what our financial position and results of operations would have been had we been
a separate, stand-alone public company during those periods.

58
 



Our selected historical consolidated financial and other data may not be indicative of our future results of operations or future cash flows. You
should read the information set forth below in conjunction with our historical consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements,
Item 1A. – “Risk Factors” and Item 7. – “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
              Successor    Predecessor  
              Period from    Period from  
              October 31,    January 1,  
              2015 through    2015 through  
  Year Ended December 31,   December 31,    October 30,  
  2018   2017   2016   2015    2015  
  (In thousands, except per share amounts)  
Consolidated Statements of Operations
   Data:                      
Net sales  $ 686,073  $ 516,084  $ 426,717  $ 56,565   $ 217,491 
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and
   amortization shown separately below)   428,062   317,379   280,396   44,485    131,621 
Selling, general, and administrative expenses   155,321   120,944   77,525   13,894    37,145 
Acquisition transaction costs   28   3,641   1,140   7,559    13,301 
Depreciation and amortization   39,116   31,975   23,509   3,370    5,723 

Total operating expenses   622,527   473,939   382,570   69,308    187,790 
Income (loss) from operations   63,546   42,145   44,147   (12,743)    29,701 

Interest expense, net   21,739   30,636   17,267   2,818    2,202 
Loss on extinguishment of debt   4,547   5,103   —   —    — 
Other expense (income), net   4,082   (734)   —   —    — 

Income (loss) before income taxes   33,178   7,140   26,880   (15,561)    27,499 
Income tax expense   4,867   1,540   —   —    — 

Net income (loss)   28,311   5,600   26,880   (15,561)    27,499 
Less: net income attributable to non-controlling
   interests   18,955   1,875   —   —    — 
Net income (loss) attributable to Funko, Inc.  $ 9,356  $ 3,725  $ 26,880  $ (15,561)   $ 27,499 
Earnings per share of Class A common
   stock (1):                      
Basic  $ 0.39  $ 0.04              
Diluted  $ 0.37  $ 0.04              
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
   Data:                      
Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 49,991  $ 23,837  $ 49,468  $ 14,110   $ 8,538 
Net cash used in investing activities  $ (27,501)  $ (65,215)  $ (22,105)  $ (244,421)   $ (10,043)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing
   activities  $ (15,046)  $ 43,012  $ (45,613)  $ 244,456   $ 11,390 
Selected Other Data:                      
EBITDA (2)  $ 94,033  $ 69,751  $ 67,656  $ (9,373)   $ 35,424 
Adjusted EBITDA (2)  $ 116,224  $ 89,919  $ 96,960  $ 13,170   $ 61,996

 
  December 31,      
  2018   2017   2016   2015  

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:  (In thousands)          
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 13,486  $ 7,728  $ 6,161  $ 24,411 
Total assets  $ 663,019  $ 630,313  $ 522,237  $ 505,330 
Total debt (3)  $ 247,297  $ 233,899  $ 217,753  $ 169,846 
Total members' / stockholders' equity  $ 296,366  $ 281,155  $ 217,377  $ 243,556
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(1) Basic and diluted earnings per share of Class A common stock is applicable only for periods after the Company’s IPO. See Note 18,
Earnings per Share of the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

(2) EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are supplemental measures of our performance that are not required by, or presented in accordance with,
U.S. GAAP. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not measurements of our financial performance under U.S. GAAP and should not be
considered as an alternative to net income (loss) or any other performance measure derived in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See “Non-GAAP
Financial Measures” in Part II, Item 7 of this Form 10-K for additional information and a reconciliation to the most directly comparable U.S.
GAAP financial measure.

(3) Total debt consists of borrowing under our Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities and New Credit Facilities, as applicable, net of
unamortized discount costs as of December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016 and 2015 of $4.8 million, $5.3 million, $6.4 million and $5.2 million,
respectively.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our audited consolidated
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and analysis contains forward-
looking statements based upon current plans, expectations and beliefs involving risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially
from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various important factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors”
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a leading pop culture consumer products company. Our business is built on the principle that almost everyone is a fan of something and
the evolution of pop culture is leading to increasing opportunities for fan loyalty. We create whimsical, fun and unique products that enable fans to
express their affinity for their favorite “something”—whether it is a movie, TV show, video game, musician or sports team. We infuse our distinct
designs and aesthetic sensibility into one of the industry’s largest portfolios of licensed content over a wide variety of product categories, including
figures, plush, accessories, apparel and homewares.

Summary

On November 6, 2017, we completed our IPO of 10,416,666 shares of Class A common stock at an initial public offering price of $12.00 per share
and received approximately $117.3 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions. We used the net proceeds to
purchase 10,416,666 newly issued common units directly from FAH, LLC at a price per unit equal to the price per share of Class A common stock
in the IPO less underwriting discounts and commissions. As of December 31, 2018, we held 24,960,106 common units, representing an
approximately 50.2% interest in FAH, LLC.

Key Performance Indicators

We consider the following metrics to be key performance indicators to evaluate our business, develop financial forecasts, and make strategic
decisions.
 

             
             
             
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2018   2017   2016  
  (amounts in thousands)  

Net sales  $ 686,073  $ 516,084  $ 426,717 
Net income  $ 28,311  $ 5,600  $ 26,880 
EBITDA (1)  $ 94,033  $ 69,751  $ 67,656 
Adjusted EBITDA (1)  $ 116,224  $ 89,919  $ 96,960
 
(1) Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) and Adjusted EBITDA are financial measures not calculated in

accordance with U.S. GAAP, or non-GAAP financial measures. For a reconciliation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss),
the most closely comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure, see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” in this item.
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Factors Affecting our Business

Growth in the Market for Pop Culture Consumer Products

Our operating results and prospects will be impacted by developments in the market for pop culture consumer products. Our business has
benefitted from pop culture trends including (1) technological innovation that has facilitated content consumption and engagement, (2) creation of
more quality content, (3) greater cultural prevalence and acceptance of pop culture fandom and (4) increased engagement by fans with pop culture
content beyond mere consumption driven by social media and demonstrated by fan-centric experiences, such as Comic-Con events around the
world. These trends have contributed to significant recent growth in the demand for pop culture products like ours in recent years; however,
consumer demand for pop culture products and pop culture trends can and does shift rapidly and without warning. To the extent we are unable to
offer products that appeal to consumers, our operating results will be adversely affected. This is particularly true given the concentration of our
sales of products under certain of our brands, particularly our Pop! brand, which represented approximately 76%, 70% and 64% of our sales for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and which is sold across multiple product categories.

Relationships with Content Providers

We generate substantially all of our net sales from products based on intellectual property we license from others. We have strong relationships
with many established content providers and seek to establish licensing relationships with newer content providers. Our content provider
relationships are highly diversified, allowing us to license a wide array of properties and thereby reduce our exposure to any individual property or
license.

We believe there is a trend of content providers consolidating their relationships to do more business with fewer licensees. We believe our ability to
help maximize the value and extend the relevance of our content providers’ properties has allowed us to benefit from this trend. Although we have
a successful track record of renewing and extending the scope of licenses, our license agreements typically have short terms (between two and
three years), are not automatically renewable, and, in some cases, give the licensor the right to terminate the license agreement at will. In addition,
the efforts of our senior management team have been integral to our relationships with our licensors. Inability to license newer pop culture
properties, the termination or lack of renewal of one or more of our license agreements, or the renewal of a license agreement on less favorable
terms, could adversely affect our business.

Retail Industry Dynamics; Relationships with Retail Customers

Historically, substantially all of our sales have been derived from our retail customers and distributors, upon which we rely to reach the consumers
who are the ultimate purchasers of our products. Our top ten customers represented approximately 46%, 45% and 63% of our sales for the years
ended December 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. We depend on retailers to provide adequate and attractive space for our products and point of
purchase displays in their stores. In recent years, traditional retailers have been affected by a shift in consumer preferences towards other
channels, particularly e-commerce. We believe that this shift may have benefitted our business in recent periods as brick and mortar retailers
dedicated additional shelf space to our products and pop culture consumer products generally to drive additional traffic to their stores and improve
sales in previously less productive shelf space. In addition, we have seen an increase in sales for our product on retailers’ ecommerce platforms.

Our customers do not make long-term commitments to us regarding purchase volumes and can therefore easily reduce their purchases of our
products. Any reduction in purchases of our products by our retail customers and distributors, or the loss of any key retailer or distributor for any
reason could adversely affect our business. In addition, our future growth depends upon our ability to successfully execute our business strategy.
See Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”
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Content Mix

The timing and mix of products we sell in any given quarter or year will depend on various factors, including the timing and popularity of new
releases by third-party content providers and our ability to license properties based on these releases. We have diversified our product offerings
across property categories. We have visibility into the new release schedule of many our content providers and our expansive license portfolio
allows us to dynamically manage new product creation. This insight allows us to adjust the mix of products based on classic evergreen properties
and new releases, depending on the media release cycle. In addition, over time, we have continued to increase our number of active properties. An
active property is a property from which we generate sales of products during a given period. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016, we had sales of our products across 672, 500 and 396 properties, respectively.

Our results of operations may also fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter or year to year depending on the timing and popularity of new
product releases and related content releases. Sales of a certain product or group of products tied to a particular property can dramatically
increase our net sales in any given quarter or year.  While we expect to see growth in the number of properties and products over time, we expect
that the number of active properties and the sales per active property will fluctuate from quarter to quarter or year over year based on what is
relevant in pop culture at that time and the types of properties we are producing against. In addition, despite our efforts to diversify the properties
on which we base our products, if the performance of one or more of these properties fails to meet expectations or are delayed in their release, our
operating results could be adversely affected.

Taxation and Expenses

After consummation of our IPO on November 6, 2017, we became subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes with respect to our
allocable share of any taxable income of FAH, LLC, and we are taxed at the prevailing corporate tax rates. In addition to tax expenses, we also will
incur expenses related to our operations, as well as payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which we expect to be significant. We intend
to cause FAH, LLC to make distributions in an amount sufficient to allow us to pay our tax obligations and operating expenses, including
distributions to fund any ordinary course payments due under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

In addition, as a public company, we have incurred, and will continue to incur, additional annual expenses related to operating as a public
company, including, among other things, additional directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees, reporting requirements of the SEC,
transfer agent fees, hiring additional accounting, legal and administrative personnel, increased auditing and legal fees and similar expenses. We
also incurred non-recurring costs as part of our transition to a publicly traded company, consisting of professional fees and other expenses.

Components of our Results of Operations

Net Sales

We sell a broad array of licensed pop culture consumer products across a variety of categories, including figures, plush, accessories, apparel and
homewares, primarily to retail customers and distributors. We also sell our products directly to consumers through our e-commerce operations and,
to a lesser extent, at specialty licensing and comic book conventions and exhibitions.

Revenue from the sale of our products is recognized when control of the goods is transferred to the customer, which is upon shipment or upon
receipt of finished goods by the customer, depending on the contract terms. The majority of revenue is recognized upon shipment of products to
the customer. We routinely enter into arrangements with our customers to provide sales incentives, support customer promotions, and provide
allowances for returns and defective merchandise. The estimated costs of these programs reduce gross sales in the period the related sale is
recognized. Sales terms typically do not allow for a right of return except in relation to a manufacturing defect. Shipping costs billed to our
customers are included in net sales, while shipping and handling costs, which include inbound freight costs and the cost to ship products to our
customers, are included in cost of sales.
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Cost of Sales

Cost of sales consists primarily of product costs, royalty expenses paid to our licensors and the cost to ship our products, including both inbound
freight and outbound products to our customers. Our cost of sales excludes depreciation and amortization.

Our products are produced by third-party manufacturers primarily in China, Vietnam and Mexico. The use of third-party manufacturers enables us
to avoid incurring fixed product costs, while maximizing flexibility, capacity and capability. As part of a continuing effort to reduce manufacturing
costs and ensure speed to market, we have historically kept our production concentrated with a small number of manufacturers and factories even
as we have grown and diversified. In recent years, we have worked to improve the efficiency of our supply chain to improve our gross margins.

Our product costs and gross margins will be impacted from period to period based on the product mix in any given period. Our plush products tend
to have a higher product cost and lower gross margins than our figures.

Our royalty costs and gross margins will also be impacted from period to period based on our mix of licensed products sold, as well as a variety of
other factors including reserves for minimum guarantees and ongoing and future royalty audits.

Our shipping costs, both inbound and outbound, will fluctuate from period to period based on customer mix due to varying shipping terms and other
factors.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses are primarily driven by wages, commissions and benefits, warehouse, fulfillment (internal and
external) and facilities costs, infrastructure and technology costs, advertising and marketing expenses of our products, including the costs to
participate at specialty licensing and comic book conventions and exhibitions, as well as costs to develop promotional video and other online
content created for advertising purposes. Credit card fees, insurance, legal expenses, other professional expenses and other miscellaneous
operating costs are also included in selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling costs generally correlate to revenue timing and therefore
experience similar moderate seasonal trends. We expect general and administrative costs to increase as our business evolves.

We have invested considerably in general and administrative costs to support the growth and anticipated growth of our business and anticipate
continuing to do so in the future. Since our IPO, we have experienced a significant increase in accounting, legal and professional fees associated
with being a public company as further described above under “—Factors Affecting Our Business—Taxation and Expenses.”

Acquisition Transaction Costs

Acquisition transaction costs represent costs incurred for potential and completed acquisitions. In 2016, we incurred costs related to various
potential acquisitions, including the Underground Toys Acquisition. In 2017, we incurred costs related to the Underground Toys Acquisition, the
Loungefly Acquisition, and A Large Evil Corporation Acquisition.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of our property and equipment. Amortization relates to
definite-lived intangible assets that are recognized as expensed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. Our intangible assets,
which are being amortized over a range of two to 20 years, are mainly comprised of trade names, customer relationships and intellectual property
we recognized as part of the ACON Acquisition and, to a lesser extent, the Underground Toys Acquisition and the Loungefly Acquisition.

 

64
 



Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net includes the cost of our short-term borrowings and long-term debt, including the amortization of debt issuance costs and
original issue discounts, net of any interest income earned.

Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2018 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2017

The following table sets forth information comparing the components of net income for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:
 
  Year Ended December 31,    Period over Period Change  

  2018   2017    Dollar   Percentage  
  (amounts in thousands, except percentages)  

Net sales  $ 686,073  $ 516,084   $ 169,989   32.9%
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and
   amortization shown separately below)   428,062   317,379    110,683   34.9%
Selling, general, and administrative expenses   155,321   120,944    34,377   28.4%
Acquisition transaction costs   28   3,641    (3,613)   -99.2%
Depreciation and amortization   39,116   31,975    7,141   22.3%

Total operating expenses   622,527   473,939    148,588   31.4%
Income from operations   63,546   42,145    21,401   50.8%

Interest expense, net   21,739   30,636    (8,897)   -29.0%
Loss on extinguishment of debt   4,547   5,103    (556)   -10.9%
Other expense (income), net   4,082   (734)    4,816   -656.1%

Income before income taxes   33,178   7,140    26,038   364.7%
Income tax expense   4,867   1,540    3,327   216.0%

Net income   28,311   5,600    22,711   405.6%
Less: net income attributable to non-controlling
   interests   18,955   1,875    17,080   910.9%
Net income attributable to Funko, Inc.  $ 9,356  $ 3,725   $ 5,631   151.2%

Net Sales

Net sales were $686.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, an increase of 32.9% compared to $516.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017. The increase in net sales was due primarily to the continued expansion of products and properties in our portfolio, as well as
enhanced distribution and product placement with our retail partners.

In the year ended December 31, 2018, the number of active properties increased 34% to 672 from 500 in the year ended December 31, 2017, and
average net sales per active property remained stable at $1.0 million for both the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. While we expect to
see growth in the number of active properties over time, we expect that the average sales per active property will fluctuate from year to year or
quarter to quarter based on what is relevant in pop culture at that time and the types of properties we are producing against.

On a geographical basis, net sales in the United States increased 23.9% to $466.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to
$376.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2017, and net sales internationally increased 57.2% to $220.0 million in the year ended December
31, 2018 from $140.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily as a result of our growth in Europe. On a product category basis, net
sales of figures increased 32.7% to $560.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 and
net sales of other products increased 34.0% to $126.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2017.
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Cost of Sales and Gross Margin (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)

Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) was $428.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, an increase of 34.9%,
compared to $317.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) increased primarily
as a result of the continued growth in sales, which drove both higher product costs and royalty expenses. In 2018, in addition to the increase as a
result of sales growth, cost of sales included $2.0 million of incremental packaging and display costs, a $1.8 million increase from charitable
contributions and a $1.4 million increase for inventory reserves and adjustments. In 2017, cost of sales included $3.2 million related to the
application of purchase accounting in connection with the Underground Toys Acquisition and the Loungefly Acquisition, which required inventory to
be recorded at estimated fair value at the time of acquisition. This step-up in value resulted in an increase to inventory of $2.6 million and $0.6
million based on the estimated fair value as of the date of the Underground Toys Acquisition and Loungefly Acquisition, respectively.

Gross margin (exclusive of depreciation and amortization), calculated as net sales less cost of sales as a percentage of sales, was 37.6% for the
year ended December 31, 2018, compared to 38.5% for the year ended December 31, 2017.  Gross margin (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization) decreased 90 basis points for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017, due primarily to
the increase in our average royalty rate to 16.1% for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 15.0% for the year ended December 31,
2017 (primarily reflecting higher reserves for minimum guarantees, due in part to our subscription box business, which we began phasing out in
2018, and higher reserves for minimum guarantees on international sales, as well as ongoing and future royalty audits), higher compliance
chargebacks received from our customers and an increase in inventory reserves, partially offset by inventory step up costs in 2017 related to our
Underground Toys and Loungefly Acquisitions.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general, and administrative expenses were $155.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, an increase of 28.4%, compared to
$120.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase was driven primarily by growth in the business, including incremental expenses
associated with our direct distribution model in Europe, our Loungefly operations and growth in the staffing at Funko Animation Studios. More
specifically, the increase in expenses primarily resulted from a $20.3 million increase in personnel expenses and commissions (which included
$1.0 million of certain severance costs incurred during the year ended December 31, 2018 in connection with the departure of certain members of
senior management, including the founders of Loungefly), a $7.5 million increase in rent and related facilities costs, which is a result of our
continued expanded operations and a $3.6 million increase in equity-based compensation expense.  These increases were partially offset by a
decrease in bad debt expense of $3.5 million due primarily to the bad debt expense recorded in 2017 related to the Toys ‘R Us bankruptcy, which
was partially offset by $0.8 million in additional bad debt expense related to the bankruptcy of a European customer in 2018.

Selling, general, and administrative expenses were 22.6% of sales for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to 23.4% of sales for the
year ended December 31, 2017. While we have invested considerably in general and administrative costs to support the growth and anticipated
growth of our business and anticipate continuing to do so in the future, our growth in sales more than offset the growth of our selling, general and
administrative expenses.

Acquisition Transaction Costs

Transaction costs related to acquisitions were nominal for the year ended December 31, 2018 and $3.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2017. Transaction costs for the year ended December 31, 2017 were primarily related to the Underground Toys and Loungefly Acquisitions.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense was $39.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to $32.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017. Depreciation increased $6.5 million, primarily related to the increase in depreciation on tooling and molds as a result of the
expansion of our product lines, leasehold
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improvements at our corporate offices and warehouse facilities, and amortization increased $0.6 million as a result of the Underground Toys
Acquisition and the Loungefly Acquisition.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net was $21.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, a decrease of 29.0%, compared to $30.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017. The decrease in interest expense, net was primarily related to the paydown of the Term Loan B Facility and Revolving Credit
Facility with proceeds from our IPO in November 2017 and lower interest rates on our New Term Loan Facility and New Revolving Credit Facility
as compared to our previous Term Loan A Facility and previous Revolving Credit Facility.

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Loss on extinguishment of debt was $4.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, a decrease of 10.9%, compared to $5.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2017.  Loss on extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31, 2018 represented the write-off of $4.1 million of
unamortized debt issuance costs on our previous Term Loan A Facility and $0.4 million of unamortized debt issuance costs on our previous
Revolving Credit Facility, each of which were repaid in full on October 22, 2018 in connection with the Company entering into a new credit
agreement providing for the New Term Loan Facility in the amount of $235.0 million and the New Revolving Credit Facility of $50.0 million. Loss on
extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31, 2017 represented the write-off of unamortized discount costs on our Term Loan B Facility
which was repaid in full in November 2017 in connection with the IPO.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense was $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, an increase of 216.0%, compared to $1.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017.  The increase was primarily due to the increase in income before income taxes of $26.0 million, or 364.7%, for the year ended
December 31, 2018 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2017.  Additionally, in 2017, the LLC flow-through structure of FAH, LLC
benefited our income tax expense as, prior to the IPO, we were subject to certain LLC entity-level taxes and foreign taxes but generally not subject
to entity-level U.S. federal income taxes.  Partially offsetting the increase in income tax expense was a decrease in the statutory U.S. federal
corporate tax rate to 21% for the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to a statutory rate of 34% for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Year Ended December 31, 2017 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2016

 

The following table sets forth information comparing the components of net income for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:
  Year Ended December 31,    Period over Period Change  

  2017   2016    Dollar   Percentage  
  (amounts in thousands, except percentages)  

Net sales  $ 516,084  $ 426,717   $ 89,367   20.9%
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and
   amortization shown separately below)   317,379   280,396    36,983   13.2%
Selling, general, and administrative expenses   120,944   77,525    43,419   56.0%
Acquisition transaction costs   3,641   1,140    2,501   219.4%
Depreciation and amortization   31,975   23,509    8,466   36.0%

Total operating expenses   473,939   382,570    91,369   23.9%
Income (loss) from operations   42,145   44,147    (2,002)   -4.5%

Interest expense, net   30,636   17,267    13,369   77.4%
Loss on extinguishment of debt   5,103   —    5,103  na 
Other income, net   (734)   —    (734)  na 

Income (loss) before income taxes   7,140   26,880    (19,740)   -73.4%
Income tax expense   1,540   —    1,540  na 

Net income (loss)   5,600   26,880    (21,280)   -79.2%
Less: net income attributable to non-controlling
   interests   1,875   —    1,875  na 
Net income (loss) attributable to Funko, Inc.  $ 3,725  $ 26,880   $ (23,155)   -86.1%

Net Sales

Net sales were $516.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, an increase of 20.9% compared to $426.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016. Net sales increased primarily as a result of the continued expansion of properties in our portfolio that we sold against.

In the year ended December 31, 2017, the number of active properties increased 26% to 500 from 396 in the year ended December 31, 2016, and
average net sales per active property declined slightly to $1.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to $1.1 million in average net
sales per active property for the year ended December 31, 2016. While we expect to see growth in the number of properties and products over
time, we expect that the number of active properties and the average sales per active property will fluctuate from year to year or quarter to quarter
based on what is relevant in pop culture at that time and the types of properties we are producing against.

On a geographical basis, net sales in the United States increased 6.7% to $376.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to
$352.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2016, and net sales internationally increased 88.5% to $140.0 million in the year ended December
31, 2017 from $74.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily from the increased focus and strong demand in Europe resulting from
the move to a direct distribution model with the Underground Toys Acquisition. On a product category basis, net sales of figures increased 20.8%
to $422.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 and net sales of other products increased 21.8% to $94.1 million as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2016.

Cost of Sales and Gross Margin (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)

Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) was $317.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, an increase of 13.2%,
compared to $280.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) increased primarily
as a result of the continued growth in sales, as discussed above. In 2017, cost of sales included $3.2 million related to the application of purchase
accounting in connection with the Underground Toys Acquisition and the Loungefly Acquisition, which required inventory to be recorded at
estimated fair value at the time of acquisition. In 2016, cost of sales included $13.4 million related to
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the application of purchase accounting in connection with the ACON Acquisition, which required inventory to be recorded at estimated fair value at
the time of acquisition. This step-up in value resulted in an increase to inventory of $22.1 million, $2.6 million, and $0.6 million based on the
estimated fair value as of the date of the ACON Acquisition, the Underground Toys Acquisition and Loungefly Acquisition, respectively.

Gross margin (exclusive of depreciation and amortization), calculated as net sales less cost of sales as a percentage of sales, was 38.5% for the
year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 34.3% for the year ended December 31, 2016. Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2017
was positively impacted primarily by the absence of recording of inventory at estimated fair value in connection with the ACON Acquisition and, to
a lesser extent, by improved product margins from Funko UK.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general, and administrative expenses were $120.9 million for the year ended December 31 2017, an increase of 56.0%, compared to
$77.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase was largely driven by additional expenses related to becoming a public
company, as well as additional expenses related to the Underground Toys Acquisition, the Loungefly Acquisition, and investments in key areas to
support future growth, including direct-to-consumer initiatives. Specifically, the increase was primarily due to a $24.3 million increase in personnel
expenses, a $6.9 million increase in professional fees and other costs, a $5.3 million increase in advertising, marketing and product development
expenses, a $4.2 million increase in rent and related facilities costs, a $3.2 million increase in equity-based compensation expenses. In addition,
we recorded a $2.8 million increase in bad debt expense primarily as a result of the Toy’s “R” Us wind down and potential insolvency. These
increases were partially offset by a decrease in expense related to contingent consideration of $8.5 million, which was related to the ACON
Acquisition, and which was recorded in 2016.

Selling, general, and administrative expenses were 23.4% of sales for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 18.2% of sales for the
year ended December 31, 2016. As noted above, we have invested considerably in general and administrative costs to support the growth and
anticipated growth of our business and anticipate continuing to do so in the future.

Acquisition Transaction Costs

Transaction costs related to acquisitions were $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $1.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016. Transaction costs for the year ended December 31, 2017 related to the Underground Toys Acquisition, the Loungefly
Acquisition and A Large Evil Corporation Acquisition. Transaction costs for the year ended December 31, 2016 were related to the Underground
Toys Acquisition and other potential acquisition targets.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense was $17.6 million and $14.4 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to
$10.6 million and $12.9 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in depreciation and amortization primarily related
to the increase in depreciation on tooling and molds as a result of the expanded product offerings and leasehold improvements at our corporate
offices and warehouse facilities, and an increase in amortization related to the Underground Toys Acquisition and the Loungefly Acquisition.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net was $30.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, an increase of 77.4%, compared to $17.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016. The increase in interest expense, net primarily related to the incurrence of an additional $50.0 million in long-term debt under
our Term Loan A Facility in September 2016, the incurrence of $50.0 million in long-term debt under our Term Loan B Facility in January 2017, and
the incurrence of $20.0 million in long-term debt under our Term Loan A Facility and issuance of the Subordinated Promissory Notes in the
aggregate principal amount of $20.0 million, both of which occurred in June 2017.
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Loss on extinguishment of debt

Loss on extinguishment of debt was $5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 and represented the write-off of unamortized discount
costs on our Term Loan B Facility which was repaid in full in November 2017 in connection with the IPO.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense was $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 and was a result of our IPO in November 2017, as we are now subject
to corporate income tax. See Note 11, Income Taxes.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Pro Forma Net Income and Adjusted Pro Forma Earnings per Diluted Share (collectively the “Non-GAAP
Financial Measures”) are supplemental measures of our performance that are not required by, or presented in accordance with, U.S. GAAP. The
Non-GAAP Financial Measures are not measurements of our financial performance under U.S. GAAP and should not be considered as an
alternative to net income (loss), earnings per share or any other performance measure derived in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We define EBITDA
as net income (loss) before interest expense, net, income tax expense (benefit), depreciation and amortization. We define Adjusted EBITDA as
EBITDA further adjusted for monitoring fees, non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation programs, earnout fair market value
adjustments, inventory step-ups, loss on extinguishment of debt, acquisition transaction costs, certain severance costs, foreign currency
transaction gains and losses and other unusual or one-time items. We define Adjusted Pro Forma Net Income as net income attributable to Funko,
Inc. adjusted for the reallocation of income attributable to non-controlling interests from the assumed exchange of all outstanding common units
and options in FAH, LLC (or the common unit equivalent of profit interests in FAH, LLC for periods prior to the IPO) for newly issued-shares of
Class A common stock of Funko, Inc. and further adjusted for the impact of certain non-cash charges and other items that we do not consider in
our evaluation of ongoing operating performance. These items include, among other things, reallocation of net income attributable to non-controlling
interests, monitoring charges, loss on extinguishment of debt, non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation programs, earnout fair
market value adjustments, inventory step-ups, acquisition transaction costs, certain severance costs, foreign currency transaction gains and
losses and other unusual or one-time items, and the income tax expense (benefit) effect of (1) these adjustments and (2) the pass-through entity
taxable income as if the parent company was a subchapter C corporation in periods prior to the IPO. We define Adjusted Pro Forma Earnings per
Diluted Share as Adjusted Pro Forma Net Income divided by the weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding, assuming (1)
the full exchange of all outstanding common units and options in FAH, LLC (or the common unit equivalent of profit interest in FAH, LLC for
periods prior to the IPO) for newly issued-shares of Class A common stock of Funko, Inc and (2) the dilutive effect of stock options and unvested
common units, if any. We caution investors that amounts presented in accordance with our definitions of the Non-GAAP Financial Measures may
not be comparable to similar measures disclosed by our competitors, because not all companies and analysts calculate the Non-GAAP Financial
Measures in the same manner. We present the Non-GAAP Financial Measures because we consider them to be important supplemental measures
of our performance and believe they are frequently used by securities analysts, investors, and other interested parties in the evaluation of
companies in our industry. Management believes that investors’ understanding of our performance is enhanced by including these Non-GAAP
Financial Measures as a reasonable basis for comparing our ongoing results of operations.

Management uses the Non-GAAP Financial Measures:

 • as a measurement of operating performance because they assist us in comparing the operating performance of our business on a
consistent basis, as they remove the impact of items not directly resulting from our core operations;

 • for planning purposes, including the preparation of our internal annual operating budget and financial projections;

 • as a consideration to assess incentive compensation for our employees;

 • to evaluate the performance and effectiveness of our operational strategies; and

 • to evaluate our capacity to expand our business.

By providing these Non-GAAP Financial Measures, together with reconciliations, we believe we are enhancing investors’ understanding of our
business and our results of operations, as well as assisting investors in evaluating how well we are executing our strategic initiatives. In addition,
our New Credit Facilities use Adjusted EBITDA to measure our compliance with covenants such as a senior leverage ratio. The Non-GAAP
Financial Measures have limitations as analytical tools, and should not be considered in isolation, or as an alternative to, or a substitute for net
income (loss) or other financial statement data presented in our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K as indicators of financial performance. Some of the limitations are:

 • such measures do not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;

 • such measures do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
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 • such measures do not reflect the interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on
our debt;

 • although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be
replaced in the future and such measures do not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements; and

 • other companies in our industry may calculate such measures differently than we do, limiting their usefulness as comparative
measures.

Due to these limitations, Non-GAAP Financial Measures should not be considered as measures of discretionary cash available to us to invest in
the growth of our business. We compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our U.S. GAAP results and using these non-
GAAP measures only supplementally. As noted in the table below, the Non-GAAP Financial Measures include adjustments for non-cash charges
related to equity-based compensation programs, earnout fair market value adjustments, inventory step-ups, loss on extinguishment of debt,
acquisition transaction costs, certain severance costs, foreign currency transaction gains and losses and other unusual or one-time items. It is
reasonable to expect that these items will occur in future periods. However, we believe these adjustments are appropriate because the amounts
recognized can vary significantly from period to period, do not directly relate to the ongoing operations of our business and complicate
comparisons of our internal operating results and operating results of other companies over time. In addition, the Non-GAAP Financial Measures
include adjustments for other items, such as monitoring fees, that we do not expect to regularly record following our IPO. Each of the normal
recurring adjustments and other adjustments described herein and in the reconciliation table below help management with a measure of our core
operating performance over time by removing items that are not related to day-to-day operations.

The following tables reconcile the Non-GAAP Financial Measures to the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial performance measure,
which is net income (loss), for the periods presented:

 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2018   2017   2016  
Net income (loss) attributable to Funko, Inc.  $ 9,356  $ 3,725  $ 26,880 
Reallocation of net income attributable to
   non-controlling interests from the assumed
   exchange of common units of FAH, LLC for
   Class A common stock (1)   18,955   1,875   — 
Monitoring fees (2)   -   1,676   1,498 
Equity-based compensation (3)   9,140   5,574   2,369 
Loss on extinguishment of debt   4,547   5,103   — 
Earnout fair market value adjustment (4)   —   30   8,561 
Inventory step-up (5)   —   3,182   13,434 
Acquisition transaction costs and other expenses (6)   3,391   5,336   3,442 
Certain severance costs (7)   1,031   —   — 
Foreign currency transaction loss (gain) (8)   4,082   (733)   — 
Income tax expense (9)   (8,975)   (8,345)   (20,339)
Adjusted pro forma net income  $ 41,527  $ 17,423  $ 35,845 
             
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock
   outstanding-basic   23,821   23,338     
Equity-based compensation awards and
   common units of FAH, LLC that are
   convertible into Class A common stock   26,858   27,297     
Adjusted pro forma weighted-average shares of
   Class A stock outstanding - diluted   50,679   50,635     
Adjusted pro forma earnings per diluted share  $ 0.82  $ 0.34    
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              Successor    Predecessor  
              Period from    Period from  
              October 31,    January 1,  
              2015 through    2015 through  

  Year Ended December 31,   December 31,    October 30,  
  2018   2017   2016   2015    2015  
  (amounts in thousands)       

Net income  $ 28,311  $ 5,600  $ 26,880  $ (15,561)   $ 27,499 
Interest expense, net   21,739   30,636   17,267   2,818    2,202 
Income tax expense   4,867   1,540   —   —    — 
Depreciation and amortization   39,116   31,975   23,509   3,370    5,723 
EBITDA  $ 94,033  $ 69,751  $ 67,656  $ (9,373)   $ 35,424 
Adjustments:                      
Monitoring fees (2)   —   1,676   1,498   272    3,346 
Equity-based compensation (3)   9,140   5,574   2,369   4,484    9,925 
Loss on extinguishment of debt   4,547   5,103   —   —    — 
Earnout fair market value adjustment (4)   —   30   8,561   1,540    — 
Inventory step-up (5)   —   3,182   13,434   8,688    — 
Acquisition transaction costs and other
   expenses (6)   3,391   5,336   3,442   7,559    13,301 
Certain severance costs (7)   1,031   —   —   —    — 
Foreign currency transaction loss (gain) (8)   4,082   (733)   —   —    — 
Adjusted EBITDA  $ 116,224  $ 89,919  $ 96,960  $ 13,170   $ 61,996
 
(1) Represents the reallocation of net income attributable to non-controlling interests from the assumed exchange of common units of FAH,

LLC in periods in which income was attributable to non-controlling interests.
(2) Represents monitoring fees paid pursuant to a management services agreement with ACON that was entered into in connection with the

ACON Acquisition, which terminated upon the consummation of the IPO in November 2017.
(3) Represents non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation programs, which vary from period to period depending on timing of

awards.
(4) Reflects the increase in the fair value of contingent liabilities incurred in connection with the Underground Toys Acquisition.
(5) Represents a non-cash adjustment to cost of sales resulting from acquisitions.
(6) Represents legal, accounting, and other related costs incurred in connection with the IPO, acquisitions and other transactions.  Included for

the year ended December 31, 2018 is a one-time $2.0 million consent fee related to certain existing license agreements which we expect to
pay in connection with the renewal of such licensing agreements and $0.7 million for the recognition of a pre-acquisition contingency related
to our Loungefly acquisition.

(7) Represents severance costs incurred in connection with the departure of certain members of senior management, including the founders of
Loungefly.  

(8) Represents both unrealized and realized foreign currency losses (gains) on transactions other than in U.S. dollars.
(9) Represents the income tax expense (benefit) effect of (i) the above adjustments and (ii) the pass-through entity taxable income as if the

parent company was a subchapter C corporation in periods prior to the IPO. This adjustment uses an effective tax rate of 25% for the year
ended December 31, 2018 and 36.2% for the year ended December 31, 2017, respectively.
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Liquidity and Financial Condition

Introduction

Our primary requirements for liquidity and capital are working capital, inventory management, capital expenditures, debt service and general
corporate needs. In the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we also received contributions from members of FAH, LLC as further described
below under “Liquidity;” however, we do not anticipate receiving any additional contributions from members of FAH, LLC.

On November 6, 2017, we completed our IPO of 10,416,666 shares of our Class A common stock at a public offering price of $12.00 per share.
We received approximately $117.3 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions. We used the net proceeds to
purchase 10,416,666 common units directly from FAH, LLC at a price per unit equal to the initial public offering price per share of Class A common
stock sold in the IPO, less underwriting discounts and commissions. FAH, LLC used the net proceeds from the sale of common units to Funko,
Inc., together with cash on hand, to repay all of the outstanding aggregate principal balance and accrued interest of $20.9 million on our promissory
notes issued by FAH, LLC on June 26, 2017 and payable to certain of its members (the “Subordinated Promissory Notes”), repay all of the
outstanding aggregate principal balance and accrued interest of $46.1 million on our Term Loan B Facility and repay all of the then outstanding
principal balance and accrued interest of $55.6 million on our Revolving Credit Facility.

On March 7, 2018, we entered into an amendment to our former credit agreement which provided for, among other things, (i) a $13.0 million
prepayment of the amounts owing under the Term Loan A Facility on the effective date of the amendment, with no changes in the amount of future
amortization payments, (ii) a reduction in the interest rate margins (a) for the Term Loan A Facility, from 6.25% to 5.50% for base rate loans and
7.25% to 6.50% for LIBOR rate loans and (b) for the Revolving Credit Facility, from 2.50% to 1.75% for LIBOR rate loans, (iii) a 1% prepayment
premium on prepayments under both the Term Loan A Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility for 180 days after the effective date of the
amendment, and (iv) a $20.0 million increase to the borrowing base under the Revolving Credit Facility, so long as no loan party formed under the
laws of England and Wales or Funko UK, Ltd. incurs secured indebtedness for borrowed money.

On October 22, 2018 (the “Closing Date”), Funko Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C., Funko Holdings LLC, Funko, LLC and Loungefly, LLC (each, a
“Borrower” and collectively, the “Borrowers”), entered into a new Credit Agreement by and among each Borrower, certain financial institutions party
thereto and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and collateral agent, providing for the New Term Loan Facility in the amount
of $235.0 million and the New Revolving Credit Facility of $50.0 million. Proceeds from the New Credit Facilities were primarily used to repay the
Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities.
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On February 11, 2019, the Company amended its New Credit Facilities to increase the New Revolving Credit Facility to $75.0 million.

On February 11, 2019, we acquired Forrest-Pruzan Creative LLC, a leading board game development studio in Seattle, WA, to help us expand our
product offerings into the board game category. The purchase consideration consists of $6.5 million in cash and $2.2 million in shares of the
Company's Class A common stock paid at closing, $1.5 million in cash due to the sellers in 18 months, subject to certain working capital
adjustments and other conditions as per the agreement, and $2 million in cash due after a 24-month deferral period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table shows summary cash flow information for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
 

             
             
             
             
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2018   2017   2016  

Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 49,991  $ 23,837  $ 49,468 
Net cash used in investing activities   (27,501)   (65,215)   (22,105)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   (15,046)   43,012   (45,613)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash
   equivalents   (1,686)   (67)   — 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
   equivalents  $ 5,758  $ 1,567  $ (18,250)
 
Operating Activities. Our net cash provided by operating activities consists of net income adjusted for certain non-cash items, including
depreciation and amortization, equity-based compensation and fair value adjustments to contingent consideration, accretion of discount on long-
term debt, as well as the effect of changes in working capital and other activities.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $50.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to $23.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017. The increase was primarily due to an increase in net income and non-cash adjustments partially offset by a decrease in the
changes in working capital.  Non-cash adjustments increased net cash provided by operating activities by $11.9 million in the year ended
December 31, 2018, due primarily to a $7.1 million increase in depreciation and amortization, a $4.3 million increase related to foreign currency
transaction losses, and a $3.6 million increase in equity-based compensation when compared to the year ended December 31, 2017. These
increases were partially offset by a $2.5 million decrease in non-cash adjustments related to accretion of discount on long-term debt. Additionally,
the increase in net cash provided by operating activities was impacted by an increase in net income of $22.7 million in the year ended December
31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017. Changes in working capital reduced net cash provided by operating activities by $8.5
million and were primarily due to a decrease in accounts payable of $35.3 million and an increase in accounts receivable of $22.7 million, partially
offset by increases in prepaid expenses and other assets, accrued royalties and inventory of $18.5 million, $10.0 million and $7.3 million,
respectively.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $23.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $49.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016. The decrease was primarily due to changes in working capital, which reduced cash provided by operating activities by $18.0
million. Changes in working capital reduced cash provided by operating activities primarily due to an increase in inventory of $22.7 million and a
decrease in accrued royalties of $4.6 million, partially offset by an increase in accounts receivables and decreases in income taxes payable and
accounts payable of $5.2 million, $2.3 million and $4.3 million, respectively. In addition, non-cash adjustments increased net cash provided by
operating activities by $13.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2017, due primarily to a $8.5 million increase in depreciation and amortization,
loss on extinguishment of debt of $5.1 million, a $3.2 million increase in equity-based compensation and a $2.7 million increase in accretion of
discount on long-term debt, when compared to the year ended December 31, 2016. These increases were partially offset by a $5.5 million
decrease in non-cash adjustments related to contingent consideration. Additionally, the decrease in net cash provided by operating activities was
impacted by a decline in
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net income of $21.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to $26.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2016.

Investing Activities. Our net cash used in investing activities primarily relates to the purchase of property and equipment and acquisitions, net of
cash acquired. For the year ended December 31, 2018, net cash used in investing activities was $27.5 million and was comprised of $26.9 million
used for the purchase of property and equipment, primarily related to tooling and molds used for the expansion of product lines, and $0.6 million
used for acquisitions, specifically an increase in cash used to acquire Loungefly as a result of certain working capital adjustments.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, net cash used in investing activities was $65.2 million and was primarily comprised of initial cash
consideration of $12.6 million, $16.1 million and $3.9 million for the Underground Toys Acquisition, the Loungefly Acquisition and A Large Evil
Corporation Acquisition, respectively. Additionally, $33.6 million of net cash used in investing activities was for the purchase of property and
equipment and primarily consisted of $21.1 million for the purchase of property and equipment related to tooling and molds for the expansion of
product lines and $6.6 million for leasehold improvements related to the buildout of our new headquarters.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, net cash used in investing activities was $22.1 million and was primarily comprised of the purchase of
property and equipment related to tooling and molds as a result of our expansion of product lines and, to a lesser extent, from leasehold
improvements to our former and new headquarters.

Financing Activities. Our financing activities primarily consist of proceeds from stock issuances, the issuance of long-term debt, net of debt
issuance costs, the repayment of long-term debt, payments and borrowings under our line of credit facility, contributions from, and distributions to,
members and the payment of contingent consideration. We do not anticipate any financing activity related to contributions from members going
forward.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, net cash used in financing activities was $15.0 million, primarily related to payments on the New Term
Loan Facility and Term Loan A Facility of $231.3 million and $20.4 million in distributions to members of FAH, LLC, partially offset by proceeds
from the New Term Loan Facility of $230.0 million, and net borrowings on the revolving lines of credit of $9.2 million. 

For the year ended December 31, 2017, net cash provided by financing activities was $43.0 million, primarily related to proceeds from the
issuance of Class A common stock sold in the IPO net of underwriter’s discounts and commissions of $117.3 million, proceeds from the Term
Loan A Facility, Term Loan B Facility and Subordinated Promissory Notes of $86.3 million, contribution from members of FAH, LLC of $5.0 million,
partially offset by payments on the Term Loan B Facility and Subordinated Promissory Notes of $79.0 million, $72.8 million in distributions to
members of FAH, LLC and payments for contingent consideration of $18.0 million. During 2017, we also had net borrowings on the Revolving
Credit Facility of $4.1 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, net cash used in financing activities was $45.6 million, primarily related to $70.4 million of distributions to
the members of FAH, LLC and $36.9 million of cash used for contingent consideration payments related to the ACON Acquisition, partially offset
by a net increase of $40.0 million of net cash proceeds from Term Loan A Facility borrowings, a net increase of $6.7 million of Revolving Credit
Facility borrowings and a $15.0 million contribution from certain members of FAH, LLC.

Financial Condition

Notwithstanding our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement between Funko, Inc., FAH, LLC and each of the Continuing Equity Owners
(the “Tax Receivable Agreement”), we believe that our sources of liquidity and capital will be sufficient to finance our continued operations, growth
strategy, our planned capital expenditures and the additional expenses we incur as a public company for at least the next 12 months. However, we
cannot assure you that our cash provided by operating activities, cash and cash equivalents or cash available under our New Revolving Credit
Facility will be sufficient to meet our future needs. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flows from operations in the future, and if availability
under our New Revolving Credit Facility is not sufficient, we may have to obtain additional financing. If we obtain additional capital by issuing
equity, the interests of our existing stockholders will be diluted. If we incur additional indebtedness, that indebtedness may contain significant
financial and other covenants that may significantly restrict our operations. We cannot assure you that we could obtain refinancing or additional
financing on favorable terms or at all. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we
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were in compliance with all covenants in our New Credit Facilities and Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities, respectively.

As noted above, on October 22, 2018, we entered into the New Credit Facilities and repaid in full our Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities.  The
New Credit Facilities are secured by substantially all assets of the Borrowers and any of their existing or future material domestic subsidiaries,
subject to customary exceptions.

The Borrowers and any of their existing or future material domestic subsidiaries guarantee repayment of the New Credit Facilities. The New Term
Loan Facility matures on October 22, 2023 (the “Maturity Date”).  The New Term Loan Facility amortizes in quarterly installments in aggregate
amounts equal to 5.00% of the original principal amount of the New Term Loan Facility in the first and second years of the New Term Loan
Facility, 10.00% of the original principal amount of the New Term Loan Facility in the third and fourth years of the New Term Loan Facility and
12.50% of the original principal amount of the New Term Loan Facility in the fifth year of the New Term Loan Facility, with any outstanding balance
due and payable on the Maturity Date.  The first amortization payment is due on December 31, 2018.  The New Revolving Credit Facility
terminates on the Maturity Date and loans thereunder may be borrowed, repaid, and reborrowed up to such date.

Loans under the New Credit Facilities will, at the Borrowers’ option, bear interest at either the Euro-Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus
3.25% or the Base Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 2.25%, with two 0.25% step-downs based on the achievement of certain
leverage ratios following the Closing Date. The Euro-Rate is subject to a 0.00% floor. For loans based on the Euro-Rate, interest payments are due
at the end of each applicable interest period. For loans based on the Base Rate, interest payments are due quarterly.

Under certain circumstances described in the Credit Agreement, the Borrowers may increase the New Credit Facilities in an aggregate amount not
to exceed $25.0 million.
The Credit Agreement governing the New Credit Facilities contains a number of covenants that, among other things and subject to certain
exceptions, restrict our ability to:

 • incur additional indebtedness;

 • incur certain liens;

 • consolidate, merge or sell or otherwise dispose of our assets;

 • alter the business conducted by us and our subsidiaries;

 • make investments, loans, advances, guarantees and acquisitions;

 • pay dividends or make other distributions on equity interests, or redeem, repurchase or retire equity interests;

 • enter into transactions with affiliates;

 • enter into agreements restricting our subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends;

 • issue or sell equity interests or securities convertible into or exchangeable for equity interests;

 • redeem, repurchase or refinance other indebtedness; and

 • amend or modify our governing documents.

In addition, the Credit Agreement requires FAH, LLC and its subsidiaries to comply on a quarterly basis with a maximum senior leverage ratio and
a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio (in each case, measured on a trailing four-quarter basis). The maximum senior leverage ratio is currently
3.00:1.00.

The Credit Agreement also contains certain customary representations and warranties and affirmative covenants, and certain reporting obligations.
In addition, the lenders under the New Credit Facilities will be permitted to accelerate all outstanding borrowings and other obligations, terminate
outstanding commitments and exercise other specified remedies upon the occurrence of certain events of default (subject to certain grace periods
and exceptions), which include, among other things, payment defaults, breaches of representations and warranties,

77
 



covenant defaults, certain cross-defaults and cross-accelerations to other indebtedness, certain events of bankruptcy and insolvency, certain
judgments and changes of control. The Credit Agreement defines “change of control” to include, among other things, any person or group other
than ACON and its affiliates becoming the beneficial owner of more than 35% of the voting power of the equity interests of Funko, Inc.

As of December 31, 2018, we had $13.5 million of cash and cash equivalents and $122.8 million of working capital, compared with $7.7 million of
cash and cash equivalents and $94.1 million of working capital as of December 31, 2017. Working capital is impacted by seasonal trends of our
business and the timing of new product releases, as well as our current portion of long-term debt and draw downs on our line of credit. For further
discussion of changes in our debt, see below, and Note 10, Debt of the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

Future Sources and Uses of Liquidity

Sources

As noted above, historically, our primary sources of cash flows have been cash flows from operating activities and borrowings under our
Subordinated Promissory Notes, Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities and New Credit Facilities (see Note 10, Debt of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements). On February 11, 2019, the Company amended the New Credit Facilities to increase the New Revolving Credit
Facility to $75.0 million, of which $42.5 million was outstanding as of February 28, 2019. On November 6, 2017, we completed our IPO of
10,416,666 shares of our Class A common stock at a public offering price of $12.00 per share. We received approximately $117.3 million in net
proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions. We used the net proceeds to purchase 10,416,666 common units directly from
FAH, LLC at a price per unit equal to the initial public offering price per share of Class A common stock sold in the IPO, less underwriting
discounts and commissions.

New Credit Facilities. On October 22, 2018, the Company entered into the New Credit Facilities.  Upon closing, proceeds from the New Credit
Facilities were primarily used to repay all of the outstanding aggregate principal balance and accrued interest of $209.6 million on the previous
Term Loan A Facility and $65.3 million on the previous Revolving Credit Facility.  Upon repayment, both the previous Term Loan A Facility and the
previous Revolving Credit Facility were terminated.   For a discussion of our New Credit Facilities, see Note 10, Debt of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements.

Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities. For a discussion of our Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities, see Note 10, Debt of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements.

Subordinated Promissory Notes. For a discussion of our former Subordinated Promissory Notes, see Note 10, Debt of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements.

Uses

Additional future liquidity needs may include public company costs, tax distributions, the redemption right held by the Continuing Equity Owners
that they may exercise from time to time (should we elect to exchange their common units for a cash payment), payments under the Tax
Receivable Agreement and general cash requirements for operations and capital expenditures. The Continuing Equity Owners may exercise their
redemption right for as long as their common units remain outstanding. Although the actual timing and amount of any payments that may be made
under the Tax Receivable Agreement will vary, we expect that the payments we will be required to make to the Continuing Equity Owners will be
significant. Any payments made by us to the Continuing Equity Owners under the Tax Receivable Agreement will generally reduce the amount of
overall cash flow that might have otherwise have been available to us or to FAH, LLC and, to the extent that we are unable to make payments
under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, the unpaid amounts generally will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid by us;
provided however, that nonpayment for a specified period may constitute a material breach under the Tax Receivable Agreement and therefore
may accelerate payments due under the Tax Receivable Agreement.
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Seasonality

While our customers in the retail industry typically operate in highly seasonal businesses, we have historically experienced only moderate
seasonality in our business. Historically, over 50% of our net sales are made in the third and fourth quarters, primarily in the period from August
through November, as our customers build up their inventories in anticipation of the holiday season. Historically, the first quarter of the year has
represented the lowest volume of shipment and sales in our business and in the retail and toy industries generally and it is also the least profitable
quarter due to the various fixed costs of the business. However, the rapid growth we have experienced in recent years may have masked the full
effects of seasonal factors on our business to date, and as such, seasonality may have a greater effect on our results of operations in future
periods.

Contractual Obligations
 
The following summarizes our principal future minimum commitments as of December 31, 2018 (in thousands):
 

  2019   2020   2021   2022   2023   Thereafter   Total  
Long term debt and related
   interest (1)  $ 24,513  $ 26,825  $ 34,532  $ 34,683  $ 164,080  $ —  $ 284,633 
Operating leases   12,279   11,634   8,169   4,615   4,774   13,287   54,758 
Minimum royalty obligations (2)   4,684   2,383   159   —   —   —   7,226 
New Revolving Credit Facility (3)   20,000   —   —   —   —   —   20,000 
Total  $ 61,476  $ 40,842  $ 42,860  $ 39,298  $ 168,854  $ 13,287  $ 366,617
 
(1) We estimated interest payments through the maturity of our New Credit Facilities by applying the interest rate of 5.53% in effect as of

December 31, 2018 under our New Term Loan Facility. See Note 10, Debt of the notes to our consolidated financial statements.
(2) Represents minimum guaranteed royalty payments under licensing arrangements.
(3) Represents the amount owed as of December 31, 2018 under our New Revolving Credit Facility.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2018, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See discussion of recently adopted and recently issued accounting pronouncements in Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial statements which have been
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses at the date of the
consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions in accordance with U.S.
GAAP that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.

Critical accounting policies and estimates are those that we consider the most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and operating
results and require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the
effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Our critical accounting policies and estimates include those related to revenue recognition and sales
allowances, royalties, inventory, goodwill and intangible assets, equity-based compensation and income taxes. Changes to these policies and
estimates could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
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The JOBS Act permits us, as an “emerging growth company,” to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised
accounting standards applicable to public companies. We have chosen to “opt out” of this provision and, as a result, we will adopt new or revised
accounting standards upon or prior to required public company adoption dates. This decision to opt out of the extended transition period under the
JOBS Act is irrevocable.

Revenue Recognition and Sales Allowance. Revenue from the sale of our products is recognized when control of the goods is transferred to the
customer, which is upon shipment or upon receipt of finished goods by the customer, depending on the contract terms. The majority of revenue is
recognized upon shipment of products to the customer.

We routinely enter into arrangements with our customers to provide sales incentives, support customer promotions, and provide allowances for
returns and defective merchandise. These sales adjustments require management to make estimates. In making these estimates, management
considers all available information including the overall business environment, historical trends and information from customers, such as agreed
upon customer contract terms as well as historical experience from the customer. The estimated costs of these programs reduce gross sales in
the period the related sale is recognized. We adjust our estimates at least quarterly or when facts and circumstances used in the estimate process
change; historically adjustments to these estimates have not been material.

Amounts received prior to when control of the goods is transferred to the customer are recorded as deferred revenue on our consolidated balance
sheets. Sales terms do not allow for a right of return exception in relation to a manufacturing defect. We defer revenue on these advance
payments until our performance obligation is satisfied. Deferred revenue is classified as a current liability when recognition is expected within 12
months following the balance sheet date.

We have elected to account for shipping and handling activities that occur after control of the related good transfers as fulfillment
activities instead of assessing such activities as performance obligations.  Accordingly, shipping and handling activities that are
performed by us, whether before or after a customer has obtained control of the products, are considered fulfillment costs to satisfy our
performance obligation to transfer the products and are recorded as incurred within cost of goods sold.

We have made an accounting policy election to exclude from revenue all taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are both
imposed on and concurrent with a specific revenue-producing transaction and collected by the Company from a customer (for example,
sales, use, value added, and some excise taxes).

Royalties. We enter into agreements for rights to licensed trademarks, copyrights and likenesses for use in our products. These licensing
agreements require the payment of royalty fees to the licensor based on a percentage of revenue. Many licensing agreements also require
minimum royalty commitments. When royalty fees are paid in advance, we record these payments as a prepaid asset, either current or long- term
based on when we expect to realize revenues under the related licensing agreement. If we determine that it is probable that the expected revenue
will not be realized, a reserve is recorded against the prepaid asset for the non-recoverable portion. As of December 31, 2018, we recorded a
prepaid asset of $5.5 million, net of a reserve of $5.5 million. As of December 31, 2017, we recorded a prepaid asset of $6.4 million, net of a
reserve of $2.9 million.

We record a royalty liability as revenues are earned based on the terms of the licensing agreement. In situations where a minimum commitment is
not expected to be met based on expected revenues, we will accrue up to the minimum amount when it is reasonably certain that revenues
generated will not meet the minimum commitment. Royalty and license expense is recorded within cost of sales on the consolidated statements of
operations. Royalty expenses for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, were $110.2 million, $77.5 million and $64.7 million,
respectively.

Inventory. Inventory consists primarily of figures, plush and accessories and other finished goods, and is accounted for using the first-in, first-out,
or FIFO, method. We maintain reserves for excess and obsolete inventories to reflect the inventory balance at the lower of cost or net realizable
value. This valuation requires us to make judgments, based on currently available information, about the likely method of disposition, such as
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through sales to customers, or liquidation, and expected recoverable value of each disposition category. We estimate obsolescence based on
assumptions regarding future demand.

Inventory costs include direct product costs and freight costs. As a result of the ACON Acquisition, the Underground Toys Acquisition and the
Loungefly Acquisition, inventory was adjusted to fair value as of October 31, 2015, January 27, 2017 and June 28, 2017, respectively. See Note 3,
Acquisitions of the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the net amount of identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in a business combination measured at fair value. We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually on October 1 of each year and
upon the occurrence of triggering events or substantive changes in circumstances that could indicate a potential impairment by assessing
qualitative factors or performing a quantitative analysis in determining whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the net assets is
below their carrying amounts.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognized separately from goodwill and are initially recognized at their fair value at the
acquisition date. Intangible assets acquired include intellectual property (product design), customer relationships, and trade names. These are
definite-lived assets and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets might not be recoverable. Conditions that would necessitate
an impairment assessment include a significant decline in the observable market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in
which an asset is used, or any other significant adverse change that would indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets may
not be recoverable.

Income Taxes. We apply the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic No. 740, “Income Taxes” (“ASC 740”). Under ASC
740, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities
and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. We record a valuation
allowance against our deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. In
evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including our operating results,
ongoing tax planning and forecasts of future taxable income on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis. If we determine we will not be able to fully utilize
all or part of these deferred tax assets, we would record a valuation allowance through earnings in the period the determination was made, which
would have an adverse effect on our results of operations and earnings. In accordance with ASC 740, we recognize, in our consolidated financial
statements, the impact of our tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination based on the technical merits of the
positions. We recognize interest and penalties for uncertain tax positions in selling, general and administrative expenses.

We are subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes with respect to our allocable share of any taxable income of FAH, LLC and are taxed
at the prevailing corporate tax rates. FAH, LLC is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally is not
subject to any entity‑level U.S. federal income tax. Instead, taxable income is allocated to holders of its common units, including us. As a result,
we incur income taxes on our allocable share of any net taxable income of FAH, LLC. Pursuant to the Second Amended and Restated FAH, LLC
Agreement, FAH, LLC will generally make pro rata tax distributions to holders of common units in an amount sufficient to fund all or part of their
tax obligations with respect to the taxable income of FAH, LLC that is allocated to them.

In connection with the consummation of the IPO, we entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”) with FAH, LLC and each of the Continuing
Equity Owners. Pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement, we are required to make cash payments to the Continuing Equity Owners equal to
85% of the tax benefits, if any, that we realize, or in some circumstances are deemed to realize, as a result of (1) any redemptions funded by us
or exchanges (or deemed exchanges in certain circumstances) of common units for Class A common stock or cash, and (2) certain additional tax
benefits attributable to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA Payments”). Amounts payable under the TRA are contingent upon,
among other things, (i) generation of taxable income over the term of the TRA and (ii) changes in tax laws. If we do not generate sufficient taxable
income in the aggregate over the term of the TRA to utilize the tax benefits, then we would not be required to make the related TRA Payments.
Therefore, we only recognize a liability for TRA Payments if we determine that it is probable that we will generate
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sufficient future taxable income over the term of the TRA to utilize the related tax benefits. Estimating future taxable income is inherently uncertain
and requires judgment. In projecting future taxable income, we consider our historical results and incorporate certain assumptions, including
projected revenue growth, and operating margins, among others.

Upon redemption or exchange of common units in FAH, LLC, we record a liability relating to the obligation if we believe that it is probable that we
would have sufficient future taxable income to utilize the related tax benefits. If we determine in the future that we will not be able to fully utilize all
or part of the related tax benefits, we would derecognize any portion of the liability related to the benefits not expected to be utilized.

Additionally, we will estimate the amount of TRA Payments expected to be paid within the next 12 months and classify this amount as current on
our consolidated balance sheets. This determination is based on our estimate of taxable income for the next fiscal year. To the extent our
estimate differs from actual results, we may be required to reclassify portions of our liabilities under the TRA between current and non-current.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we acquired an aggregate of 1.4 million common units of FAH, LLC in connection with the redemption
of common units, which resulted in an increase in the tax basis of our investment in FAH, LLC subject to the provisions of the Tax Receivable
Agreement.  As a result of these exchanges, during the year ended December 31, 2018 we recognized an increase to our net deferred tax assets
in the amount of $7.0 million, and a corresponding increase to our TRA liabilities of $6.8 million, representing 85% of the tax benefits due to the
Continuing Equity Owners.  

During the year ended December 31, 2017, there were no redemptions or exchanges of common units in FAH, LLC under the TRA. As such, we
did not record any liabilities relating to our obligations under the TRA for 2017.

Refer to Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies of the notes to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion of recent accounting
pronouncements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates, foreign currency and inflation. All of these market risks arise in the normal course of
business, as we do not engage in speculative trading activities. The following analysis provides quantitative information regarding these risks.

Interest Rate Risk. Our operating results are subject to risk from interest rate fluctuations on our New Credit Facilities, which carry variable interest
rates. Interest rate risk is the exposure to loss resulting from changes in the level of interest rates and the spread between different interest rates.
Our New Credit Facilities include the New Term Loan Facility and the New Revolving Credit Facility with advances tied to a borrowing base and
which bear interest at a variable rate. Because our New Credit Facilities bear interest at variable rates, we are exposed to market risks relating to
changes in interest rates. Interest rate risk is highly sensitive due to many factors, including U.S. monetary and tax policies, U.S. and international
economic factors and other factors beyond our control. As of December 31, 2018, we had $247.3 million of variable rate debt outstanding under our
New Credit Facilities, consisting of $227.3 million outstanding under the New Term Loan Facility (net of unamortized discount of $4.8 million) and
$20.0 million in outstanding variable rate borrowings under our New Revolving Credit Facility. Based upon a sensitivity analysis of our debt levels
on December 31, 2018, an increase or decrease of 1% in the effective interest rate would cause an increase or decrease in interest expense of
approximately $2.5 million over the next 12 months. We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes, but this
does not preclude our adoption of specific hedging strategies in the future.

Foreign Currency Risk. In January 2017, we acquired certain assets of Underground Toys Limited and now sell directly to certain of our customers
in Europe, the Middle East and Africa through our newly formed subsidiary, Funko UK, Ltd. In addition, in November 2017, we acquired A Large
Evil Corporation Ltd. (“A Large Evil Corporation”), an animation studio based in Bath, United Kingdom. The functional currency of all of our entities
is the U.S. dollar, other than Funko UK, Ltd. and A Large Evil Corporation, which are the British pound. While currently our inventory purchases for
Funko UK, Ltd. are in U.S. dollars, their product sales are primarily in British pounds and euros. Additionally, Funko UK, Ltd. incurs a portion of its
operating expenses in British pounds. Most of A Large Evil Corporation’s operating expenses are denominated in British pounds. Therefore, our
results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, principally the British pound
and euro. However, we believe that the exposure to foreign currency fluctuation from product sales and operating expenses is not significant at
this time. As we grow our operations, our exposure to foreign currency risk could become more significant. To date, we have not entered into any
foreign currency exchange contracts and currently do not expect to enter into foreign currency exchange contracts for trading or speculative
purposes. Prior to December 31, 2016, all of our product sales, inventory purchases, and operating expenses were denominated in U.S. dollars.
We therefore did not have any foreign currency risk associated with these activities.

Impact of Inflation. Our results of operations and financial condition are presented based on historical cost. While it is difficult to accurately
measure the impact of inflation due to the imprecise nature of the estimates required, we believe the effects of inflation, if any, on our historical
results of operations and financial condition have been immaterial. We cannot assure you, however, that our results of operations and financial
condition will not be materially impacted by inflation in the future.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
Funko, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Funko, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2018 and
2017, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’ and members’ equity, and cash flows, for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31,
2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company‘s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company‘s
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to
obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

 

/s/ Ernst & Young
 
We have served as the Company‘s auditor since 2015.
Seattle, Washington
March 5, 2019
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FUNKO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
 

             
             
             
             
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2018   2017   2016  
  (In thousands, except per share data)  

Net sales  $ 686,073  $ 516,084  $ 426,717 
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and
   amortization shown separately below)

 
 428,062   317,379   280,396 

Selling, general, and administrative expenses   155,321   120,944   77,525 
Acquisition transaction costs   28   3,641   1,140 
Depreciation and amortization   39,116   31,975   23,509 

Total operating expenses   622,527   473,939   382,570 
Income from operations   63,546   42,145   44,147 

Interest expense, net   21,739   30,636   17,267 
Loss on extinguishment of debt   4,547   5,103   — 
Other expense (income), net   4,082   (734)   — 

Income before income taxes   33,178   7,140   26,880 
Income tax expense   4,867   1,540   — 

Net income   28,311   5,600   26,880 
Less: net income attributable to non-controlling
   interests

 
 18,955   1,875   — 

Net income attributable to Funko, Inc.  $ 9,356  $ 3,725  $ 26,880 
             
Earnings per share of Class A common stock (1):             

Basic  $ 0.39  $ 0.04     
Diluted  $ 0.37  $ 0.04     

Weighted average shares of Class A common
   stock outstanding (1):

 
           

Basic   23,821   23,338     
Diluted   25,560   50,635    

 

(1) Basic and diluted earnings per Class A common stock is applicable only for the period after the Company’s IPO. See Note 18, Earnings Per
Share.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FUNKO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 
             
             
             
             
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2018   2017   2016  
  (In thousands)  

Net income  $ 28,311  $ 5,600  $ 26,880 
Other comprehensive income:             

Foreign currency translation (loss) gain, net of tax effect of $51, $0 and $0 for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively   (2,020)   802   — 

Comprehensive income   26,291   6,402   26,880 
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to
   non-controlling interests   17,908   859   — 
Comprehensive income attributable to
   Funko, Inc.  $ 8,383  $ 5,543  $ 26,880
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FUNKO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

  December 31,  
  2018   2017  
  (In thousands)  

Assets         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 13,486  $ 7,728 
Accounts receivable, net   148,627   115,478 
Inventory   86,622   79,082 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   11,904   21,727 

Total current assets   260,639   224,015 
         
Property and equipment, net   44,296   40,438 
Goodwill   112,818   110,902 
Intangible assets, net   233,645   250,649 
Deferred tax asset   7,346   51 
Other assets   4,275   4,258 

Total assets  $ 663,019  $ 630,313 
         

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity         
Current liabilities:         

Line of credit  $ 20,000  $ 10,801 
Current portion long-term debt, net of unamortized discount   10,593   7,928 
Accounts payable   36,130   53,428 
Income taxes payable   4,492   2,268 
Accrued royalties   39,020   25,969 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   27,621   27,032 
Current portion of contingent consideration   —   2,500 

Total current liabilities   137,856   129,926 
         
Long-term debt, net of unamortized discount   216,704   215,170 
Deferred tax liability   5    588 
Liabilities under tax receivable agreement, net of current portion   6,504   — 
Deferred rent and other long-term liabilities   5,584   3,474 
         
Commitments and contingencies         
         
Stockholders' equity:         
Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, 200,000 shares authorized; 24,960 shares and 23,338
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively   2    2  
Class B common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, 50,000 shares authorized; 23,584 shares and 24,976
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively   2    2  
Additional paid-in-capital   146,408   129,320 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   (171)   802 
Retained earnings   10,397   1,041 

Total stockholders' equity attributable to Funko, Inc.   156,638   131,167 
Non-controlling interests   139,728   149,988 
Total stockholders' equity   296,366   281,155 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 663,019  $ 630,313

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FUNKO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands)
 

  Member Units   
Recourse
Loans To   

Other
Comprehensive   

Members'
Earnings   

Class A Common
Stock   

Class B Common
Stock   

Additional
Paid-In   

Other
Comprehensive   

Retained
Earnings   

Non-
Controlling      

  Units   Amounts   Management  Income   (Deficit)   Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Capital   Income   (Deficit)   Interests   Total  
January 1, 2016   224  $ 250,601  $ (915)  $ —  $ (6,130)   —  $ —   —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —   243,556 

Members' contributions   15   24,431   —   —   (9,431)   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   15,000 
Equity-based compensation   4   2,369   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   2,369 
Net income   —   —   —   —   26,880   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   26,880 
Recourse loans to
management   —   —   142   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   142 
Distribution to members   —   —   —   —   (70,570)   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (70,570)

Period ended December 31, 2016   243  $ 277,401  $ (773)  $ —  $ (59,251)   —  $ —   —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 217,377 
Equity issued in connection
with
   acquisition prior to
Transactions   2   5,313   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   5,313 
Warrants issued in connection
with
   long-term debt prior to
Transactions   —   —   —   —   5,726   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   5,726 
Equity-based compensation
   prior to Transactions   —   4,571   159   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   4,730 
Net income prior to
Transactions   —   —   —   —   2,684   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   2,684 
Cumulative translation
adjustment
   prior to Transactions   —   —   —   1,184   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   1,184 
Distribution to members prior
   to Transactions   —   —   —   —   (72,965)   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (72,965)
Contributions from members
   prior to Transactions   5   5,000   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   5,000 
Recourse loans to
management prior
   to Transactions   —   —   188   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   188 
Effect of Transactions   (250)   (292,285)   426   (1,184)   123,806   12,921   1           168,052   572       612   -  
Sale of Class A common stock
   in initial public offering, net   —   —   —   —   —   10,417   1   —   —   108,919   —   —   —   108,920 
Issuance of Class B common
stock   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   24,976   2   —   —   —   —   2 
Net deferred tax adjustments
   resulting from the
   Transactions   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (1,241)   —   —   —   (1,241)
Non-controlling interests
related to
   purchase of common units
from
   FAH, LLC   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (147,254)   —   —   147,254   -  
Equity-based compensation
   subsequent to Transactions   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   844   —   —   —   844 
Cumulative translation
adjustment   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   230   —   247   477 
Net income subsequent to the
   Transactions   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   1,041   1,875   2,916 

Period ended December 31, 2017   -   $ -   $ -   $ —  $ -    23,338  $ 2   24,976  $ 2  $ 129,320  $ 802  $ 1,041  $ 149,988  $ 281,155 
Distribution to continuing
equity
  owners   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (20,441)   (20,441)
Equity-based compensation   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —  $ 9,140               9,140 
Shares issued for equity-based
compensation awards   —   —   —   —   —   176   —   —   —   28   —   —   —   28 
Cumulative translation
adjustment,
   net of tax   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (973)   —   (1,047)   (2,020)
Establishment of liabilities
under tax
   receivable agreement and
related
   changes to deferred tax
assets   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   193   —   —   —   193 
Redemption of common units
of
   FAH, LLC   —   —   —   —   —   1,447   —   (1,392)   —   7,727   —   —   (7,727)   — 
Net income   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   9,356   18,955   28,311 

Period ended December 31, 2018   —   —  $ -   $ -   $ -    24,961  $ 2   23,584  $ 2  $ 146,408  $ (171)  $ 10,397  $ 139,728  $ 296,366

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FUNKO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

             
             
             
             
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2018   2017   2016  
      (In thousands)  

Operating Activities             
Net income  $ 28,311   $ 5,600   $ 26,880  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
   operating activities:             

Depreciation and amortization   39,116    31,975    23,509  
Equity-based compensation   9,140    5,574    2,369  
Contingent consideration   —   30    5,503  
Accretion of discount on long-term debt   1,414    3,887    1,150  
Amortization of debt issuance costs   709    534    248  
Loss on debt extinguishment   4,547    5,103    — 
Deferred tax benefit   (903 )   (718 )   — 
Other   4,288    —   — 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:             
Accounts receivable, net   (36,139 )   (28,473 )   (33,624 )
Inventory   (9,389 )   (16,703 )   6,013  
Prepaid expenses and other assets   8,736    (9,737 )   (8,549 )
Accounts payable   (16,375 )   18,998    14,652  
Income taxes payable   2,177    2,268    — 
Accrued royalties   13,072    3,073    7,720  
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   1,287    2,426    3,597  

Net cash provided by operating activities   49,991    23,837    49,468  
             
Investing Activities             

Purchase of property and equipment   (26,866 )   (33,562 )   (21,202 )
Acquisitions, net of cash   (635 )   (31,653 )   (903 )
Net cash used in investing activities   (27,501 )   (65,215 )   (22,105 )

             
Financing Activities             
Borrowings on line of credit   316,390    153,383    57,741  
Payments on line of credit   (307,191 )   (149,311 )   (51,012 )
Proceeds from long-term debt, net   230,011    66,336    47,628  
Payment of long-term debt   (231,338 )   (59,000 )   (7,600 )
Payment of subordinated debt, net   —   (20,000 )   — 
Proceeds from subordinated debt, net   —   20,000    — 
Contingent consideration   (2,500 )   (17,958 )   (36,942 )
Contributions from members   —   5,000    15,000  
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of underwriters
   discount and commissions   —   117,337    — 
Proceeds from issuance of Class B common stock   —   2    — 
Distributions to continuing equity owners   (20,441 )   (72,777 )   (70,428 )
Proceeds from exercise of equity-based options   23    —   — 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   (15,046 )   43,012    (45,613 )
             
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents   (1,686 )   (67 )   — 
             
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   5,758    1,567    (18,250 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   7,728    6,161    24,411  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 13,486   $ 7,728   $ 6,161  

             
Supplemental Cash Flow Information             
Cash paid for interest  $ 19,403   $ 25,360   $ 12,455  
Income tax payments   2,311    —   - 
Accrual for purchases of property and equipment   1,137    1,607    (489 )
Establishment of liabilities under tax receivable agreement   6,771    —   - 
Issuance of Class A units for acquisitions   —   5,313    - 
Issuance of warrants for Class A units in connection with long-term debt   —   5,061    - 
Issuance of warrants for common units in connection with long-term debt   —   665    - 
Reimbursement of management recourse loans   —   773    142  
Tenant allowance   168    —   2,041

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FUNKO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Basis of Presentation and Description of Business

The consolidated financial statements include Funko, Inc. and its subsidiaries (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”) and have been
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). All intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated.

The Company was formed as a Delaware corporation on April 21, 2017. The Company was formed for the purpose of completing an initial public
offering (“IPO”) of its Class A common stock and related transactions in order to carry on the business of Funko Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C.
(“FAH, LLC”) and its subsidiaries. FAH, LLC, a holding company with no operating assets or operations, was formed on September 24, 2015. On
October 30, 2015, ACON Funko Investors, L.L.C. (together with related entities, “ACON”), through FAH, LLC, acquired a controlling interest in
Funko Holdings LLC (“FHL”) (the “ACON Acquisition”), a Delaware limited liability company formed on May 28, 2013, which is also a holding
company with no operating assets or operations. FAH, LLC owns 100% of FHL and FHL owns 100% of Funko, LLC, a limited liability company
formed in the state of Washington, which is its operating entity. Funko, LLC is headquartered in Everett, Washington and is a leading pop culture
consumer products company. Funko, LLC designs, sources, and distributes licensed pop culture products.

On November 6, 2017, the Company completed an IPO of 10,416,666 shares of its Class A common stock at a public offering price of $12.00 per
share (the “IPO”), receiving approximately $117.3 million in net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions, which were
used to purchase 10,416,666 of FAH, LLC’s newly-issued common units at a price per unit equal to the price per share of Class A common stock
sold in the IPO, less underwriting discounts and commissions. The IPO and related reorganization transactions (the “Transactions”) resulted in the
Company being the sole managing member of FAH, LLC. As the sole managing member of FAH, LLC, Funko, Inc. operates and controls all of
FAH, LLC’s operations and, through FAH, LLC and its subsidiaries, conducts FAH, LLC’s business.  Accordingly, the Company consolidates the
financial results of FAH, LLC and reports a non-controlling interest in its consolidated financial statements representing the FAH, LLC interests
held by ACON Funko Investors, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company (“ACON Funko Investors”) and certain of its affiliates, Fundamental
Capital, LLC and Funko International, LLC (collectively, “Fundamental”), and certain current and former executive officers, employees and
directors, in each case, who held profits interests in FAH, LLC and who received common units of FAH, LLC in exchange for their profits interests
in connection with the Transactions (as defined herein) (collectively, the “Original Equity Owners”) and the former holders of warrants to purchase
ownership interests in FAH, LLC, which were converted into common units of FAH, LLC in connection with the Transactions, and, in each case,
each of their permitted transferees that own common units in FAH, LLC and who may redeem at each of their options (subject in certain
circumstances to time-based vesting requirements) their common units for, at the Company’s election, cash or newly-issued shares of the
Company’s Class A common stock (collectively, the “Continuing Equity Owners”).

As the Transactions, discussed further in Note 16, Stockholders’ Equity, are considered transactions between entities under common control, the
financial statements reflect the combined entities for all periods presented.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies

Certain of the significant accounting policies are discussed within the note to which they specifically relate.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from these estimates and assumptions.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents include amounts due from third-party financial institutions for credit and debit card transactions. These receivables typically
settle in less than five days and were $0.1 million for both December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Concentrations of Business and Credit Risk

The Company grants credit to its customers on an unsecured basis. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the balance of accounts receivable
consisted of 10% and 9%, respectively, of amounts owed from the largest customer for the given period. The collection of these receivables has
been within the terms of the associated customer agreement.

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, there was no individual customer that generated net sales over 10%. For the year ended
December 31, 2016, approximately 12% of sales were generated from one customer.     

For the year ended December 31, 2018, 15%, 11% and 10% of sales were related to the Company’s three largest license agreements with no other
license agreements accounting for more than 10% of sales. For the year ended December 31, 2017, there were no license agreements that
accounted for more than 10% of sales. For the year ended December 31, 2016, 15% of sales were related to one license agreement with no other
license agreements accounting for more than 10% of sales.   

The Company maintains its cash within bank deposit accounts at high quality, accredited financial institutions. These amounts at times may
exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any credit losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to
significant credit risk on cash.

Inventory

Inventory consists primarily of figures, plush, accessories and other finished goods, and is accounted for using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”)
method. The Company maintains reserves for excess and obsolete inventories to reflect the inventory balance at the lower of cost or net realizable
value. This valuation requires us to make judgments, based on currently available information, about the likely method of disposition, such as
through sales to customers, or liquidation, and expected recoverable value of each disposition category. The Company estimates obsolescence
based on assumptions regarding future demand. Inventory costs include direct product costs and freight costs.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation, and, if applicable, impairment charges. Depreciation of
property and equipment is recorded using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. The
estimated useful lives of our property and equipment are generally as follows:

Asset  Lives (in years)
Tooling and molds  2
Furniture, fixtures, and warehouse equipment  5 to 7
Computer equipment, software and other  3 to 5
Leasehold improvements  Lesser of useful life or term of lease

 

Revenue Recognition and Sales Allowance

Revenue from the sale of Company products is recognized when control of the goods is transferred to the customer, which is upon shipment or
upon receipt of finished goods by the customer, depending on the contract terms.

The Company routinely enters into arrangements with its customers to provide sales incentives, support customer promotions, and provide
allowances for returns and defective merchandise. These sales adjustments require management to make estimates. In making these estimates,
management considers all available information including the overall business environment, historical trends and information from customers, such
as agreed upon customer contract terms as well as historical experience from the customer. The costs of these programs reduce gross sales in
the period the related sale is recognized. The Company adjusts its estimates at least quarterly or when facts and circumstances used in the
estimate process change; historically these adjustments have not been material.  
 
Amounts received prior to when control of the goods is transferred to the customer are recorded as deferred revenue on the consolidated balance
sheet. Sales terms do not allow for a right of return exception in relation to a manufacturing defect. The Company defers revenue on these
advance payments until its performance obligation is satisfied. Deferred revenue is classified as a current liability when recognition is expected
within 12 months following the balance sheet date. Deferred revenue was $0.3 million and $3.3 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the
changes in deferred revenue were a decrease of $3.0 million, a decrease of $0.5 million and an increase of $0.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  
 
We have elected to account for shipping and handling activities that occur after control of the related good transfers as fulfillment activities instead
of assessing such activities as performance obligations.  Accordingly, shipping and handling activities that are performed by the Company,
whether before or after a customer has obtained control of the products, are considered fulfillment costs to satisfy our performance obligation to
transfer the products, and are recorded as incurred within cost of sales.
 
We have made an accounting policy election to exclude from revenue all taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are both imposed on
and concurrent with a specific revenue-producing transaction and collected by the Company from a customer (for example, sales, use, value-
added, and some excise taxes).  
 
We have elected the practical expedient permitting expensing of costs to obtain a contract when the expected amortization period is one year or
less.

Shipping Revenue and Costs

Shipping and handling costs include inbound freight costs and the cost to ship product to the customer and are included in cost of sales. Shipping
fees billed to customers are included in net sales.

Advertising and Marketing Costs

Advertising and marketing costs are expensed when the advertising or marketing event takes place. These costs include the fees to participate in
trade shows and Comic-Cons, as well as costs to develop promotional video and
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other online content created for advertising purposes. These costs are included in selling, general and administrative expenses and for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $10.1 million, $9.1 million, and $6.8 million, respectively.

The Company enters into cooperative advertising arrangements with customers. The fees related to these arrangements are recorded as a
reduction of net sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations because the Company has determined it does not receive an
identifiable benefit and cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of these arrangements.

Product Design and Development Costs

Product design and development costs are recognized in selling, general and administrative expenses in the statements of operations as incurred.
Product design and development costs for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, were $4.7 million, $4.7 million, and $2.3 million,
respectively.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

Revenue Recognition. In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued a comprehensive new revenue recognition
standard. The new standard allows for a full retrospective approach to transition or a modified retrospective approach. Effective January 1, 2018,
the Company adopted ASU 2014-09 and its related amendments (collectively, the “new revenue standards”) using the modified retrospective
transition method, which was applied to all contracts not completed as of that date. Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018
are presented under the new revenue standards, while prior periods were not adjusted. There was no impact related to the cumulative effect of the
adoption of the new revenue standards on January 1, 2018. The adoption of the new revenue standard did not have any impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements as of or for the year ended December 31, 2018. The Company has applied the practical expedient prescribed in
the new revenue standards and does not evaluate contracts of one year or less for the existence of a significant financing component.

Substantially all of the Company’s revenues continue to be recognized when control of the goods is transferred to the customer, which is upon
shipment or upon receipt of finished goods by the customer, depending on the contract terms. Based on the Company’s analysis of the new
revenue standards, revenue recognition from the sale of finished goods to customers, which represents substantially all of the Company’s
revenues, was not impacted by the adoption of the new revenue standards.
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

Lease Accounting. In February 2016, the FASB issued guidance related to lease accounting that requires the recognition of lease assets and
lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosure of key information about leasing arrangements for leases with a term of more than 12 months.
The standard is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted.  We will adopt the lease standard
and its related amendments on January 1, 2019 with a cumulative adjustment to retained earnings rather than retrospectively adjusting prior
periods.  This will result in a balance sheet presentation that is not comparable to prior periods in the year of adoption. The Company is in the
process of its implementation which includes evaluating its leasing activities and developing its estimate of the right-of-use asset and lease
liability, which is based on the present value of lease payments. To illustrate the magnitude of this change, the amount of our off-balance sheet
operating leases at December 31, 2018 is disclosed in Note 12, Commitments and Contingencies. Beginning on January 1, 2019, our operating
leases, excluding those with terms less than 12 months, will be discounted and recorded as assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance
sheet. The Company does not expect material changes to the recognition of operating lease expenses in its consolidated statements of
operations.  
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Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. In February 2018, the FASB issued new guidance that
allows an entity to elect to reclassify “stranded” tax effects in accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings to address concerns
related to accounting for certain provisions of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”) enacted in December 2017. The guidance is effective for
annual and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact the
adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

3. Acquisitions

In 2017, the Company completed three acquisitions that were accounted for as business combinations by applying the acquisition method of
accounting, where identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognized and measured as of the acquisition
date at fair value and goodwill is calculated as the excess of the purchase price paid over the net assets acquired.

A Large Evil Corporation Limited. On November 28, 2017, the Company acquired all of the outstanding equity of A Large Evil Corporation Limited
(“A Large Evil Corporation Acquisition”), an animation studio based in the United Kingdom. The preliminary purchase consideration included
$3.9 million paid in cash and additional $1.0 million due to the sellers based on certain working capital adjustments and other conditions as per the
agreement. The purchase price allocation was finalized during the third quarter of 2018 and the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed has been finalized.  The finalization of the purchase price allocation resulted in no change from the preliminary estimate. Costs,
such as advisory, legal and accounting fees the Company incurred related to A Large Evil Corporation Acquisition were $0.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017 and are recorded within acquisition transaction costs in the consolidated statements of operations.

The activity of A Large Evil Corporation included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations from the acquisition date to December
31, 2017 was not material.

Loungefly. On June 28, 2017, the Company acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of Loungefly, LLC (“Loungefly”), a designer of licensed
pop culture fashion handbags, small leather goods and accessories (the “Loungefly Acquisition”). The purchase consideration included
$17.9 million paid in cash, which included $1.8 million in transaction fees paid on behalf of the seller, and the issuance of $2.1 million of FAH,
LLC’s Class A units. The Company recorded certain fair value adjustments to Loungefly’s assets and liabilities as of the acquisition date, including
a $1.4 million increase to inventory. The purchase price allocation was finalized during the first quarter of 2018 and the estimated fair value of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed has been finalized. The finalization of purchase price allocation resulted primarily in a reduction of $1.7
million to intangible assets and an increase in goodwill of $1.8 million. Costs, such as advisory, legal, accounting fees and change of control fees,
the Company incurred related to the Loungefly Acquisition were $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, and are recorded within
acquisition transaction costs in the consolidated statements of operations.

The activity of Loungefly included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations from the acquisition date to December 31, 2017 was
net sales of $17.0 million and net income of $2.2 million.

Underground Toys Limited. On January 27, 2017, the Company acquired certain assets of Underground Toys Limited, a manufacturer and
distributor of licensed products based in the United Kingdom (the “Underground Toys Acquisition”). The acquired assets primarily consisted of
inventory and identifiable intangible assets, which are now used by the Company’s newly formed subsidiary Funko UK, Ltd. The purchase
consideration included $12.6 million in cash, the issuance of $3.2 million of FAH, LLC’s Class A units, an additional payment in cash of up to
$2.5 million contingent upon the assignment of certain license agreements and certain working capital adjustments of $1.8 million. The Company
has recorded certain adjustments to the working capital assumed, including a $1.3 million decrease to inventory. The purchase price allocation has
been finalized. Costs, such as advisory, legal, accounting fees and change of control fees incurred by the Company related to the acquisition of
certain assets of Underground Toys Limited were $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, and are recorded within acquisition
transaction costs in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in other income, net on the consolidated statements of operations. Foreign currency
transaction gain, net for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $0.7 million.

Prior to the Underground Toys Acquisition, the Company recognized net sales to Underground Toys Limited of $35.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016. The Company had $14.7 million of accounts receivable attributable to Underground Toys Limited as of December 31, 2016.
The activity of Funko UK, Ltd. included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations from the acquisition date to December 31, 2017
was net sales of $93.4 million and a net income of $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The Company’s U.K. operations are subject
to U.K. income taxes, which were $0.9 million for the period from the acquisition date to December 31, 2017 and are included within income tax
expense on the consolidated statements of operations.

For the acquisitions described above, the Company recorded goodwill amounting to $15.4 million in the aggregate, which relates to a number of
factors, including the future earnings and cash flow potential of the businesses, the multiple to earnings, cash flow and other factors at which
similar businesses have been purchased by other acquirers, the competitive nature of the processes by which the Company acquired the
businesses, the avoidance of the time and costs which would be required (and the associated risks that would be encountered) to enhance its
existing offerings to key target markets and develop new and profitable businesses, and the complimentary strategic fit and resulting expected
synergies to be achieved. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

The purchase consideration for the acquisitions was as follows:
 

  Purchase Consideration  

  Loungefly   
Underground
Toys Limited   

A Large Evil
Corporation

Limited  
  (in thousands)  
Cash paid  $ 16,113  $ 12,554  $ 3,862 
Transaction fees paid (incurred) on behalf of
seller   1,777   —   — 
Working capital adjustment to be paid in cash   635   1,784   1,003 
Fair value of Class A Units issued   2,131   3,182   — 
Fair value of contingent consideration   —   2,470   — 
Purchase consideration  $ 20,656  $ 19,990  $ 4,865

The purchase price allocations for the acquisitions were as follows:
 

  
Assets (Liabilities) Acquired (Assumed) at Fair

Value  

  Loungefly   
Underground
Toys Limited   

A Large Evil
Corporation

Limited  
  (in thousands)  
Cash  $ 1,501  $ —  $ 645 
Accounts receivable   3,315   —   30 
Inventory   2,351   15,263   — 
Other current assets   132   1,122   321 
Property and equipment   214   289   76 
Intangible assets   12,605   6,500   — 
Goodwill   8,428   2,999   4,000 
Current liabilities   (7,890)  (6,183)  (207)
Consideration transferred  $ 20,656  $ 19,990  $ 4,865
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The following table summarizes the estimated identifiable intangible assets acquired in connection with the transactions described above and their
estimated useful lives:
 

  
Estimated Fair Value of

Assets Acquired    

  Loungefly   
Underground
Toys Limited   

Estimated
Useful Life  

  (in thousands)   (Years)  
Intangible asset type:             
Customer relationships  $ 2,015  $ 3,700   10 
Licensor relationships   8,590   2,500   10 
Trade name   2,000   —   10 
Supplier relationships   —   300   2 
Intangible assets  $ 12,605  $ 6,500    
 

4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the net amount of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination measured at fair value. The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment annually on October 1 of each year and upon the occurrence
of triggering events or substantive changes in circumstances that could indicate a potential impairment by assessing qualitative factors or
performing a quantitative analysis in determining whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the net assets is below their carrying
amounts.

No impairment charges relating to goodwill were recorded in the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

The following table presents the balances of goodwill as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands).
 

  Goodwill  
Balance as of January 1, 2017  $ 97,453 
Acquisitions   13,654 
Foreign currency remeasurement   (205)
Balance as of December 31, 2017  $ 110,902 
Measurement period adjustment   1,773 
Foreign currency remeasurement   143 
Balance as of December 31, 2018  $ 112,818
 
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognized separately from goodwill and are initially recognized at their fair value at the
acquisition date. Intangible assets acquired include intellectual property (product design), customer relationships, and trade names. These are
definite-lived assets and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets might not be recoverable. Conditions that would necessitate
an impairment assessment include a significant decline in the observable market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in
which an asset is used, or any other significant adverse change that would indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets may
not be recoverable. No impairment charges relating to intangible assets were recorded in the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.
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The following table provides the details of identified intangible assets, by major class, for the periods indicated (in thousands):
 

    December 31, 2018   December 31, 2017  

  

Estimated
Useful Life

(Years)  

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   

Intangible
Assets,

Net   

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   

Intangible
Assets,

Net  
Intangible assets subject to amortization:                           
Intellectual property  20 $ 114,411  $ (18,115)  $ 96,296  $ 114,411  $ (12,395)  $ 102,016 
Trade names  10 - 20  83,358   (13,182)   70,176   83,468   (9,375)   74,093 
Customer relationships  10 - 20  68,891   (11,053)   57,838   68,060   (7,268)   60,792 
Licensor relationships  10 - 20  11,122   (1,790)   9,332   13,908   (341)   13,567 
Supplier relationships  2  304   (301)   3   322   (141)   181 
Total    $ 278,086  $ (44,441)  $ 233,645  $ 280,169  $ (29,520)  $ 250,649
 
Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $15.0 million, $14.4 million, and $12.9 million, respectively.
The future five-year amortization of intangibles subject to amortization at December 31, 2018 was as follows (in thousands):
 

  Amortization  
2019  $ 14,848 
2020   14,836 
2021   14,836 
2022   14,836 
2023   14,836 
Thereafter   159,453 
Total  $ 233,645
 

5. Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable, net, primarily represent customer receivables, recorded at invoiced amount, net of a sales allowance and an allowance for
doubtful accounts. An allowance for doubtful accounts is determined based on various factors, including specific identification of balances at risk
for not being collected, historical experience and existing economic conditions. Receivables are written-off when all reasonable collection efforts
have been exhausted and it is probable the balance will not be collected.

Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2018   2017  

Accounts receivable  $ 151,676  $ 119,333 
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts   (3,049)  (3,855)
Accounts receivable, net  $ 148,627  $ 115,478
 
Accounts receivable includes a $0.2 million and $2.0 million tenant improvement receivable from a lessor as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The remaining balance is customer receivables. Bad debt expense was $1.9 million, $5.5 million and $2.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Activity in our allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows:
 

  December 31,  
  2018   2017  

Allowance for doubtful accounts - beginning  $ 3,855  $ 2,735 
Charged to costs and other   1,908   5,457 
Write offs   (2,714)  (4,337)
Allowance for doubtful accounts - ending  $ 3,049  $ 3,855
 

6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2018   2017  

Prepaid deposits for inventory and molds  $ 2,138  $ 10,916 
Prepaid royalties, net   5,465   6,391 
Other prepaid expenses and current assets   4,301   4,420 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 11,904  $ 21,727
 

7. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2018   2017  

Tooling and molds  $ 70,368  $ 50,125 
Leasehold improvements   18,366   14,894 
Computer equipment, software and other   8,401   5,628 
Furniture, fixtures and warehouse equipment   8,868   7,282 
Construction in progress   97   363 

  $ 106,100  $ 78,292 
Less: Accumulated depreciation   (61,804)  (37,854)
Property and equipment, net  $ 44,296  $ 40,438
 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $24.1 million, $17.6 million, and $10.6 million, respectively.
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8. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2018   2017  

Accrued payroll and compensation  $ 11,138  $ 8,209 
Deferred revenue   306   3,283 
Accrued shipping & freight costs   3,628   3,235 
Acquisition related current liabilities   -   3,685 
Accrued sales taxes   673   248 
Deferred rent   429   389 
Current liabilities under tax receivable agreement   266   - 
Other current liabilities   11,181   7,983 
Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities  $ 27,621  $ 27,032
 

9. Fair Value Measurements

The Company’s financial instruments, other than those discussed below, include cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued
liabilities. The carrying amount of these financial instruments approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. For
financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value according to a
three-tier fair value hierarchy defined by U.S. GAAP. These tiers include Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active
markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined
as unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability.

Contingent Consideration. The Company measures contingent consideration obligations at the acquisition date of a business combination, and at
each balance sheet date, at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in its consolidated statements of operations. Fair value is measured
using the discounted cash flow method and based on assumptions the Company believes would be made by a market participant. Significant
market inputs used to determine fair value as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 included probabilities of the likelihood of assignment of license
agreements and successful achievement of the EBITDA threshold that would trigger contingent purchase consideration, the timing of when the
payments will be made, and the discount rate. Significant changes to these assumptions would result in a significantly lower or higher fair value
measurement. The valuation represents a Level 3 measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

The Company recorded $54.9 million in contingent consideration which represented the fair value at the time of the ACON Acquisition,
$40.0 million of which was paid out during the year ended December 31, 2016, and the remaining $25.0 million of which was paid out during the
year ended December 31, 2017. The Company recorded an estimated $2.5 million in contingent consideration at the time the Company acquired
Underground Toys Limited. The fair value of contingent consideration related to the acquisition of Underground Toys Limited was $0.0 million and
$2.5 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

100
 



The following table sets forth the fair value and a summary of changes to the fair value of these Level 3 financial liabilities (in thousands):
 

  
Contingent

Consideration  
Balance at December 31, 2016  $ 25,000 

Additions   2,470 
Payments   (25,000)
Changes in fair value   30 

Balance at December 31, 2017  $ 2,500 
Payments   (2,500)

Balance at December 31, 2018  $ -
 
Changes in fair value reflect changes to the Company’s assumptions regarding probabilities of the likelihood of assignment of license agreements
and successful achievement of the earnings-based metrics, the timing of when the payment will be made, and the discount rate used to estimate
the fair value of the obligation, and are recorded within selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Debt. The estimated fair values of the Company’s debt instruments, which are classified as Level 3 financial instruments, at December 31, 2018
and 2017, was approximately $252.1 million and $239.2 million, respectively. The carrying values of the Company’s debt instruments at December
31, 2018 and 2017, were $247.3 million and $233.9 million, respectively. The estimated fair value of the Company’s debt instruments primarily
reflects assumptions regarding credit spreads for similar floating-rate instruments with similar terms and maturities and our standalone credit risk.

10. Debt

Debt consists of the following (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2018   2017  

Former Revolving Credit Facility  $ —  $ 10,801 
New Revolving Credit Facility   20,000   — 
         
Former Term Loan A Facility   —   228,400 
New Term Loan Facility   232,063   — 
Debt issuance costs   (4,766)  (5,302)
Total term debt   227,297   223,098 
Less: current portion   10,593   7,928 
Long-term debt, net  $ 216,704  $ 215,170
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Maturities of long-term debt for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows (in thousands):

 

  
New Term

Loan Facility  
2019  $ 11,750 
2020   14,688 
2021   23,500 
2022   24,969 
2023   157,156 
Thereafter   — 
Total  $ 232,063
 

Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities

In October 2015, the Company entered into a credit agreement which provided for the $175.0 million Term Loan A Facility and the Revolving Credit
Facility, including a $3.0 million subfacility for the issuance of letters of credit. On September 8, 2016, the Company entered into an amendment to
the credit agreement which, among other things, increased borrowings under the Term Loan A Facility by $50.0 million and changed the interest
rate applicable to the Revolving Credit Facility. On January 17, 2017, the Company entered into an amendment to its credit agreement which
provided for, among other things, an additional $50.0 million Term Loan B Facility, providing for interest rate options that can be chosen by the
Company and an increase in commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility to $80.0 million.     

In June 2017, the Company entered into additional amendments to its credit agreement to, among other things, (1) permit the Company to enter
into certain subordinated loan documents, and (2) increase borrowings under the Term Loan A Facility by $20.0 million, increase commitments
under the Revolving Credit Facility to $100.0 million and make certain changes to certain covenants and definitions. Proceeds from the additional
Term Loan A Facility borrowings were used to fund a portion of the purchase price for the Loungefly Acquisition and to pay related fees and
expenses.

In November 2017, all of the outstanding aggregate principal balance and accrued interest of $46.1 million on the Company’s Term Loan B Facility
was repaid in connection with the IPO, and the Company recorded a $5.1 million loss on debt extinguishment as a result of the write-off of
unamortized discount.

On March 7, 2018, the Company entered into an amendment to its credit agreement which provides for, among other things, (i) a $13.0 million
prepayment of the amounts owing under the Term Loan A Facility on the effective date of the amendment, with no changes in the amount of future
amortization payments, (ii) a reduction in the interest rate margins (a) for the Term Loan A Facility, from 6.25% to 5.50% for base rate loans and
7.25% to 6.50% for LIBOR rate loans and (b) for the Revolving Credit Facility, from 2.50% to 1.75% for LIBOR rate loans, (iii) a 1% prepayment
premium on prepayments under both the Term Loan A Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility for 180 days after the effective date of the
amendment, and (iv) a $20.0 million increase to the borrowing base under the Revolving Credit Facility, so long as no loan party formed under the
laws of England and Wales or Funko UK, Ltd. incurs secured indebtedness for borrowed money.

The Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities were collateralized by substantially all of the assets of, and the equity interests held by, the borrowers
and any subsidiary guarantor that may become party to the credit agreement in the future, subject to certain exceptions. The Former Senior
Secured Credit Facilities also contained certain financial and restrictive covenants. As of December 31, 2017 the Company was in compliance with
all covenants under the Former Senior Secured Credit Facilities.

In November 2017, all of the then outstanding aggregate principal balance and accrued interest of $55.6 million was repaid on the Revolving Credit
Facility in connection with the IPO. The Company had $10.8 million of borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility as of
December 31, 2017.  
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New Credit Facilities 

On October 22, 2018 (the “Closing Date”), the Company entered into a new credit agreement providing for the New Term Loan Facility in the
amount of $235.0 million and the New Revolving Credit Facility of $50.0 million.  On February 11, 2019, the Company amended the New Credit
Facilities to increase the New Revolving Credit Facility to $75.0 million.

Upon closing, proceeds from the New Credit Facilities were primarily used to repay all of the outstanding aggregate principal balance and accrued
interest of $209.6 million on the previous Term Loan A Facility and $65.3 million on the previous Revolving Credit Facility.  Upon repayment, both
the previous Term Loan A Facility and the previous Revolving Credit Facility were terminated.

The New Term Loan Facility matures on October 22, 2023 (the “Maturity Date”).  The New Term Loan Facility amortizes in quarterly installments in
aggregate amounts equal to 5.00% of the original principal amount of the New Term Loan Facility in the first and second years of the New Term
Loan Facility, 10.00% of the original principal amount of the New Term Loan Facility in the third and fourth years of the New Term Loan Facility
and 12.50% of the original principal amount of the New Term Loan Facility in the fifth year of the New Term Loan Facility, with any outstanding
balance due and payable on the Maturity Date.  The first amortization payment was on December 31, 2018.  The New Revolving Credit Facility
terminates on the Maturity Date and loans thereunder may be borrowed, repaid, and reborrowed up to such date.

Loans under the New Credit Facilities bear interest, at the Company’s option, at either the Euro-Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus
3.25% or the Base Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 2.25%, with two 0.25% step-downs based on the achievement of certain
leverage ratios following the Closing Date. The Euro-Rate is subject to a 0.00% floor. For loans based on the Euro-Rate, interest payments are due
at the end of each applicable interest period. For loans based on the Base Rate, interest payments are due quarterly.

The New Credit Facilities are secured by substantially all assets of the Company and any of its existing or future material domestic subsidiaries,
subject to customary exceptions.  As of December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with all of the covenants in our New Credit Facilities.

Under certain circumstances described in the Credit Agreement, the Company may increase the New Credit Facilities in an aggregate amount not
to exceed $25.0 million.  At December 31, 2018, the Company had $232.1 million and $20.0 million of borrowings outstanding under the New Term
Loan Facility and New Revolving Credit Facility, respectively.  

There were no outstanding letters of credit as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Subordinated Promissory Notes

On June 26, 2017, FAH, LLC issued promissory notes payable to certain of its members, including several members of management and its
majority owner, in the aggregate principal amount of $20.0 million (the “Subordinated Promissory Notes”). Borrowings under the Subordinated
Promissory Notes accrued interest at a rate equal to 11.0% per year for the first 90 days after their effective date, increasing to 13.0% per year 91
days after such effective date and 15.0% per year 181 days after such effective date. Proceeds from the Subordinated Promissory Notes were
used to finance a portion of the contingent consideration related to the ACON Acquisition that was paid out during the year ended December 31,
2017.  

In November 2017, all of the outstanding aggregate principal balance and accrued interest on the Subordinated Promissory Notes of $20.9 million
was repaid in connection with Funko, Inc.’s IPO.
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11. Income Taxes

 
Income before income taxes consisted of (in thousands):
 

             
             
             
             
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2018   2017   2016  

Domestic  $ 24,841  $ 4,471  $ 26,880 
Foreign   8,337   2,669   — 
Income before income taxes  $ 33,178  $ 7,140  $ 26,880
 
Income Tax Expense

Funko, Inc. is taxed as a corporation and pays corporate federal, state and local taxes on income allocated to it from FAH, LLC based upon
Funko, Inc’s economic interest held in FAH, LLC. FAH, LLC is treated as a pass-through partnership for income tax reporting purposes. FAH,
LLC’s members, including the Company, are liable for federal, state and local income taxes based on their share of FAH, LLC’s pass-through
taxable income. The results for the year ended December 31, 2017 reflect the U.K. Corporation Tax attributable to Funko UK, Ltd., but do not
reflect the U.S. tax expense of FAH, LLC prior to the IPO, which as a pass-through entity, was not subject to U.S. income tax.

The components of the Company’s income tax expense consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

             
             
             
             
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2018   2017   2016  

Current income taxes:             
Federal  $ 3,526  $ 941  $ — 
State and local   486   365   — 
Foreign   1,758   952   — 
Current income taxes  $ 5,770  $ 2,258  $ — 
Deferred income taxes:             
Federal  $ (819)  $ (651)   — 
State and local   (70)   (16)   — 
Foreign   (14)   (51)   — 
Deferred income taxes  $ (903)  $ (718)  $ — 
Income tax expense  $ 4,867  $ 1,540  $ —
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A reconciliation of income tax expense from operations computed at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the Company’s effective income
tax rate is as follows:
 

              
              
              
              
   Year Ended December 31,  

   2018   2017   2016  
Expected U.S. federal income taxes
   at statutory rate    21.0%  34.0%  34.0%
State and local income taxes, net of
   federal benefit    1.0%  4.6%  0.0%
Foreign taxes    4.7%  12.6%  0.0%
Non-deductible expenses    2.6%  1.7%  0.0%
Enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs
   Act    0.0%   65.7%   0.0%
Change in valuation allowance    0.0%   -70.3%     
Non-controlling interest    -12.5%   -9.6%   0.0%
LLC flow-through structure    0.0%   -17.1%   -34.0%
Other, net    -2.1%   0.0%     
Income tax expense    14.7%  21.6%  0.0%
 
Our effective income tax rate for 2018 and 2017 was 14.7% and 21.6%, respectively. The Company’s annual effective tax rate in 2018 and 2017
was less than the statutory rate of 21% and 34%, respectively, primarily because the Company is not liable for income taxes on the portion of
FAH, LLC’s earnings that are attributable to non-controlling interests. In addition, the 2017 effective tax rate was impacted by the Tax Act and LLC
flow through structure. The Tax Act reduces the U.S. federal corporate tax rate to 21%, which negatively impacted our effective tax rate by
reducing our deferred tax assets. The non-controlling interest benefited our effective tax rate by reducing our allocable share of taxable income
subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. In 2017, the LLC flow-through structure benefited our effective tax rate as prior to the IPO we
were subject to certain LLC entity-level taxes and foreign taxes but generally not subject to entity-level U.S. federal income taxes.

Deferred Income Taxes

The significant items comprising deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows (in thousands):
 

  December 31,  
  2018   2017  

Deferred tax assets:         
Investment in partnership  $ 18,229  $ 13,403 
Tax Receivable Agreement liability   1,544     
Stock-based compensation   456   85 
Intangibles   —   151 
Property and equipment   10   — 
Other   51   — 
Gross deferred tax assets   20,290   13,639 
Valuation allowance   (8,803)   (8,862)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance   11,487   4,777 
Deferred tax liabilities:         
Investment in partnership   (4,146)   (5,290)
Property and equipment   —   (24)
Gross deferred tax liabilities   (4,146)   (5,314)
Net deferred tax liabilities  $ 7,341  $ (537)
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As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company did not have any federal or state net operating loss carryforwards for income tax purposes.

The Company evaluates its ability to realize deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis and establishes a valuation allowance when it is more likely
than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset may not be realized.  As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized a deferred
tax asset of $18.2 million and $13.4 million, respectively, associated with the basis difference in its investment in FAH, LLC upon acquiring these
LLC interests. However, a portion of the total basis difference will only reverse upon the eventual sale of its interest in FAH, LLC, which we expect
would result in a capital loss. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company established a valuation allowance in the amount of $8.8 million
and $8.9 million, respectively, against the deferred tax asset.

Accounting for the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

In December 2017, the Tax Act was passed. The Tax Act changed existing U.S. tax law, including U.S. corporate tax rates, business-related
exclusions, and deductions and credits. The SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 to address situations where the accounting under ASC
Topic 740 is incomplete for certain income tax effects of the Tax Act upon issuance of an entity’s financial statements for the reporting period in
which the Tax Act was enacted.

The accounting for the income tax effects of the Tax Act has been completed. The significant impacts from the Tax Act are primarily due to the
lower U.S. federal corporate tax rate of 21%. The impact to the consolidated statement of operations was an additional $4.6 million of income tax
expense recorded for the year ended December 31, 2017. This expense reflects the revaluation of our net deferred tax assets based on a U.S.
federal corporate tax rate of 21%. No adjustments were made in 2018 to provisional amounts recorded in 2017 related to the Tax Act.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company regularly evaluates the likelihood of realizing the benefit from income tax positions that we have taken in various federal, state and
foreign filings by considering all relevant facts, circumstances and information available. If the Company determines it is more likely than not that
the position will be sustained, a benefit will be recognized at the largest amount that we believe is cumulatively greater than 50% likely to be
realized. Interest and penalties related to income tax matters are classified as a component of income tax expense. Unrecognized tax benefits are
recorded in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. We had no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2018.

Other Matters

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is subject to U.S.
federal, state, and local income tax examinations by tax authorities for years after 2014 and subject to examination for all foreign income tax
returns for fiscal 2017 and 2018. There were no open tax examinations at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Tax Receivable Agreement

On November 1, 2017, the Company entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with FAH, LLC and each of the Continuing Equity Owners that
provides for the payment by the Company to the Continuing Equity Owners of 85% of the amount of tax benefits, if any, that it realizes, or in some
circumstances, is deemed to realize, as a result of (i) future redemptions funded by the Company or exchanges, or deemed exchanges in certain
circumstances, of common units for Class A common stock or cash, and (ii) certain additional tax benefits attributable to payments made under
the Tax Receivable Agreement. FAH, LLC intends to have in effect an election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code effective for each
taxable year in which a redemption or exchange (including deemed exchange) of common units for cash or stock occurs. These tax benefit
payments are not conditioned upon one or more of the Continuing Equity Owners maintaining a continued ownership interest in FAH, LLC. In
general, the Continuing Equity Owners’ rights under the Tax Receivable Agreement are assignable, including to transferees of common units in
FAH, LLC (other than the Company as transferee pursuant to a redemption or exchange of

106
 



common units in FAH, LLC). The Company expects to benefit from the remaining 15% of the tax benefits, if any, that the Company may realize.

During year ended December 31, 2018, the Company acquired an aggregate of 1.4 million common units of FAH, LLC in connection with the
redemption of common units, which resulted in an increase in the tax basis of our investment in FAH, LLC subject to the provisions of the Tax
Receivable Agreement.  As a result of these exchanges, during the year ended December 31, 2018 the Company recognized an increase to its net
deferred tax assets in the amount of $7.0 million, and corresponding Tax Receivable Agreement liabilities of $6.8 million, representing 85% of the
tax benefits due to the Continuing Equity Owners.  

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company did not have any obligations recorded under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

The following table summarizes the Company’s future minimum commitments as of December 31, 2018 (in thousands):
 

  2019   2020   2021   2022   2023   Thereafter   Total  
Long term debt and related
   interest (1)  $ 24,513  $ 26,825  $ 34,532  $ 34,683  $ 164,080  $ —  $ 284,633 
Operating leases   12,279   11,634   8,169   4,615   4,774   13,287   54,758 
Minimum royalty obligations (2)   4,684   2,383   159   —   —   —   7,226 
New Revolving Credit Facility (3)   20,000   —   —   —   —   —   20,000 
Total  $ 61,476  $ 40,842  $ 42,860  $ 39,298  $ 168,854  $ 13,287  $ 366,617
 
(1) We estimated interest payments through the maturity of our New Credit Facilities by applying the effective interest rate of 5.53% in effect

as of December 31, 2018 under our Term Loan A Facility. See Note 10, Debt.
(2) Represents minimum guaranteed royalty payments under licensing arrangements.
(3) Represents the amount owed as of December 31, 2018 under our New Revolving Credit Facility.

License Agreements

The Company enters into license agreements with various licensors of copyrighted and trademarked characters and design in connection with the
products that it sells. The agreements generally require royalty payments based on product sales and in some cases may require minimum royalty
and other related commitments.

In January 2019, we renewed our licensing agreements with Disney and its controlled affiliates, LucasFilm and Marvel. As of December 31, 2018,
we recorded a $2.0 million consent fee under our existing licensing agreements with Disney, which we subsequently paid.

Employment Agreements

The Company has employment agreements with certain officers. The agreements include, among other things, an annual bonus based on certain
performance metrics of the Company, as defined by the board, and up to one year’s severance pay beyond termination date.
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Debt

The Company has entered into a credit agreement which includes a term loan facility and a revolving credit facility. See Note 10, Debt.

Leases

The Company has entered into non-cancellable operating leases for office, warehouse, and distribution facilities, with original lease periods expiring
through 2027. Some operating leases also contain the option to renew for five-year periods at prevailing market rates at the time of renewal. In
addition to minimum rent, certain of the leases require payment of real estate taxes, insurance, common area maintenance charges, and other
executory costs. Differences between rent expense and rent paid is recorded as deferred rent on the consolidated balance sheets. For certain
leases we receive tenant improvement allowances and record those as deferred rent on the consolidated balance sheets and amortize the tenant
improvement allowances on a straight-line basis over the lease term as a reduction of rent expense. Rent expense, net of sublease income, was
$11.7 million, $6.1 million, and $3.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Liabilities under Tax Receivable Agreement

As discussed in Note 11, Income Taxes, the Company is party to the Tax Receivable Agreement with FAH, LLC and each of the Continuing
Equity Owners that provides for the payment by the Company to the Continuing Equity Owners of 85% of the amount of tax benefits, if any, that it
realizes, or in some circumstances, is deemed to realize, as a result of (i) future redemptions funded by the Company or exchanges, or deemed
exchanges in certain circumstances, of common units for Class A common stock or cash, and (ii) certain additional tax benefits attributable to
payments made under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

The Company is not obligated to make any payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement until the tax benefits associated with the transaction
that gave rise to the payment are realized. Amounts payable under the Tax Receivable Agreement are contingent upon, among other things, (i) the
generation of future taxable income over the term of the Tax Receivable Agreement and (ii) future changes in tax laws. If the Company does not
generate sufficient taxable income in the aggregate over the term of the Tax Receivable Agreement to utilize the tax benefits, then it would not be
required to make the related Tax Receivable Agreement payments. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recognized an
additional liability in the amount of $6.8 million for the payments due to the redeeming members under the Tax Receivable Agreement,
representing 85% of the aggregate tax benefits we expect to realize from the tax basis increases related to the redemption of FAH, LLC common
units, after concluding it was probable that such Tax Receivable Agreement payments would be paid in the future based on our estimate of future
taxable income. The Company did not record any liabilities for the Tax Receivable Agreement during the year ended December 31, 2017.

There were no payments made pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s total obligation under the Tax Receivable Agreement, including accrued interest, was $6.8 million, of
which $0.3 million was included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities, and $6.5 million was included in Deferred rent and other long-
term liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. There were no transactions subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement for which the
Company did not recognize the related liability, as we concluded that it was probable that the Company would have sufficient future taxable
income to utilize all of the related tax benefits.

Legal Contingencies

The Company is involved in claims and litigation in the ordinary course of business, some of which seek monetary damages, including claims for
punitive damages, which are not covered by insurance. For certain pending matters, accruals have not been established because such matters
have not progressed sufficiently through discovery, and/or development of important factual information and legal information is insufficient to
enable the Company to estimate a range of possible loss, if any. An adverse determination in one or more of these pending matters could have an
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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We are, and may in the future become, subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in or outside the ordinary course of business.
For example, on November 16, 2017, a purported stockholder of the Company filed a putative class action lawsuit in the Superior Court of
Washington in and for King County against us, certain of our officers and directors, and the underwriters of our IPO, entitled Robert Lowinger v.
Funko, Inc., et. al. In January and March 2018, five additional putative class action lawsuits were filed in Washington state court, four in the
Superior Court of Washington in and for King County and one in the Superior Court of Washington in and for Snohomish County. Two of the King
County lawsuits, Surratt v. Funko, Inc. et. al. (filed on January 16, 2018) and Baskin v. Funko, Inc. et. al. (filed on January 30, 2018), were filed
against us and certain of our officers and directors. The other two King County lawsuits, The Ronald and Maxine Linde Foundation v. Funko, Inc.
et. al. (filed on January 18, 2018) and Lovewell v. Funko, Inc. et. al (filed on March 27, 2018), were filed against us, certain of our officers and
directors, ACON, Fundamental and certain other defendants. The Snohomish County lawsuit, Berkelhammer v. Funko, Inc. et. al. (filed on March
13, 2018), was filed against us, certain of our officers and directors, and ACON. On May 8, 2018, the Berkelhammer action was voluntarily
dismissed, and on May 15, 2018 a substantially similar action was filed by the same plaintiff in the Superior Court of Washington in and for King
County.  On April 2, 2018, a putative class action lawsuit Jacobs v. Funko, Inc. et. al was filed in the United States District Court for the Western
District of Washington against the Company, certain of its officers and directors, and certain other defendants. On May 21, 2018 the Jacobs action
was voluntarily dismissed, and on June 12, 2018 a substantially similar action was filed by the same plaintiff in the Superior Court of Washington
in and for King County.

On July 2, 2018, all of the above-referenced suits were ordered consolidated for all purposes into one action under the title In re Funko, Inc.
Securities Litigation in the Superior Court of Washington in and for King County. On August 1, 2018, plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint
against the Company, certain of its officers and directors, ACON, Fundamental, and certain other defendants. On October 1, 2018, we moved to
dismiss that action. Plaintiffs filed their opposition to our motion to dismiss on October 31, 2018, and we filed our reply to plaintiffs’ opposition on
November 30, 2018.

Additionally, on June 4, 2018, a putative class action lawsuit Kanugonda v. Funko, et al. was filed in the United States District Court for the
Western District of Washington against the Company, certain of its officers and directors, and certain other defendants. On January 4, 2019, a
lead plaintiff was appointed in that case.

The complaints in both state and federal court allege that we violated Sections 11, 12, and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, by
making allegedly materially misleading statements and by omitting material facts necessary to make the statements made therein not misleading.
The lawsuits seek, among other things, compensatory statutory damages and rescissory damages in account of the consideration paid for our
Class A common stock by plaintiff and members of the putative class, as well as attorneys’ fees and costs. The Company believes it has
meritorious defenses to the claims of the plaintiff and members of the class and any liability for the alleged claims is not currently probable or
reasonably estimable.         

13. Segments

The Company identifies its reportable segments according to how the business activities are managed and evaluated and for which discrete
financial information is available and for which is regularly reviewed by its Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) to allocate resources and
assess performance. Because its CODM reviews financial performance and allocates resources at a consolidated level on a regular basis, it has
one reportable segment. The following table is a summary of product categories as a percent of sales:
 

             
  Year ended December 31,  
  2018   2017   2016  

Figures   81.6%   81.8%   82.0%
Other   18.4%   18.2%   18.0%
 
The following tables present summarized geographical information (in thousands):
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  Year ended December 31,  
  2018   2017   2016  

Net sales:             
United States  $ 466,044  $ 376,087  $ 352,436 
International   220,029   139,997   74,281 
Total net sales  $ 686,073  $ 516,084  $ 426,717
 
  December 31,  
  2018   2017  
Long-lived assets:         
United States  $ 23,781  $ 24,637 
China and Vietnam   20,662   18,865 
United Kingdom   4,128   1,194 
Total long-lived assets  $ 48,571  $ 44,696
 

14. Related Party Transactions

Members’ Equity Contribution

On June 26, 2017, the Company issued 5,000 Class A units in exchange for a contribution of $5.0 million from several members of management
and ACON. As a result of this issuance, the Company recorded equity-based compensation expense in the consolidated statements of operations
of $2.2 million.

ACON Equity Management Agreement

On October 31, 2015, the Company entered into a management services agreement with ACON Equity Management, L.L.C. (“ACON Equity
Management”), which requires payment of a monitoring fee equal to the greater of (1) $500,000 and (2) 2% prior year Adjusted EBITDA, up to a
maximum fee of $2.0 million. Pursuant to the management services agreement, Funko, LLC also agreed to pay ACON Equity Management a one-
time advisory fee of $2.0 million, and agreed to reimburse ACON Equity Management for certain costs and expenses in connection with ACON
Equity Management’s performance under the agreement. In connection with the IPO, on November 6, 2017, the management fee agreement
terminated. ACON Equity Management waived the $5.8 million termination fee.

The Company had no management fees for the year ended December 31, 2018.  The Company recognized $1.7 million and $1.5 million in
management fees for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. These fees are recorded within selling, general and
administrative expenses. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no amounts due to ACON Equity Management.

In addition, the Company recorded an expense for ACON Equity Management’s reimbursable expenses totaling $0.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016.

Promissory and Subordinated Promissory Notes

In October 2015, the Company entered into subscription agreements with several members of management (the “Purchasers”) to purchase FAH,
LLC Class A units having an aggregate purchase price of $0.9 million. Funko, LLC entered into a secured promissory note with each Purchaser in
an amount equal to the purchase price of the Class A units purchased by such individual. Amounts outstanding under the promissory notes were
collateralized by all direct or indirect ownership interests of the Purchasers in FAH, LLC. The promissory notes had an 8% interest rate
compounded on an annual basis, and were recorded as a non-cash transaction within members’ equity. The Company recognized interest on a
cash basis when principal payments were made, and recorded a nominal amount of interest income for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016. On October 5, 2017, outstanding aggregate principal and accrued interest of $0.2 million was forgiven for certain of FAH, LLC’s officers and
executives. The remaining promissory notes were repaid as part of the reorganization Transactions, as defined below in “Reorganization
Transactions.”
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See discussion of the Subordinated Promissory Notes in Note 10, Debt. The Subordinated Promissory Notes were repaid in November 2017, with
proceeds from the IPO.

Other Agreements

In June 2017, in connection with the Loungefly Acquisition, the Company assumed a lease for the Loungefly headquarters and warehouse
operations with 20310 Plummer Street LLC and entered into a global sourcing agreement with Sure Star Development Ltd. Both entities are owned
by certain of the Company’s employees, who were the former owners of Loungefly. For the period from January 1, 2018 through July 12, 2018 and
for the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded $0.2 million and $0.2 million in rental expense related to the lease, which was
recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. At December 31 2017, the
aggregate amount owed to Plummer Street and Sure Star was $5.7 million and was recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheet.

The Company sells products to Forbidden Planet, a U.K. retailer through its wholly owned subsidiary Funko UK, Ltd. One of the investors in
Forbidden Planet is an employee of Funko UK, Ltd. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded approximately $5.1
million and $4.2 million, respectively, in net sales from business with Forbidden Planet. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, accounts receivable from
Forbidden Planet were $0.8 million and $0.5 million on the consolidated balance sheet, respectively.

15. Employee Benefit Plans

We currently maintain the Funko 401(k) Plan, a defined contribution retirement and savings plan, for the benefit of our employees, including our
named executive officers, who satisfy certain eligibility requirements. Our named executive officers are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan on
the same terms as other full-time employees. The Code allows eligible employees to defer a portion of their compensation, within prescribed limits,
on a pre-tax basis through contributions to the 401(k) Plan. Currently, we match contributions made by participants in the 401(k) Plan up to 4% of
the employee earnings, and these matching contributions are fully vested as of the date on which the contribution is made. We believe that
providing a vehicle for tax-deferred retirement savings though our 401(k) Plan, and making fully vested matching contributions, adds to the overall
desirability of our executive compensation package and further incentivizes our employees, including our named executive officers, in accordance
with our compensation policies.  The Company’s employer matching contributions were $1.1 million, $0.7 million and $0.2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

16. Stockholders’ Equity

In connection with the Company’s IPO, the Company’s board of directors approved an amended and restated certificate of incorporation (the
“Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation”), which became effective on November 1, 2017. The Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 200,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, up to 50,000,000 shares of Class B common stock
and 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock, each having a par value of $0.0001 per share. Shares of Class A common stock have both economic
and voting rights. Shares of Class B common stock have no economic rights, but do have voting rights. Holders of shares of Class A common
stock and Class B common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters presented to stockholders. The Company’s board of directors
has the discretion to determine the rights, preferences, privileges, restrictions and liquidation preferences of any series of preferred stock.

Reorganization Transactions

On November 1, 2017, in connection with the completion of the IPO, the Company completed a series of reorganization Transactions. The
Transactions included the following:

 • The amendment and restatement of the existing FAH, LLC limited liability company agreement (the “FAH LLC Agreement”) to,
among other things, (i) convert all existing ownership interests (including vested profits interests and all unvested profits interests
and existing warrants to purchase ownership interests in FAH, LLC) into common units of FAH, LLC (subject to common units
received in exchange for unvested profits interests remaining subject to time-based vesting requirements), and (ii) appoint
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 the Company as FAH, LLC’s sole managing member upon its acquisition of common units in connection with the IPO;

 • The amendment and restatement of the Company’s certificate of incorporation to, among other things, provide (i) for Class A
common stock, with each share of Class A common stock entitling its holders to one vote per share on all matters presented to
stockholders generally and (ii) for Class B common stock, with each share of Class B common stock entitling its holders to one vote
per share on all matters presented to stockholders generally and that shares of Class B common stock may only be held by the
Continuing Equity Owners and their permitted transferees;

 • Certain funds affiliated with ACON Funko Investors (the “Former Equity Owners”) exchanged their indirect ownership interests in
common units of FAH, LLC for 12,921,039 shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis; and

 • The Company entered into (i) a stockholders’ agreement with ACON Funko Investors and the Former Equity Owners, Fundamental
Capital, LLC and Funko International, LLC (collectively, “Fundamental”) and Brian Mariotti, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer,
(ii) a registration rights agreement with certain of the Original Equity Owners (including each of the Company’s executive officers),
and (iii) a tax receivable agreement (the “Tax Receivable Agreement”) with FAH, LLC and each of the Continuing Equity Owners.

The Transactions were effected on November 1, 2017, prior to the time the Company’s Class A common stock was registered under the Exchange
Act, and prior to the completion of the IPO.

FAH, LLC Recapitalization

As noted above, the FAH LLC Agreement, among other things, appointed the Company as FAH, LLC’s sole managing member and reclassified all
outstanding membership interests in FAH, LLC as non-voting common units. As the sole managing member of FAH, LLC, the Company controls
the management of FAH, LLC. As a result, the Company consolidates FAH, LLC’s financial results and reports a non-controlling interest related to
the economic interest of FAH, LLC held by the Continuing Equity Owners.

The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and the FAH LLC Agreement discussed above requires FAH, LLC and the Company to, at
all times, maintain (i) a one-to-one ratio between the number of shares of Class A common stock issued by the Company and the number of
common units owned by the Company and (ii) a one-to-one ratio between the number of shares of Class B common stock owned by the Continuing
Equity Owners and the number of common units owned by the Continuing Equity Owners (other than common units issuable upon the exercise of
options and common units that are subject to time-based vesting requirements (the “Excluded Common Units”)). The Company may issue shares
of Class B common stock only to the extent necessary to maintain the one-to-one ratio between the number of common units of FAH, LLC held by
the Continuing Equity Owners (other than the Excluded Common Units) and the number of shares of Class B common stock issued to the
Continuing Equity Owners. Shares of Class B common stock are transferable only together with an equal number of common units of FAH, LLC.
Only permitted transferees of common units held by the Continuing Equity Owners will be permitted transferees of Class B common stock.

The Continuing Equity Owners may from time to time at each of their options (subject, in certain circumstances, to time-based vesting
requirements) require FAH, LLC to redeem all or a portion of their common units in exchange for, at the Company’s election, newly-issued shares
of our Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis or a cash payment equal to a volume weighted average market price of one share of Class A
common stock for each common unit redeemed, in each case in accordance with the terms of the FAH LLC Agreement; provided that, at the
Company’s election, the Company may effect a direct exchange of such Class A common stock or such cash, as applicable, for such common
units. The Continuing Equity Owners may exercise such redemption right for as long as their common units remain outstanding. Simultaneously
with the payment of cash or shares of Class A common stock, as applicable, in connection with a redemption or exchange of common units
pursuant to the terms of the FAH LLC Agreement, a number of shares of our Class B common stock registered in the name of the redeeming or
exchanging Continuing Equity Owner will be cancelled for no consideration on a one-for-one basis with the number of common units so redeemed
or exchanged.
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Initial Public Offering

As noted above, on November 6, 2017, the Company completed its IPO of 10,416,666 shares of Class A common stock at a public offering price
of $12.00 per share and received approximately $117.3 million in net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions. The
Company used the net proceeds to purchase 10,416,666 newly issued common units directly from FAH, LLC at a price per unit equal to the initial
public offering price per share of Class A common stock sold in the IPO less underwriting discounts and commissions. Immediately following the
completion of the IPO, there were 24,975,932 shares of Class B common stock outstanding and 23,337,705 shares of Class A common stock
outstanding, comprised of 10,416,666 shares issued in connection with the IPO and 12,921,039 shares issued in connection with the Transactions
described above.

Equity-Based Compensation

Funko, Inc. 2017 Incentive Award Plan. On October 23, 2017, the Company adopted the Funko, Inc. 2017 Incentive Award Plan (the “2017 Plan”),
which became effective on November 1, 2017, upon the effectiveness of the registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-220856), as
amended, filed with the SEC in connection with the IPO. The Company reserved a total of 5,518,518 shares of Class A common stock for
issuance pursuant to the 2017 Plan. In connection with the IPO, the Company granted 1,028,500 options to purchase shares of Class A common
stock to certain of its directors, executive officers and employees.  Subsequent to the IPO, the Company has granted options to purchase shares
of Class A common stock and restricted stock units on Class A common stock to certain of its directors, executive officers and employees under
the 2017 Plan.

A summary of 2017 Plan stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 is as follows:
 
  Funko, Inc.   Weighted   Aggregate   Remaining  

  
Stock

Options   
Average

Exercise Price   
Intrinsic

Value   
Contractual

Life  
  (in thousands)       (in thousands)   (years)  
Outstanding at December 31, 2017   1,011  $ 12.00   —     
Granted   931   13.54   —     
Exercised   (54)   12.00   62     
Forfeited   (100)   12.00   434     
Outstanding at December 31, 2018   1,788   12.80   1,884   9.19 
Options exercisable at December 31, 2018   295   12.02   338   8.84
 

A summary of 2017 Plan restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 is as follows:
 

  Funko, Inc.   
Weighted
Average   Aggregate   Remaining  

  
Restricted Stock

Units   
Grant Date Fair

Value   
Intrinsic

Value   
Contractual

Life  
  (in thousands)       (in thousands)   (years)  
Unvested at December 31, 2017   —  $ —  $ —     
Granted   1,899   14.33   27,216     
Vested   (174)   11.19   2,712     
Forfeited   (51)   10.51   1,077     
Unvested at December 31, 2018   1,674   14.77   22,012   4.06
 
Options to purchase common units in FAH, LLC. In connection with the IPO, existing options to purchase Class A units in FAH, LLC were
converted into 555,867 options to purchase common units in FAH, LLC.
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A summary of FAH, LLC stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 is as follows:
 

      Weighted   Aggregate   Remaining  

  
FAH, LLC Stock

Options   
Average

Exercise Price   
Intrinsic

Value   
Contractual

Life  
  (in thousands)       (in thousands)   (years)  

Outstanding at December 31, 2017   556             
Exercised   (4)             
Forfeited   —             
Cancelled   —             
Outstanding at December 31, 2018   552  $ 0.41  $ 7,038   4.91 
Options exercisable at December 31, 2018   548  $ 0.40  $ 6,988   4.90
 
Unvested common units in FAH, LLC. In connection with the IPO, unvested common units to purchase profit interests in FAH, LLC were
converted into 1,901,327 unvested common units of FAH, LLC.

A summary of unvested common unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 is as follows:
 

      
Weighted
Average  

  
Common

Units   

Grant Date
Fair

Value  
  (in thousands)      

Unvested at December 31, 2017   1,348  $ 16,176 
Granted   —   — 
Vested   (636)  (7,632)
Forfeited   (87)  (1,044)
Unvested at December 31, 2018   625   7,500
 
Equity-based compensation expense. The Company measures and recognizes expense for its equity-based compensation granted to employees
and directors based on the fair value of the awards on the grant date. The fair value of restricted stock units is based on the market price of Class
A common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of option awards is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
that requires management to apply judgment and make estimates, including:

 • Volatility—this is estimated based primarily on historical volatilities of a representative group of publicly traded consumer product
companies with similar characteristics

 • Risk-free interest rate—this is the U.S. Treasury rate as of the grant date having a term equal to the expected term of the award

 • Expected term—represents the estimated period of time until an award is exercised and was calculated based on the simplified
method

 • Dividend yield—the Company does not plan to pay dividends in the foreseeable future

For each of the options granted during 2018, the following were the weighted-average of the option pricing model inputs:
 

  2017 Plan  
Expected term (years)  6.25 
Expected volatility   34.4%
Risk-free interest rate   2.8%
Dividend yield   0%
 
Equity-based compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the award. The Company records equity-
based compensation to selling, general and administrative expense on the
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consolidated statement of operations. Equity-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $9.1 million, $5.4
million and $2.4 million, respectively.
 
As of December 31, 2018, there was $31.3 million of total unrecognized equity-based compensation expense that the Company expected to
recognize over a remaining weighted-average period of 3.6 years. Of this, a nominal amount is related to options to purchase common units in
FAH, LLC, $6.4 million is related to options to purchase Class A common stock in Funko, Inc., $2.4 million is related to unvested common units in
FAH, LLC and $22.5 million related to unvested restricted stock units in Class A common stock of Funko, Inc. As of December 31, 2018, the
Company expected to recognize these costs over a remaining weighted average period of 0.1 years for options to purchase common units in FAH,
LLC, 3.1 years for options to purchase Class A units in Funko, Inc.,1.1 years for unvested common units in FAH, LLC and 4.1 years for unvested
restricted stock units in Class A common stock of Funko, Inc.

17. Non-controlling Interests

In connection with the Transactions described in Note 16, Stockholders’ Equity, the Company became the sole managing member of FAH, LLC
and as a result consolidates the financial results of FAH, LLC. The Company reports a non-controlling interest representing the common units of
FAH, LLC held by the Continuing Equity Owners. Changes in Funko, Inc.’s ownership interest in FAH, LLC while Funko, Inc. retains its controlling
interest in FAH, LLC will be accounted for as equity transactions. As such, future redemptions or direct exchanges of common units of FAH, LLC
by the Continuing Equity Owners will result in a change in ownership and reduce or increase the amount recorded as non-controlling interest and
increase or decrease additional paid-in capital when FAH, LLC has positive or negative net assets, respectively.

The Company used the net proceeds from its IPO to purchase 10,416,666 newly-issued common units of FAH, LLC. Additionally, in connection
with the Transactions, certain funds affiliated with the Former Equity Owners exchanged their indirect ownership interests in common units of FAH,
LLC for 12,921,039 shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis.

Net income and comprehensive income are attributed between Funko, Inc. and noncontrolling interest holders based on each party’s relative
economic ownership interest in FAH, LLC. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, Funko, Inc. owned 25.0 million and 23.3 million of FAH, LLC
common units, respectively, representing a 50.2% and 48.3% economic ownership interest in FAH, LLC, respectively.

Net income and comprehensive income of FAH, LLC excludes certain activity attributable to Funko, Inc., including $6.4 million and $0.4 million of
equity-based compensation expense for share-based compensation awards issued by Funko, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively, and $3.0 million and $0.3 million of income tax expense for corporate, federal, state and local taxes attributable to Funko, Inc.
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

18. Earnings per Share

Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share of Class A common stock is computed by dividing net income available to Funko, Inc. by the weighted-average number
of shares of Class A common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share of Class A common stock is computed by dividing
net income available to Funko, Inc. by the weighted-average number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding adjusted to give effect to
potentially dilutive securities.

As described in Note 16, Stockholders’ Equity, on November 1, 2017, the LLC Agreement was amended and restated to, among other things, (i)
provide for a new single class of common membership interests, the common units of FAH, LLC, and (ii) exchange all of the then-existing
membership interests of the Original Equity Owners for common units of FAH, LLC. This Recapitalization changed the relative membership rights
of the Original Equity Owners such that retroactive application of the Recapitalization to periods prior to the IPO for the purposes of calculating
earnings per share would not be appropriate.
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Prior to the IPO, the FAH, LLC membership structure included Class A Units, Profits Units and HR Units. The Company analyzed the calculation
of earnings per unit for periods prior to the IPO using the two-class method and determined that it resulted in values that would not be meaningful
to the users of these consolidated financial statements. Therefore, earnings per share information has not been presented for periods prior to the
IPO on November 6, 2017. The basic and diluted earnings per share period for the year ended December 31, 2017 represents only the period of
November 6, 2017 to December 31, 2017.

The following table sets forth reconciliations of the numerators and denominators used to compute basic and diluted earnings per share of Class A
common stock:
 
      Period from  
      November 6,  
  Year Ended   2017 through  
  December 31,   December 31,  
  2018   2017  
Numerator:         
Net income  $ 28,311  $ 2,916 
Less: net income attributable to non-controlling
   interests

 
 18,955 

 
 1,875 

Net income attributable to Funko, Inc. — basic  $ 9,356  $ 1,041 
Add: Reallocation of net income attributable to non-
   controlling interests from the assumed exchange of
   common units of FAH, LLC for Class A common
   stock

 

 — 

 

 1,116 
Net income attributable to Funko, Inc. — diluted  $ 9,356  $ 2,157 
Denominator:         
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock
   outstanding — basic

 
 23,821,025 

 
 23,337,705 

Add: Dilutive common units of FAH, LLC that are
   convertible into Class A common stock

 
 1,739,033 

 
 27,297,348 

Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock
   outstanding — diluted

 
 25,560,058 

 
 50,635,053 

Earnings per share of Class A common stock — basic  $ 0.39  $ 0.04 
Earnings per share of Class A common stock —
   diluted

 
$ 0.37 

 
$ 0.04

 
For the year ended December 31, 2018 and the period of November 6, 2017 to December 31, 2017 an aggregate of 25.7 million and 1.8 million of
potentially dilutive securities, respectively, were excluded from the weighted-average in the computation of diluted earnings per share of Class A
common stock because the effect would have been anti-dilutive. For the year ended December 31, 2018, anti-dilutive securities included 25.1
million of common units of FAH, LLC that are convertible into Class A common stock, but were excluded from the computations of diluted
earnings per share because the effect would have been anti-dilutive under the if-converted method.

Shares of the Company’s Class B common stock do not participate in the earnings or losses of the Company and are therefore not participating
securities. As such, separate presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share of Class B common stock under the two-class method has not
been presented.
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19. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
 
  Three Months Ended  

  
Dec. 31,

2018   
Sept. 30,

2018   
June 30,

2018   
March 31,

2018   
Dec. 31,

2017   
Sept. 30,

2017   
June 30,

2017   
March 31,

2017  
  (In thousands)  
Net sales  $233,224  $176,915  $ 138,723  $ 137,211  $ 169,474  $ 142,812  $ 104,746  $ 99,052 
Cost of sales (exclusive of
   depreciation and amortization)   147,526   108,898   85,717   85,921   102,926   84,387   66,005   64,061 
Selling, general and
   administrative expenses   45,015   41,267   34,229   34,810   37,532   32,511   25,809   25,092 
Net income (loss)   17,117   8,086   871   2,237   7,501   8,264   (4,538)   (5,627)
Net income attributable to non-controlling
interests   11,107   6,056   454   1,338   1,875   —   —   — 
Net income (loss) attributable to Funko, Inc.   6,010   2,030   417   899   5,626   8,264   (4,538)   (5,627)
Earnings per share of Class A common stock —
basic  $ 0.24  $ 0.09  $ 0.02  $ 0.04  $ 0.04             
Earnings per share of Class A common stock —
diluted  $ 0.23  $ 0.08  $ 0.01  $ 0.04  $ 0.04            
 
 

20.  Subsequent Events

On February 11, 2019, the Company amended its New Credit Facilities to increase the New Revolving Credit Facility by $25.0 million from $50.0
million to $75.0 million.  See Note 10, Debt for further information on the New Credit Facilities.

On February 11, 2019, we acquired 100% of the membership interests of Forrest-Pruzan Creative LLC, an acclaimed board game development
studio in Seattle, WA, which will operate under the name “Funko Games”.  This transaction represents an opportunity to expand our product
offerings into the board game category. The purchase consideration consists of $6.5 million in cash and $2.2 million in shares of the Company’s
Class A common stock paid at closing, $1.5 million in cash due to the sellers in 18 months, subject to certain working capital adjustments and
other conditions as per the agreement, and $2 million in cash due after a 24-month deferral period.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not Applicable.
 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure
controls and procedures must reflect that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the
benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on this evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of
December 31, 2018.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, conducted an
assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in "Internal Control—Integrated
Framework (2013)" issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management
concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.

This annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm on internal control over financial
reporting due to an exemption established by the JOBS Act for "emerging growth companies".

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2018 identified in management's
evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

 

 

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K and Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K, information regarding our executive officers
is provided in Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant,” and will also appear in our
definitive proxy statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The remaining information required by Items 401, 405, 406 and 407(c)(3),
(d)(4) and (d)(5) of Regulation S-K will be included under the headings “Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” and “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and such required
information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Items 402, 407(e)(4), and (e)(5) of Regulation S-K will be included under the headings “Executive Compensation” and
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and
such information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (as of December 31, 2018)

 

Plan category:

Number of Securities to
be Issued Upon Exercise
of Outstanding Options,

Warrants, and Rights   

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of

Outstanding
Options, Warrants,

and Rights   

Number of Securities
Available for Future

Issuance Under Equity
Compensation Plans
(excludes securities

Reflected in first column)  
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders          2,056,755 

Stock Options  1,787,878  $ 12.80  — 
Restricted Stock Units  1,673,885  —  — 

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders —  —  — 
Total  3,461,763  $ 12.80   2,056,755

Other

The remaining information required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K will be included under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and such required information is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Items 404 and 407(a) of Regulation S-K will be included under the headings “Certain Relationships and Related Person
Transactions,” “Corporate Governance” and “Director Independence” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 9(e) of Schedule 14A of the Exchange Act will be included under the heading “Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm Fees and Other Matters” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

119
 



PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS
(a) Documents filed as part of this report:
1. Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements of the Company are listed in the index under Part II, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
2. Financial Statement Schedules
All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, not required or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial
statements or notes thereto.

3. List of Exhibits

EXHIBIT INDEX
 

Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Incorporated by Reference  

 

 

 

 Form  File No.  Exhibit  
Filing
Date  

Filed/
Furnished
Herewith  

              
    3.1

  

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
Funko, Inc.  S-8 333-221390  4.1  11/7/17                 

    3.2   Amended and Restated Bylaws of Funko, Inc.  S-8 333-221390  4.2  11/7/17                 
    4.1

  

Specimen Stock Certificate evidencing the shares of
Class A common stock  S-1 333-220856  4.1  10/23/17                 

  10.1 †
  

Funko Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C. 2015 Option Plan,
Amended and Restated as of November 1, 2017.  10-K 001-38274  10.1  3/19/18   

              

  10.2 †
 

Form of Option Agreement under Funko Acquisition
Holdings, L.L.C. 2015 Option Plan.  S-1 333-220856  10.15  10/6/17   

              

  10.3 †  
2017 Incentive Award Plan, dated October 23, 2017.  10-K 001-38274  10.3  3/19/18   

              

  10.4 †
 

Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2017
Incentive Award Plan.  S-1/A 333-220856  10.19  10/23/17   

              

  10.5 †
 

2017 Executive Annual Incentive Plan, dated October
23, 2017.  10-K 001-38274  10.5  3/19/18   

              

  10.6 †
 

Employment Agreement, dated October 30, 2015, by
and between Funko, LLC and Brian Mariotti.  S-1 333-220856  10.18  10/6/17   

              

  10.7 †
 

Offer letter, dated September 29, 2013, by and
between Funko, LLC and Russell Nickel.  S-1 333-220856  10.19  10/6/17   
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Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Incorporated by Reference  

 

 

 

 Form  File No.  Exhibit  
Filing
Date  

Filed/
Furnished
Herewith  

              
  10.8 †

 

Employment Agreement, dated October 20, 2017, by
and between Funko, Inc. and Russell Nickel.  10-K 001-38274  10.8  3/19/18   

              

  10.9 †
 

Offer letter, dated June 15, 2016, by and between
Funko, LLC and Tracy Daw.  S-1 333-220856  10.21  10/6/17   

              

  10.10 †
 

Employment Agreement, dated October 20, 2017, by
and between Funko, Inc. and Tracy Daw.  10-K 001-38274  10.10  3/19/18   

              

  10.11 †
 

Offer letter, dated July 15, 2016, by and between
Funko, LLC and Michael McBreen.  S-1 333-220856  10.23  10/6/17   

              

  10.12 †
 

Separation Agreement, dated August 28, 2017, by and
between Funko, LLC and Michael McBreen  S-1 333-220856  10.24  10/6/17   

              

  10.13 †
 

Employment Agreement, dated October 20, 2017, by
and between Funko, Inc. and Andrew Perlmutter.  10-K 001-38274  10.13  3/19/18   

              

  10.14 †
 

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors and
Officers.  S-1/A 333-220856  10.27  10/12/17   

              

  10.15 †  
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement  10-Q 001-38274  10.1  8/10/18   

              

  10.16 †
 

Funko, Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation
Policy          *  

              

  10.17

 

Financing Agreement, dated as of October 30, 2015,
by and among Funko Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C., as
Ultimate Parent and a Borrower, Funko Holdings LLC,
as Parent and a Borrower, and Funko, LLC, as a
Borrower, the guarantors that may become party
thereto, the lenders from time to time party thereto,
Cerberus Business Finance, LLC, as Collateral Agent,
and PNC Bank, National Association, as
Administrative Agent.  S-1 333-220856  10.5  10/6/17   

              

  10.18

 

Amendment No. 1 to the Financing Agreement, dated
as of September 8, 2016, by and among Funko
Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C., as Ultimate Parent and a
Borrower, Funko Holdings LLC, as Parent and a
Borrower, and Funko, LLC, as a Borrower, the
guarantors that may become party thereto, the lenders
from time to time party thereto, Cerberus Business
Finance, LLC, as Collateral Agent, and PNC Bank,
National Association, as Administrative Agent. 

 

S-1  333-220856  10.6  10/6/17
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 Form  File No.  Exhibit  
Filing
Date  

Filed/
Furnished
Herewith  

              
              

  10.19

 

Amendment No. 2 to the Financing Agreement, dated
as of October 13, 2016, by and among Funko
Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C., as Ultimate Parent and a
Borrower, Funko Holdings LLC, as Parent and a
Borrower, and Funko, LLC, as a Borrower, the
guarantors that may become party thereto, the lenders
from time to time party thereto, Cerberus Business
Finance, LLC, as Collateral Agent, and PNC Bank,
National Association, as Administrative Agent.

 

 
S-1  333-220856  10.7  10/6/17

   

              

  10.20

 

Amendment No. 3 to the Financing Agreement, dated
as of January 17, 2017, by and among Funko
Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C., as Ultimate Parent and a
Borrower, Funko Holdings LLC, as Parent and a
Borrower, and Funko, LLC, as a Borrower, the
guarantors that may become party thereto, the lenders
from time to time party thereto, Cerberus Business
Finance, LLC, as Collateral Agent, and PNC Bank,
National Association, as Administrative Agent.

 

S-1  333-220856  10.8  10/6/17

   

              

  10.21

 

Amendment No. 4 to the Financing Agreement, dated
as of June 26, 2017, by and among Funko Acquisition
Holdings, L.L.C., as Ultimate Parent and a Borrower,
Funko Holdings LLC, as Parent and a Borrower, and
Funko, LLC, as a Borrower, the guarantors that may
become party thereto, the lenders from time to time
party thereto, Cerberus Business Finance, LLC, as
Collateral Agent, and PNC Bank, National
Association, as Administrative Agent.  S-1 333-220856  10.9  10/6/17   

              

  10.22

 

Amendment No. 5 to the Financing Agreement, dated
as of June 28, 2017, by and among Funko Acquisition
Holdings, L.L.C., as Ultimate Parent and a Borrower,
Funko Holdings LLC, as Parent and a Borrower, and
Funko, LLC, as a Borrower, the guarantors that may
become party thereto, the lenders from time to time
party thereto, Cerberus Business Finance, LLC, as
Collateral Agent, and PNC Bank, National
Association, as Administrative Agent.  S-1 333-220856  10.10  10/6/17   

              

122
 

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1704711/000119312517305846/d369769dex107.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1704711/000119312517305846/d369769dex108.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1704711/000119312517305846/d369769dex109.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1704711/000119312517305846/d369769dex1010.htm


Exhibit
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 Form  File No.  Exhibit  
Filing
Date  

Filed/
Furnished
Herewith  

              
  10.23

 

Amendment No. 6 to the Financing Agreement, dated
as of October 12, 2017, by and among Funko
Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C., as Ultimate Parent and a
Borrower, Funko Holdings LLC, as Parent and a
Borrower, and Funko, LLC, as a Borrower, the
guarantors that may become party thereto, the lenders
from time to time party thereto, Cerberus Business
Finance, LLC, as Collateral Agent, and PNC Bank,
National Association, as Administrative Agent.  S-1/A 333-220856  10.11  10/12/17   

              

  10.24

 

Amendment No. 7 to the Financing Agreement, dated
as of March 7, 2018, by and among Funko Acquisition
Holdings, L.L.C., as Ultimate Parent and a Borrower,
Funko Holdings LLC, as Parent and a Borrower, and
Funko, LLC and Loungefly, LLC, as Borrowers,  the
guarantors that may become party thereto, the lenders
from time to time party thereto, Cerberus Business
Finance, LLC, as Collateral Agent, and PNC Bank,
National Association, as Administrative Agent.  8-K  001-38274  10.1  3/8/18    

              

  10.25

 

Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of October 
30, 2015, by Funko Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C.,
Funko Holdings LLC and Funko, LLC, in favor of
Cerberus Business Finance, LLC, as Collateral Agent.  S-1 333-220856  10.11  10/6/17   

              

  10.26

 

Security Agreement Supplement, dated as of June 28,
2017, by Loungefly, LLC, in favor of Cerberus
Business Finance, LLC, as Collateral Agent.  S-1 333-220856  10.12  10/6/17   

              

  10.27

 

Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of November 1,
2017, between Funko, Inc., Funko Acquisition
Holdings, L.L.C., the Members of the LLC, and the
Management Representative.  10-K 001-38274  10.25  3/19/18   

              

  10.28

 

Stockholders Agreement, dated as of November 1,
2017, between Funko, Inc., ACON Funko Investors,
L.L.C. and related entities, Fundamental Capital, LLC,
Funko International, LLC, and Brian Mariotti.  10-K 001-38274  10.26  3/19/18   

              

  10.29

 

Second Amended and Restated LLC Agreement of
Funko Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C., dated as of
November 1, 2017.  10-K 001-38274  10.27  3/19/18   
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 Form  File No.  Exhibit  
Filing
Date  

Filed/
Furnished
Herewith  

              
              

  10.30

 

Amendment No. 1 to Second Amended and Restated
Limited Liability Company Agreement of Funko
Acquisition Holdings L.L.C., dated as of May 10,
2018.  10-Q 001-38274  10.2  5/11/18   

              

  10.31

 

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November
1, 2017, between Funko, Inc., ACON Funko Investors,
L.L.C. and related entities, Fundamental Capital, LLC,
Funko International, LLC, Brian Mariotti, Tracy Daw,
The Jon P. and Trishawn P. Kipp Children’s Trust uad
5/31/14, Russell Nickel, and Andrew Perlmutter.  10-K 001-38724  10.28  3/19/18   

              

  10.32

 

Credit Agreement dated October  22, 2018, among
Funko Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C., Funko Holdings
LLC, Funko, LLC and Loungefly, LLC, PNC Bank,
National Association, as Administrative Agent and
Collateral Agent, and each other financial institution
from time to time party thereto  8-K 001-38274  10.1  10/25/18   

              

  10.33

 

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated February
11, 2019, among Funko Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C.,
Funko Holdings LLC, Funko, LLC and Loungefly, LLC,
PNC Bank, National Association, as Administrative
Agent, Collateral Agent and L/C Issuer.          *  

              

  21.1  List of Subsidiaries          * 
              

  23.1
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm          * 

              

  31.1

  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to
Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.          * 

              

  31.2

  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.          * 

              

  32.1

  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.          ** 

              

  32.2

  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.          ** 
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Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Incorporated by Reference  

 

 

 

 Form  File No.  Exhibit  
Filing
Date  

Filed/
Furnished
Herewith  

              
101.INS   XBRL Instance Document.           *** 
              

101.SCH   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.           *** 
              

101.CAL

  

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document.           *** 

              

101.DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document.           *** 
              

101.LAB   XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document.           *** 
              

101.PRE

  

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document.           *** 

 
* Filed herewith
** Furnished herewith
*** Submitted electronically herewith
† Management contract or compensation plan or arrangement
 

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 
    FUNKO, INC.(Registrant)

     
Date: March 5, 2019  By:  /s/ Russell Nickel
    Russell Nickel

    Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 
Signature
 

Title
   

 Date
 

     
/s/ Brian Mariotti
 

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

 

 March 5, 2019

 

Brian Mariotti
 

     
/s/ Russell Nickel
 

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

 

 March 5, 2019

 

Russell Nickel
 

     
/s/ Ken Brotman
 
 

Ken Brotman

Chairman of the Board and Director

  

 March 5, 2019

    

/s/ Gino Dellomo
 
 

Gino Dellomo

Director

  

 March 5, 2019

    

/s/ Charles Denson
 
 

Charles Denson

Director

  

 March 5, 2019

    

/s/ Diane Irvine
 
 

Diane Irvine

Director

  

 March 5, 2019

    

/s/ Adam Kriger
 
 

Adam Kriger

Director

  

 March 5, 2019

    

/s/ Michael Lunsford
 
 

Michael Lunsford

Director

  

 March 5, 2019
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Exhibit 10.16
FUNKO, INC.

 
NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION POLICY

 
Non-employee members of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Funko, Inc. (the “Company”) shall be eligible to receive

cash and equity compensation as set forth in this Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy (this “Policy”).  The cash and equity
compensation described in this Policy shall be paid or be made, as applicable, automatically and without further action of the Board, to
each member of the Board who is not an employee of the Company or any parent or subsidiary of the Company (each, a “Non-
Employee Director”) who may be eligible to receive such cash or equity compensation, unless such Non-Employee Director declines
the receipt of such cash or equity compensation by written notice to the Company.  This Policy shall become effective on October 16 ,
2018 (the “Effective Time”) and shall remain in effect until it is revised or rescinded by further action of the Board. This Policy may be
amended, modified or terminated by the Board at any time in its sole discretion. The terms and conditions of this Policy shall supersede
any prior cash and/or equity compensation arrangements for service as a member of the Board between the Company and any of its
Non-Employee Directors and between any subsidiary of the Company and any of its non-employee directors.  No Non-Employee
Director shall have any rights hereunder, except with respect to equity awards granted pursuant to this Policy.  

1. Cash Compensation.

(a) Annual Retainers.  Each Non-Employee Director shall receive an annual retainer of $50,000 for service
on the Board.  

(b) Additional Annual Retainers.  In addition, a Non-Employee Director shall receive the following annual
retainers:

(i) Chairperson of the Board.  A Non-Employee Director serving as Chairperson of the Board
shall receive an additional annual retainer of $30,000 for such service.

(ii) Audit Committee.   A Non-Employee Director serving as Chairperson of the Audit Committee
shall receive an additional annual retainer of $18,750 for such service.  

(iii) Compensation Committee.  A Non-Employee Director serving as Chairperson of the
Compensation Committee shall receive an additional annual retainer of $15,000 for such service.  

(vi) Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.   A Non-Employee Director serving as
Chairperson of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee shall receive an additional annual retainer of $10,000 for such
service.  

(c)Payment of Retainers.  The annual retainers described in Sections 1(a) and 1(b) shall be earned on a quarterly basis
based on a calendar quarter and shall be paid by the Company in arrears not later than the fifteenth day following the end of each
calendar quarter.  In the event a Non-Employee Director does not serve as a Non-Employee Director, or in the applicable positions
described in Section 1(b), for an entire calendar quarter, such Non-Employee Director shall receive a prorated portion of the retainer(s)
otherwise payable to such Non-Employee Director for such calendar quarter pursuant to Section 1(b), with such prorated portion
determined by multiplying such otherwise payable retainer(s) by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days during which
the Non-Employee Director serves

 
 
 



 
as a Non-Employee Director or in the applicable positions described in Section 1(b) during the applicable calendar quarter and the
denominator of which is the number of days in the applicable calendar quarter.
 

2. Equity Compensation.  Non-Employee Directors shall be granted the equity awards described below.  The awards
described below shall be granted under and shall be subject to the terms and provisions of the Company’s 2017 Incentive Award Plan
or any other applicable Company equity incentive plan then-maintained by the Company (such plan, as may be amended from time to
time, the “Equity Plan”) and shall be granted subject to the execution and delivery of award agreements, including attached exhibits, in
substantially the forms previously approved by the Board.  All applicable terms of the Equity Plan apply to this Policy as if fully set
forth herein, and all equity grants hereunder are subject in all respects to the terms of the Equity Plan.  

(a) Annual Awards.  Each Non-Employee Director who (i) serves on the Board as of the date of any annual
meeting of the Company’s stockholders (an “Annual Meeting”) after the Effective Time and (ii) will continue to serve as a Non-
Employee Director immediately following such Annual Meeting shall be automatically granted, on the date of such Annual Meeting,
(X) an option to purchase the number of shares of the Company’s common stock (at a per-share exercise price equal to the closing
price per share of the Company’s common stock on the date of such Annual Meeting (or on the last preceding trading day if the date of
the Annual Meeting is not a trading day)), having an aggregate fair value on the date of grant of $37,500 (as determined in accordance
with FASB Accounting Codification Topic 718 (“ ASC 718”), and subject to adjustment as provided in the Equity Plan and (Y) a
restricted stock unit award having an aggregate fair value on the date of grant of $37,500 (as determined in accordance with ASC 718)
(with the number of shares of common stock underlying such award subject to adjustment as provided in the Equity Plan).  The awards
described in this Section 2(a) shall be referred to as the “Annual Awards . ” For the avoidance of doubt, a Non-Employee Director
elected for the first time to the Board at an Annual Meeting shall only receive an Annual Award in connection with such election, and
shall not receive any Initial Award (as defined below) on the date of such Annual Meeting as well.

(b) Initial Awards .  Except as otherwise determined by the Board, each Non-Employee Director who is
initially elected or appointed to the Board after the Effective Time on any date other than the date of an Annual Meeting shall be
automatically granted, on the effective date of such Non-Employee Director’s initial election or appointment (such Non-Employee
Director’s “Start Date”), (X) an option to purchase the number of shares of the Company’s common stock (at a per-share exercise price
equal to the closing price on the Company’s common stock on such Non-Employee Director’s Start Date (or on the last preceding
trading day if such Non-Employee Director’s Start Date is not a trading day)), having an aggregate fair value on the date of grant of
$37,500 (as determined in accordance with ASC 718) and such Non-Employee Director’s Start Date equal to the product of (i) $37,500
(as determined in accordance with ASC 718) and (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is (x) 365 minus (y) the number of days in the
period beginning on the date of the Annual Meeting immediately preceding such Non-Employee Director’s Start Date and ending on
such Non-Employee Director’s Start Date and the denominator of which is 365, and subject to adjustment as provided in the Equity
Plan and (Y) a restricted stock unit award having an aggregate fair value on such Non-Employee Director’s Start Date equal to the
product of (i) $37,500 (as determined in accordance with ASC 718) and (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is (x) 365 minus (y) the
number of days in the period beginning on the date of the Annual Meeting immediately preceding such Non-Employee Director’s Start
Date and ending on such Non-Employee Director’s Start Date and the denominator of which is 365 (with the number of shares of
common stock underlying such award subject to adjustment as provided in the Equity Plan). The awards described in this Section 2(b)
shall be referred to as “Initial Awards.”  For the avoidance of doubt, no Non-Employee Director shall be granted more than one Initial
Award.

 
 
 



 
(c) Termination of Employment of Employee Directors.  Members of the Board who are employees of the

Company or any parent or subsidiary of the Company who subsequently terminate their employment with the Company and any parent
or subsidiary of the Company and remain on the Board will not receive an Initial Award pursuant to Section 2(b) above, but to the
extent that they are otherwise eligible, will be eligible to receive, after termination from service with the Company and any parent or
subsidiary of the Company, Annual Awards as described in Section 2(a) above.

(d) Vesting of Awards Granted to Non-Employee Directors.  Each Annual Award and Initial Award shall
vest and become exercisable on the first anniversary of the date of grant, in each case subject to the Non-Employee Director continuing
in service through the applicable vesting dates. No portion of an Annual Award or Initial Award that is unvested or unexercisable at the
time of a Non-Employee Director’s termination of service on the Board shall become vested and exercisable thereafter.   All of a Non-
Employee Director’s Annual Awards and Initial Awards shall vest in full immediately prior to the occurrence of a Change in Control (as
defined in the Equity Plan), to the extent outstanding at such time.

 

* * * * *

 
 
 



Exhibit 10.33
FIRST AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

 
THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”), dated as of February 11, 2019, is entered

into by and among Funko Acquisition Holdings, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company (the “Ultimate Parent”), Funko
Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Parent” or “Funko Holdings”), Funko, LLC, a Washington limited liability
company (“Funko”), Loungefly, LLC, a California limited liability company (“Loungefly,” together with the Ultimate Parent, the
Parent, Funko and each other Person that executes a Joinder Agreement and becomes a “Borrower” under the Credit Agreement (as
defined below), each a “Borrower” and collectively, the “Borrowers”), the financial institutions which are now or which hereafter
become a party to the Credit Agreement (collectively, the “Lenders” and each individually a “Lender”), PNC Bank, National
Association (“PNC”), as collateral agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, together with its successors and permitted assigns in such
capacity, the ”Collateral Agent”), PNC, as administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, together with its successors and
permitted assigns in such capacity, the ”Administrative Agent” and together with the Collateral Agent, each an “Agent” and
collectively, the “Agents”), and PNC, as L/C Issuer (in such capacity, together with its successors and permitted assigns in such
capacity, the “L/C Issuer”).  Terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Credit Agreement
defined below.

RECITALS

A. The Agent, L/C Issuer, Lenders and Borrowers, among others, have previously entered into that certain Credit
Agreement dated as of October 22, 2018 (as amended hereby and as it may hereafter be amended, restated, amended and restated,
supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”), pursuant to which the Lenders have made
certain loans and financial accommodations available to Borrowers.  All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meaning ascribed thereto in the Credit Agreement.

B. The Borrowers have requested that one or more Lenders increase their Revolving Credit Commitment, and certain
Lenders have agreed to such requests on the terms and conditions set forth herein and Borrowers, Agent, L/C Issuer and certain
Lenders desire to set forth their agreements in writing.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS
 

NOW, THEREFORE, with the foregoing background incorporated by reference and made a part hereof and intending to
be legally bound, and in exchange for good and sufficient consideration, the sufficiency and receipt of which is acknowledged by each
party hereto, the parties agree as follows:

1. Amendments to Credit Agreement.  Effective upon the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 2 hereof, the
Credit Agreement shall be amended (without creating any novation of the Credit Agreement or the Obligations) as follows:

(i) the reference to “$50,000,000” in the Recitals of the Credit

 



 
Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced with “$75,000,000”; and

(ii)  the definition of “Maximum Revolving Loan Amount” is hereby deleted in
its entirety and replaced with the following:

““Maximum Revolving Loan Amount” means $75,000,000.”

(a) Schedule 1.1(B) to the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as set forth on
Exhibit A attached hereto.

2. Effectiveness Conditions.  This Amendment shall become effective on the first date that all of the following conditions
have been fully satisfied (such date, the “First Amendment Effective Date”):

(i) Agent shall have received a fully executed copy of this Amendment.

(ii) No Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or
result after giving effect to this Amendment.

(iii) The representations and warranties made by each Borrower in the Credit
Agreement and in the other Loan Documents are true and complete in all material respects with the same force and effect as if made on
and as of such date (except to the extent any such representation or warranty expressly relates only to any earlier and/or specified date).

(iv) Agent shall have received a certificate dated as of the date hereof of an
Authorized Officer of each Borrower certifying as to the matters set forth in in clause (ii) and (iii) above.

(v) Agent shall have received an opinion of Latham & Watkins LLP, counsel to
the Borrowers, as to such customary matters as the Agents may reasonably request.

(vi) Agent shall have received an opinion of Garvey Schubert Barer, P.C., special
Washington counsel to Funko, as to such customary matters as the Agents may reasonably request.

(vii) Agent shall have received, upon any Lender’s request, revolving credit
Note(s), dated the date hereof, payable to such Lender in a face amount equal to the Revolving Credit Commitment of such Lender as
provided on Exhibit A to this Amendment.

(viii) Agent shall have received from Borrowers:

(1) certifications of their corporate secretaries or an Authorized Officer
with attached resolutions certifying that this Amendment has been approved by such Borrowers;

(2) a certificate of an Authorized Officer of each Borrower, certifying
the names and true signatures of the representatives of such Borrower authorized to sign this Amendment and the other documents to
be executed and delivered by such Borrower in
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connection herewith and therewith, together with evidence of the incumbency of such authorized officers/directors/representatives;

(3) a certificate of the appropriate official(s) of the jurisdiction of
organization of each Borrower certifying as of a recent date not more than 30 days prior to the First Amendment Effective Date as to
the subsistence in good standing of such Borrower in such jurisdictions; and

(4) a copy of the Governing Documents of each Borrower, together
with all amendments thereto, or a certification that there has been no change in the Governing Documents from those delivered on the
Closing Date, in either case, certified as of the Amendment Effective Date by an Authorized Officer of such Borrower.

(ix) Payment by Borrower in accordance with Section 12.04 of the Credit
Agreement of all reasonable, documented and out-of-pocket fees, costs and expenses incurred by Agent on or prior to the date hereof,
to the extent invoiced at least two (2) Business Days prior to the date hereof.

3. Reaffirmation.  Each Borrower expressly acknowledges the terms of this Amendment and reaffirms, as of
the date hereof and on the First Amendment Effective Date, that its guarantee of the Guaranteed Obligations under the Guaranty and
its grant of Liens on the Collateral to secure the Obligations pursuant to each Security Document to which it is a party, in each case,
continues in full force and effect and extends to the obligations of such Borrower under the Loan Documents (including the Credit
Agreement as amended by this Amendment) subject to any limitations set out in the Credit Agreement (as so amended) and any other
Loan Document applicable to such Borrower.  Neither the execution, delivery, performance or effectiveness of this Amendment nor
the modification of the Credit Agreement effected pursuant hereto:  (i) impairs the validity, effectiveness or priority of the Liens granted
pursuant to any Security Document, and such Liens continue unimpaired with the same priority to secure repayment of all Obligations,
whether heretofore or hereafter incurred; or (ii) requires that any new filings be made or other action be taken to perfect or to maintain
the perfection of such Liens.

4. GOVERNING LAW.  THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS MADE AND TO BE
PERFORMED IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

5. CONSENT TO JURISDICTION; SERVICE OF PROCESS AND  VENUE, ETC.  ANY LEGAL
ACTION OR PROCEEDING WITH RESPECT TO THIS AMENDMENT MAY BE BROUGHT IN THE COURTS OF THE
STATE OF NEW YORK IN THE COUNTY OF NEW YORK OR OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, AND, BY EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS AMENDMENT, EACH
PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY ACCEPTS IN RESPECT OF ITS PROPERTY, GENERALLY AND
UNCONDITIONALLY, THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE AFORESAID COURTS.  EACH PARTY HERETO
HEREBY IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS TO SERVICE OF PROCESS IN THE MANNER PROVIDED FOR NOTICES IN
SECTION 12.01 OF THE CREDIT AGREEMENT, SUCH
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SERVICE TO BECOME EFFECTIVE 10 DAYS AFTER SUCH MAILING.  NOTHING HEREIN SHALL AFFECT THE
RIGHT OF THE AGENT AND THE LENDERS TO SERVICE OF PROCESS IN ANY OTHER MANNER PERMITTED BY
LAW OR TO COMMENCE LEGAL PROCEEDINGS OR OTHERWISE PROCEED AGAINST ANY OBLIGOR IN ANY
OTHER JURISDICTION.  EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY EXPRESSLY AND IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE
FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ANY OBJECTION WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE
JURISDICTION OR LAYING OF VENUE OF ANY SUCH LITIGATION BROUGHT IN ANY SUCH COURT REFERRED
TO ABOVE AND ANY CLAIM THAT ANY SUCH LITIGATION HAS BEEN BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT
FORUM.  TO THE EXTENT THAT ANY PARTY HERETO HAS OR HEREAFTER MAY ACQUIRE ANY IMMUNITY
FROM JURISDICTION OF ANY COURT OR FROM ANY LEGAL PROCESS (WHETHER THROUG H SERVICE OR
NOTICE, ATTACHMENT  PRIOR TO JUDGMENT, ATTACHMENT IN AID OF EXECUTION OR OTHERWISE) WITH
RESPECT TO ITSELF OR ITS PROPERTY, EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES SUCH
IMMUNITY IN RESPECT OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AMENDMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENTS.

EACH BORROWER, EACH AGENT AND EACH LENDER HEREBY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY
JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM CONCERNING ANY RIGHTS UNDER THIS
AMENDMENT, OR ARISING FROM ANY FINANCING RELATIONSHIP EXISTING IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
AMENDMENT, AND AGREES THAT ANY SUCH ACTION, PROCEEDINGS OR COUNTERCLAIM SHALL BE TRIED
BEFORE A COURT AND NOT BEFORE A JURY.  

6. Confidentiality.  Section 12.21 (Confidentiality) of the Credit Agreement is incorporated herein, mutatis
mutandis, in connection with this Amendment and the transactions contemplated hereby.

7. Counterparts; Telecopy Execution.  This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and
by different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which
taken together shall constitute but one and the same agreement.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Amendment by telecopy or
electronic mail shall be equally effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Amendment.  Any party delivering an
executed counterpart of this Amendment by telecopy or electronic mail also shall deliver an original executed counterpart of this
Amendment but the failure to deliver an original executed counterpart shall not affect the validity, enforceability, and binding effect of
this Amendment.

8. Severability.  Any provision of this Amendment which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction
shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining
portions hereof or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

[signature pages follow]
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Each of the parties has signed this Amendment as of the day and year first above written.

 
BORROWERS:

 
FUNKO ACQUISITION HOLDINGS, L.L.C.
 

 By: /s/ Russell Nickel
Name: Russell Nickel
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

 
 
FUNKO HOLDINGS LLC
 

 By: /s/ Russell Nickel
Name: Russell Nickel
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

 
 
FUNKO, LLC
 

 By: /s/ Russell Nickel
Name: Russell Nickel
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

 
LOUNGEFLY, LLC
 

 By: /s/ Russell Nickel
Name: Russell Nickel
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

 
 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FIRST AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
 
US-DOCS\105711361.3



 
Very truly yours,

 
PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Collateral Agent
 

 By: /s/ Robert Orzechowski
Name: Robert Orzechowski
Title: Vice President
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PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

as Administrative Agent
 
 

 By: /s/ Robert Orzechowski
Name: Robert Orzechowski
Title: Vice President
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PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

as a Lender
 

 By: /s/ Robert Orzechowski
Name: Robert Orzechowski
Title: Vice President
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JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
as a Lender
 

 By: /s/ Michael Sachwitz
Name: Michael Sachwitz
Title: Authorized Officer
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BANK OF THE WEST,

as a Lender
 

 By: /s/ Leni Preciado
Name: Leni Preciado
Title: Director, Market Manager
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HSBC Bank USA, National Association,

as a Lender
 

 By: /s/ Mire K. Levy
Name: Mire K. Levy
Title: Vice President
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KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

as a Lender
 

 By: /s/ Joseph M. Murry
Name: Joseph M. Murry
Title: Senior Vice President
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BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,

as a Lender
 

 By: /s/ Mark Guthrie
Name: Mark Guthrie
Title: Senior Vice President
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MUFG UNION BANK, N.A.,

as a Lender
 

 By: /s/ Matthew Norman
Name: Matthew Norman
Title: Vice President
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U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

as a Lender
 

 By: /s/ Ken Case
Name: Ken Case
Title: Vice President
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GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA,

as a Lender
 

 By: /s/ Annie Carr
Name: Annie Carr
Title: Authorized Signatory
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CIT BANK, N.A.,

as a Lender
 

 By: /s/ Joseph Longobardi
Name: Joseph Longobardi
Title: Authorized Signatory
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COLUMBIA BANK,

as a Lender
 

 By: /s/ Kit Gerwels
Name: Kit Gerwels
Title: SVP
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EXHIBIT A:

SCHEDULE 1.1(B)

COMMITMENTS OF LENDERS AND ADDRESSES FOR NOTICES

Part 1 - Commitments of Lenders and Addresses for Notices to Lenders

Lender

Amount of
Commitment
for Revolving
Credit Loans

Amount of
Commitment

for Term
Loans Commitment Ratable Share

Name: PNC Bank, National
Association
Address:500 First Avenue, 4th Fl.,
Pittsburgh, PA 15219
Attention: Jessica Miller
Telephone:  (412) 768- 2307
Telecopy:  (412) 762-8672

$11,842,105.27 $37,105,263.15$48,947,368.42

Revolving
Credit Loans: 
15.789473693%

Term Loans:
15.789473680%

Name: JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A.
Address: 1301 2nd Avenue, Floor
24, Seattle, WA 98101
Attention: Mike Sachwitz
Telephone: (206) 500-1353
E-mail:
michael.j.sachwitz@chase.com

$10,526,315.80 $32,982,456.13$43,508,771.93

Revolving
Credit Loans: 
14.035087733%

Term Loans:
14.035087715%

Name: Bank of the West
Address: 701 Pike Street, Suite
2250, Seattle, WA 98101
Attention: Leni Preciado
Telephone: (206) 223-1294
E-mail:
Leni.Preciado@bankofthewest.com

$7,894,736.84 $24,736,842.11$32,631,578.95

Revolving
Credit Loans: 
10.526315786%

Term Loans:
10.526315791%

Name: HSBC Bank USA, N.A.
Address: 452 Fifth Avenue, 5th
Floor, New York, NY 10018
Attention: Mire Levy
Telephone: (206) 233-8793
Telecopy: (206) 233-0808
E-mail: mire.l.levy@us.hsbc.com

$7,894,736.84 $24,736,842.11$32,631,578.95

Revolving
Credit Loans: 
10.526315786%

Term Loans:
10.526315792%
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Name: KeyBank National
Association
Address: 4910 Tiedeman Road,
Brooklyn, OH 44144
Attention: Chelsey R. Locascio
Telephone: (206) 343-6911
E-mail:
Chelsey_r_locascio@keybank.com

$7,894,736.84 $24,736,842.11 $32,631,578.95

Revolving
Credit Loans: 
10.526315786%

Term Loans:
10.526315791%

Name: Bank of America, N.A.
Address: 214 North Tryon Street,
Charlotte, NC 28255
Attention: Mark Guthrie
Telephone: (980) 387-4947
E-mail:
Mark.guthrie@bankofamerica.com

$5,921,052.63 $18,552,631.58 $24,473,684.21

Revolving
Credit Loans: 
7.89473684%

Term Loans:
7.894736843%

Name: MUFG Union Bank, N.A.
Address: 1201 3rd Avenue, Suite
900, Seattle, WA 98101
Attention: Matthew M Norman
Telephone: (206) 587-4787
E-mail:
matthew.norman@unionbank.com

$5,921,052.63 $18,552,631.58 $24,473,684.21

Revolving
Credit Loans: 
7.89473684%

Term Loans:
7.894736843%

Name: U.S. Bank National
Association
Address: 10800 NE 8th St. STE
1000, Bellevue, WA 98004
Attention: Ken Case
Telephone: (425) 637-2480
Telecopy: (425) 637-2561
E-mail: ken.case@usbank.com

$5,921,052.63 $18,552,631.58 $24,473,684.21

Revolving
Credit Loans: 
7.89473684%

Term Loans:
7.894736843%

Name: Goldman Sachs Bank USA
Address: 200 West Street, New
York, NY 10282
Attn: Thierry C. Le Jouan
Telephone: (212) 934-3921
Telecopy:  (917) 977-3966 $4,605,263.16 $14,429,824.56 $19,035,087.72

Revolving
Credit Loans: 
6.14035088%

Term Loans:
6.140350877%
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Name: CIT Bank, N.A.

Address: 11 W 42nd Street, New
York, NY 10036
Attention: Joseph Longobardi
Telephone: (212) 771-9309
E-mail:
Joseph.Longobardi@cit.com

$3,947,368.42 $12,368,421.05 $16,315,789.47

Revolving
Credit Loans: 
5.263157893%

Term Loans:
5.263157894%

Name: Columbia Bank
Address: 719 2nd Avenue, Suite
500, Seattle, WA 98104
Attention: Christopher Gerwels
Telephone:  (206) 223- 4552
Telecopy:  (206) 223-4540
E-mail:
cgerwels@columbiabank.com

$2,631,578.94 $8,245,614.04 $10,877,192.98

Revolving
Credit Loans: 
3.50877192%

Term Loans:
3.508771932%

Total $75,000,000 $235,000,000 $310,000,000 100%
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EXHIBIT 21.1

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Funko Acquisition Holdings, LLC

Funko Holdings, LLC

Funko, LLC

Loungefly, LLC

Funko UK, Ltd.

A Large Evil Corporation Ltd.

Funko Far East Limited

Funko Games, LLC

 

 

 



Exhibit 23.1
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-221390) pertaining to the Funko, Inc.
2017 Incentive Award Plan of our report dated March 5, 2019, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Funko, Inc.
included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2018.
 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 
Seattle, Washington
March 5, 2019

 
 



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Brian Mariotti, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Funko, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
 
Date: March 5, 2019  /s/ Brian Mariotti
  Brian Mariotti
  Chief Executive Officer
 

 



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Russell Nickel, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Funko, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
 
Date: March 5, 2019  /s/ Russell Nickel
  Russell Nickel
  Chief Financial Officer
 

 



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Funko, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2018 (the “Report”), I,
Brian Mariotti, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
 
Date: March 5, 2019 /s/ Brian Mariotti
 Brian Mariotti
 Chief Executive Officer
 

 



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Funko, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2018 (the “Report”), I,
Russell Nickel, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
 
Date: March 5, 2019 /s/ Russell Nickel
 Russell Nickel
 Chief Financial Officer
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